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NOTE TO THE READER

Although this book is generally in chronological order, sometimes to avoid multiple short entries it has been deemed more useful to the reader to include the subsequent history of certain subjects.

Train times in the book are those given in official timetables, the 12-hour clock being used prior to June 1963.

When referring to travel to and from London, Up and Down have been given upper-case initials, while when referring to gradients the lower case is used.
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FOREWORD

As a child brought up in the 1930s and 1940s, I’d always assumed that the GWR, LMS, LNER and SR had existed since time immemorial. I was puzzled by the fact that older people referred to the LMS station at Bath as the ‘Midland’ station. Adding to the perplexity was that an issue of the Meccano Magazine circa 1940 recounted that a railway enthusiast had spotted a second-hand copy of Twenty-Five Years with the LMS, bought it expecting to read of experiences on his favourite railway and then, when opening it, discovered to his chagrin that LMS in this instance stood for the London Missionary Society. The magazine’s editor observed that the gentleman should have realised that the railway LMS was less than 25 years old.

Unfortunately, no book such as the present volume was available to enlighten my knowledge of railway history and only over many years have I been able to build this fuller picture.
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RAILWAY COMPANIES BEFORE 1914

Most of the British railway system was built by private companies. When a group of businessmen decided it would be a profitable enterprise to build a line from A to B, they immediately ran into the problem that the land belonged to others who might not welcome a railway.

This problem could be overcome by obtaining an Act of Parliament, which gave powers for compulsory purchase, and in the event of a dispute, the case could be settled by arbitration. Legislation was obtained either by a Private Act, or by a Local & Personal Act, and obtaining either was a lengthy and expensive business. The plan for a railway had to appear before committees of both Houses as a bill and might be rejected by either committee. If it succeeded in passing these hurdles, the bill then had to be passed by both Houses before receiving Royal Assent and becoming an Act. In addition to allowing a company to secure land, an Act permitted a company to raise or borrow, within stated limits, the capital required.

The world’s first public railway was the Surrey Iron Railway, its Act receiving Royal Assent on 21 May 1801 and the 9 miles from Croydon to Wandsworth opening for goods traffic on 26 July 1803; parts of the route are still used today by the London TramLink. The first passenger railway opened in 1807 to carry people from Oystermouth to Swansea.

Arguably the first railway to start the network of lines in Britain was the Liverpool & Manchester Railway, which opened on 15 September 1830. The next major railway to open was the Grand Junction linking the Liverpool & Manchester at Newton, later called Earlestown, through Warrington to Birmingham where it formed a junction with the London & Birmingham. In the late 1830s and 1840s railways expanded apace, running from London up the west and east coasts to Scotland and from the capital to the south coast, the west of England and Wales, serving all major towns and cities.

Smaller towns not served by railways often felt their trade would be improved by the construction of a track, so a group of industrialists would create a branch line, sometimes working it with their own locomotives and rolling stock, but often having it worked by a larger company. The latter method was generally more economical because requirements could vary: although perhaps one locomotive would normally suffice, a second would be required when the first was undergoing maintenance; and while perhaps two passenger coaches might normally be enough, on market or fair days extra vehicles would be required to handle the traffic. A larger company could handle such fluctuations better than a small company, which would not find it viable to lock up capital in stock only used occasionally. In due course many of these smaller railways, often run at a loss, were taken over by larger companies.

By 1914 railways covered most of Britain, only a few places being far from a line, and trains run by approximately 200 independent railway undertakings. All these companies had separate boards of directors and administrative staffs to work and maintain these undertakings, the majority of the investing public possessing holdings of £500 or less. The UK was greatly indebted to this private enterprise for a highly efficient transport organisation which contributed very largely to the communal prosperity of the nation by exporting coal and manufactured goods, and carrying imported raw material to factories.

So, with the outbreak of the First World War in 1914, there was ready at hand a military machine of the first importance. Under powers vested in the state by Section 16 of the Regulations of the Forces Act, 1871, the government took possession of practically all the country’s railways. The 1871 Act empowered the state to assume control of the railways in an emergency. This control was exercised under the authority of a warrant issued by the Secretary of State for War and had to be renewed weekly throughout the period of hostilities and until the passing of the Ministry of Transport Act, 1919.

For a number of years prior to 1914, consideration had been given to the question of railway facilities in the event of a war and a committee of general managers of the principal railways had deliberated on the various problems which were expected to arise. In particular, it had arranged for the preparation of a scheme for the expeditious mobilisation of troops and the transport of war material.

Control of British railways was vested in the Railway Executive Committee, the railway companies receiving the letter:


WAR OFFICE, LONDON, S.W.

79/3769 (Q.M.G.2)

Midnight, 4th–5th August, 1914.

Sir,

I am commanded by the Army Council to inform you that His Majesty the King has signed an Order in Council under the Provisions of the Regulations of the Forces Act of 1871, and that your Railway, including any Railway worked by you, is taken over by the Government under that Act.

You will carry on as usual, subject to the instructions of the Executive Committee, of which the President of the Board of Trade is Chairman. This Committee is located at 35 Parliament Street, S. W. Telegraphic address, ‘Studding, Parl, London’. Telephone number, ‘Central 3127 and 3128’.

Your attention is drawn to the Provisional Instructions to General Managers issued herewith.

I am to request you to acknowledge this communication.

I am, Sir,

Your obedient servant

The Secretary

(Signed) R. H. BRADE

….............................Railway



In practice, the President of the Board of Trade delegated his duties to the general manager of the London & South Western Railway, Herbert Walker, who for some time prior to the war had been chairman of the Railway Executive Committee (REC).

The War Office gave the REC 60 hours to assemble locomotives and rolling stock to convey the British Expeditionary Force (BEF) to Southampton. This was achieved in 48 hours and embarkation began on 9 August and was completed by 31 August. During this period, from Southampton had been shipped 5,006 officers, 125,171 men, 38,805 horses, 344 guns, 1,575 other vehicles, 277 motor vehicles, 1,802 motor cycles and 6,406 tons of stores, using 711 trains. The busiest day was 22 August when seventy-three trains were dealt with, eight timed to arrive between 6.12 a.m. and 7.36 a.m., another eight between 12.12 p.m. and 1.36 p.m. and twenty-one more between 2.12 p.m. and 6.12 p.m. Within a quarter of an hour each train was emptied of troops, horses, guns and ammunition. This rapid arrival of the BEF in France surprised the Germans.

Between 1914 and 1918, 5,400,000 men were sent to fight in France and all travelled by train to south coast ports. Trains also carried needed supplies: arms, engineering materials, horses and their forage, food for the troops, mail, road stone and timber for duckboards and supporting the sides of trenches. Just one army division ate half a train’s worth of supplies every day. Initially, soldiers posted their laundry home and when returned it was often accompanied by cakes and other goodies.

It was only fair that the state should pay for this work carried out by the railway companies. The arrangement determined upon was that the net receipts as a whole of those companies of which possession had been taken were to be made up during the period of control to the 1913 level. During this period of control there was an abnormal increase in the remuneration of railway employees. Railway wages had not been fixed arbitrarily by the companies themselves, but were the result of arbitrations and agreements arrived at with the men through the machinery of the Conciliation Boards. By 1921 the railway wage bill had been increased by government direction from £47,000,000 in 1913 to £173,000,000, an advance of 268 per cent. In addition to increased wages, in September 1917 the government committed the railways to a permanent increase in expenditure. In response to agitation by the Associated Society of Locomotive Engineers and Firemen for a reduction in working hours, the President of the Board of Trade, in a communication with that society’s secretary, promised on behalf of the government, the War Cabinet and himself that any reasonable request after the cessation of hostilities for a shorter working day would receive the immediate and sympathetic consideration of the government. On 1 February 1919 the government conceded an 8-hour day to all railwaymen.

Until 1919 receipts had balanced expenditure, but from that year the companies made claims on the government to cover losses: for the year ending 31 March 1920, £41,349,530; to 31 March 1921, £40,445,411; and for the 2 months ending 31 May 1921, £18,638,424. Furthermore, the condition of the railways was deplorable: rolling stock was worn; maintenance and repairs were in arrears; development was at a standstill; traffic was disorganised; warehouses and sidings were congested; and the rates question was in confusion. Nobody was to blame for such a state of affairs, it was part of the price of war.

In September 1920 the Minister of Transport appointed the Colwyn Committee to grapple with the claims of the railway against the state for arrears of maintenance and it found that the sum would probably amount to at least £150 million. The committee could not admit that the companies were entitled to anything like such a sum and the Ministry of Transport was eventually able to reach a settlement whereby the railway companies accepted £60 million in full discharge of their claims.
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RAILWAY GROUPING

Thus 7 years of government control had reduced the railway companies from being relatively prosperous commercial undertakings to a precarious financial position, for although Parliament had established the principle that increases in wage costs should be met by increased charges by the passing of the Railway and Canal Traffic Act, 1913, no steps had been taken by the government until January 1920 to increase rates and charges with a view to enabling the undertakings to be worked at a profit. Government representatives had declined to respond to the recommendation of the Railway Executive Committee that railway charges, in common with those in every other industry, should be advanced concurrently with increased costs of operation. The government gave an assurance that, in order to enable the companies to revert more gradually to pre-war conditions, the period of control with a guarantee of net receipts would be extended for 2 years after the end of the war.

On 26 February 1919 the Ways and Communications Bill (afterwards the Ministry of Transport Act) was introduced into Parliament. On 17 March, Sir E. Geddes in moving the second reading of the measure, explained that the government:

… has come to the conclusion that some measure of unified control of all systems of transportation is necessary – that there must be some body who can be asked what the transportation policy of a country is, and whose responsibility it is to have a policy. It is only the State, only the Government, that can centrally take that position.

It should be noted that the railway companies were not consulted on the framing of this bill, or notified of its intended provisions, before it was presented to the House of Commons. The bill provided for the appointment of a Minister of Transport to whom was to be transferred the powers and duties of the various government departments in relation to railways, tramways, canals, roads, harbours and docks. The control of the railways hitherto exercised by the Board of Trade was transferred to the Ministry of Transport. The period of state control of the railways, with a continuance of the guarantee of net receipts, was extended for 2 years from 15 August 1919, the date of the Act, ‘with a view to affording time for the consideration and formulation of the policy to be pursued as to the future position of the undertakings’.

The bill was read a second time on 18 March and a third time on 11 July, 245 voting for the third reading and none against. Royal Assent was given on 15 August 1919, the Act to be cited as the Ministry of Transport Act, 1919. The Railway Advisory Committee, which had succeeded the REC of the war period, was in association with the ministry.

In deciding what the government policy as to the future of the railways was to be, the Minister of Transport was faced with three alternatives:

1 To hand back the railways to their owners, weighed down with all the burdens which had accrued during the years of war and the extended period of control.

2 To unify the railway completely or partially under private ownership, with adjustments calculated to restore their dividend-earning power.

3 To nationalise the railways.

In June 1920 the government issued a White Paper (Command 787) containing an outline of its proposals and indicating that the government had chosen to adopt the second alternative. The suggestions put forward were exhaustively considered by all interests affected, and months of negotiations and discussions took place between the parties concerned – the government, representatives of the railway companies, railways users and railway employees. The result of these discussions was that on a number of points common ground was reached, but at the time of the introduction of the Railways Bill, 11 May 1921, there were still a number of important questions in regard to which there was a diversity of view.

In 1921 the initial thinking was in favour of having four English railways: the Great Western Railway annexing those in Wales; a Southern group; a combined North Western and Midland serving the west coast; and another group serving the east coast. Scotland would have two lines: the East Scottish made up of the North British and Great North of Scotland companies; and the West Scottish, composed of the Caledonian and the Glasgow & South Western.

Negotiations continued following the introduction of the measure and in its main details the Railways Act, 1921, found its place on the Statute Book agreed to and generally approved by those interests concerned in its successful operation.

The Act contained five main sets of provisions:

1 For the grouping of railways.

2 For disposing the claims of the railway companies against the state arising out of the wartime agreements.

3 Governing the future charging powers of the railway companies.

4 Machinery for dealing with questions relating to rates of pay and conditions of service of employees.

5 Regulation of railways.

During 1922 the Great Western acquired the Welsh companies by amalgamation, followed by the Didcot, Newbury & Southampton in the summer of 1923 and the Midland & South Western Junction on 28 September 1923. As the Great Western was easily the largest company in the western group, feeling ran high in Wales and, as a concession to local sentiment, the six local railways were eventually classified ‘constituent’ rather than ‘subsidiary’.

Grouping involved the disappearance of old and familiar names, as famous undertakings, some almost a century old, lost their identity in enlarged concerns. A total of 120 independent railways were merged into four large companies: the Great Western Railway (GWR); London, Midland and Scottish (LMS); London and North Eastern Railways (LNER); and Southern Railways (SR). In general, the larger railway companies were amalgamated while the smaller companies were absorbed (see Appendix 1). Alone of the great companies, the GWR retained the name borne since its incorporation in 1835. This was secured by a special provision in the Act which constituted the Great Western the amalgamated company for the western group.

The three major joint lines – the Cheshire Lines Committee, the Midland & Great Northern, and the Somerset & Dorset – continued as separate undertakings.

The amalgamation of railways was generally recognised as right in principle, in accordance with the history of railways which had been one of amalgamation. In total approximately 1,000 railways had been promoted in Great Britain, but by the process of amalgamation and absorption these had been reduced to about 200 at the time of the passing of the Railways Act.

In December 1923 the route mileage was 20,294 miles. Capital expenditure stood at £1,181,200,000. In round figures, total traffic receipts for 1923 were £205,900,000; of this £94,100,000 was contributed by coaching. Expenditure for the year was £166,100,000. Other items on the 1923 return were those given in Appendix 3, plus:







	Private owners’ wagons

	628,344




	Motor buses

	187




	Horse buses

	72




	Parcels and goods motor vehicles

	2,099




	Horse wagons and carts

	32,641




	Passenger journeys:

	 




	First class

	21,463,000




	Second class

	4,046,000




	Third class

	897,961,000




	Workmen’s

	310,273,000




	Total

	1,233,743,000




	Season tickets:

	 




	First class

	133,000




	Second class

	74,000




	Third class

	687,000




	Total

	894,000




	General merchandise (tons)

	58,773,000




	Coal, coke and patent fuel

	222,239,000




	Other minerals (tons)

	61,983,000




	Total (tons)

	342,995,000




	Livestock

	17,266,000




	Train miles:

	 




	Coaching

	251,669,000




	Freight

	143,114,000




	Shunting coaching

	16,980,000




	Shunting freight

	109,561,000




	Engine miles

	52,328,000




	Total

	590,918,000





Although many branches of railway service were dangerous, one great advantage of railway work was its permanent character. The mechanics employed at the companies’ manufacturing and repair shops had to face the uncertainty of this class of work, but even there the activity was more regular than in similar outside industries, while for those in sections more immediately concerned with the movement of traffic, there was more regular work than in almost any other industry. Railway service was therefore very highly regarded in respect of permanency of employment and regularity of income, often a family taking service with a company from generation to generation. Railway work offered very worthwhile perks to some workers: free uniform meant that no expenditure was required for working clothes; the railway companies supported pension and accident funds, while some employees were provided with housing for a reasonable rent, and free or reduced fares were available to all.

Although it did not seriously impinge on the Big Four, it should be mentioned that, set up by an Act of Parliament, on 1 July 1933 the London Passenger Transport Board (LPTB) came into existence, taking over the Metropolitan Railway together with all the underground railways, trams and buses within the designated area of almost 2,000 square miles. Within this area all suburban railway services were coordinated by a Standing Joint Committee comprising four representatives of the LPTB and the four main line railway general managers. All passenger receipts from this area, minus operating costs, were to be shared between the LPTB and the Big Four. In 1948, as with the Big Four, the LPTB was nationalised by the Transport Act of 1947, and the system taken over by the London Transport Executive, a subsidiary of the British Transport Commission.
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AN OUTLINE OF THE MAIN
PRE-GROUPING COMPANIES

Alexandra (Newport & South Wales) Docks & Railway

Although it owned only 9 miles of track, it had running powers over 88 miles of other companies’ metals and owned about 100 miles of track at Alexandra Docks, its North Dock of 28¾ acres being the largest single sheet of water held up by lock gates in the world. The lock entrance itself was the largest sea lock in the world at 1,000ft long and 100ft wide. Approximately 6 million tons of coal were shipped annually in addition to about 1 million tons of general cargo. As its traffic was short distance, all of its thirty-eight locomotives were of the tank design. Its four passenger coaches were third class only. The company was paying 5 per cent when it was taken over by the GWR in 1922 and was the smallest of the constituent companies named in the 1921 Act.

Barry Railway

The company began with an Act of 1884 to construct a line from the Rhondda Valley and build new docks at Barry Island, 8½ miles from Cardiff. It owned 47 miles of track and leased, or worked, a further 20 miles. All except four of its engines were of the tank variety, seven being 0-8-2Ts. It owned seventy-four coaching vehicles and carried first-, second- and third-class passengers. Merchandise traffic was slightly heavier than that of coal, coke and patent fuel. Between 1894 and 1920 the company paid dividends of 9½ to 10 per cent. As the Barry Railway served only the margins of the coalfield, much of the traffic for Barry Docks was brought by other railways to transfer points at Trehafod, Peterston and Bridgend.

Caledonian Railway

As the northern partner of the west coast route, the Caledonian Railway (CR) linked Carlisle with Glasgow and Edinburgh, and was the line royalty usually chose when travelling between England and Balmoral. Although the CR’s route to Scotland was remarkable for its directness, at some places it suffered from steep gradients, Beattock Bank being 9¾ miles with an average gradient of 1 in 75, accomplishing a rise of 600ft. The Wemyss Bay line and pier provided the shortest route between Glasgow and places on the lower reaches of the Firth of Clyde, the six steamers being operated by the Caledonian Steam Packet Company. In conjunction with the North British Railway, it operated a steamer service on Loch Lomond. It owned 896 miles of track, 1,067 locomotives and 2,287 passenger coaches equipped with the Westinghouse brake. Its most famous locomotive was the 4-6-0 Cardean.

Cambrian Railways

The Cambrian Railways was formed from the amalgamation of several railways in Mid Wales, which explained the plural in its name. Its main line ran for 95¾ miles from Whitchurch to Aberystwyth, with an extension northwards to Pwllheli and another to the south reaching Talyllyn Junction, where it tapped lines serving South Wales. Despite its name, quite a considerable proportion of its mileage was in England and its headquarters and workshops were situated in Oswestry, Shropshire. The GWR’s chief engineer reported that ‘a large amount of maintenance work would be necessary in the course of the next few years in the renewal of bridges on the Cambrian section, there being upwards of 600 timber structures on that section’. The Cambrian owned two narrow-gauge lines, 241 miles of track, 97 locomotives and 221 coaches. It amalgamated with the GWR as early as 1 January 1922.

Cardiff Railway

The Cardiff Railway was essentially a dock undertaking. In 1897 parliamentary powers were obtained by the Bute Docks Company for the construction of five branch lines some 12 miles in extent, thus inaugurating the Cardiff Railway, while the dock lines located within an area of 1½ square miles comprised a system of 120 miles. Its principal traffic was coal. It owned thirty-six locomotives, all of the tank variety, and eight passenger coaches.

Furness Railway

The line was originally for mineral traffic to Barrow, but later extensions were made to Whitehaven, Carnforth, Lake Side (Windermere) and Coniston. It operated two steamers on Coniston Lake and six on Windermere. It owned 114 miles of track, 138 locomotives and 362 passenger train vehicles.

Glasgow & South Western Railway

The first railway in Scotland, that between Kilmarnock and Troon, which opened in 1811, formed part of the Glasgow & South Western Railway (GSWR). The main line ran from Glasgow to Carlisle via Dumfries, with a branch to Challoch Junction near Stranraer. It owned 448 miles of track, 529 locomotives, 3 steam rail motors and 1,182 coaches.

Great Central Railway

Initially the Manchester, Sheffield & Lincolnshire Railway, this consisted mainly of cross-country main lines from Manchester to Sheffield and thence to Lincoln, Grimsby and Cleethorpes, with branches to Barnsley, Wakefield and other centres. When it sought a London extension (opened for coal traffic on 25 July 1898 and passengers on 15 March 1899), its name was changed to the Great Central Railway (GCR). It then ranked among the first half-dozen railway companies regarding the magnitude of its goods and mineral traffic, taking a high rank among the passenger-carrying, dock-owning and steamship-operating systems of the UK. Anticipating the construction of a Channel tunnel, its London extension was built to the continental loading gauge.

Grimsby, the world’s premier fishing port, owed its prosperity to the enterprise of the GCR. The dock at Immingham was opened principally for the distribution of coal from South Yorkshire, Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire. It owned 11 steamships, 628 miles of track, 1,361 locomotives, 1 petrol-electric rail car, 16 electric tram cars and 1,087 carriages.

Great Eastern Railway

The Great Eastern Railway (GER) was an amalgamation of many railways serving virtually all of East Anglia together with important suburban lines in north-east London. In July 1920 the company inaugurated an intensive suburban train service on the Walthamstow, Chingford and Palace Gates lines. Although steam operated, it achieved results similar to those attained by electric traction, but the fact that the company used Westinghouse brakes was an important factor. Initially its port for continental traffic was Harwich until Parkeston Quay opened in 1883. The GER owned 16 steamers, 1,107 miles of track, 1,341 locomotives, and 3,970 coaches.

Great Northern Railway

The Great Northern Railway (GNR) formed the southern section of the east coast route and ran from King’s Cross to Doncaster, together with network in the Grantham and Leeds areas. The ruling gradient on its main line was 1 in 200 and so was suitable for fast services. It owned 696 miles of track, 1,359 locomotives, 6 steam rail motors and 2,795 coaches.

Great North of Scotland Railway

Centred on Aberdeen, lines ran to Peterhead, Fraserburgh, Lossiemouth, Boat of Garten and Ballater. It owned 334 miles of track, 122 locomotives and 454 coaches, Westinghouse-braked, and 38 buses. It possessed two electric tramcars to work the tramway connecting its station at Cruden Bay with its hotel. The line, 0.66 miles in length, carried passengers to the front door, while goods, via a short spur, were taken to the tradesmen’s entrance. Hotel passengers were carried free, but others were charged.

Great Western Railway

Originally the GWR ran from London to Bristol, but it expanded to cover much of the south-west, South Wales and inside a triangle formed by London, Bristol and Shrewsbury. Many of its routes were indirect, leading to the taunt that ‘GWR’ stood for ‘Great Way Round’. The GWR was a pioneer among railways in utilising road motor vehicles as feeders to its lines, inaugurating the first service on 17 August 1903. It owned 2,658 miles of track, 3,148 locomotives, 65 steam rail motors, 20 electric motor cars, 40 electric trailer cars, 5,581 coaches, 66 buses and 10 steamers.

Highland Railway

The Highland Railway (HR) ran from Perth to Thurso and Wick, with a branch to the Kyle of Lochalsh. It owned 484 miles of track, 173 locomotives and 305 coaches.

Hull & Barnsley Railway

The Hull & Barnsley Railway (HBR) ran from Hull to Wath and Stairfoot Junction. It owned 78 miles of track, 181 locomotives and 59 coaches.

Lancashire & Yorkshire Railway

The Lancashire & Yorkshire Railway (LYR) chiefly covered the area in its title. It owned 533 miles of track, 1,650 locomotives, 18 steam rail motors, 3,731 coaches, 119 electric motor cars, 122 electric trailers and 22 steamers.

London & North Western Railway

The London & North Western Railway (LNWR) formed the southern part of the west coast route and ran from Euston to Carlisle, with branches serving North and South Wales. The company was the largest steamship-owning railway company in Great Britain. Regular services were operated between Holyhead and Ireland, Fleetwood and Belfast, Liverpool and Drogheda, Goole and continental ports. The company owned twenty-three steamers and then gained twenty-two more when it was amalgamated with the LYR in 1922 as a prelude to the 1923 grouping. The LNWR owned 1,806 miles of track, 3,336 locomotives, 7 steam and 1 petrol rail car, 73 electric motor coaches, 112 trailer coaches, 6,231 coaches, 5 motor buses, 7 horse buses and 5 electric trams.

London & South Western Railway

With a main line from Waterloo to Plymouth and Padstow, the London & South Western Railway (LSWR) served much of the south coast between Portsmouth and Weymouth and ran branches to Bude and Ilfracombe. It took over the Waterloo & City tube railway on 1 January 1907. It operated fourteen steamships between Southampton, French ports and the Channel Islands, and three on the ferry route from Lymington to Yarmouth. Steamers on the Portsmouth to Isle of Wight route were owned jointly with the London, Brighton & South Coast Railway. The LSWR owned 873 miles of track, 931 locomotives, 4 steam rail motors, 185 electric motor cars, 132 electric trailer cars and 2,645 coaches.

London, Brighton & South Coast Railway

The London, Brighton & South Coast Railway (LBSCR) ran from London to Eastbourne and Portsmouth, serving much of the territory between. Many of the coastal resorts were in favour all year round and express trains used by commuters were maintained throughout the year. An important feature was the inclusion of Pullman cars on the principal trains, and also the use of tank engines hauling many expresses. Continental traffic using twelve steamers via Newhaven and Dieppe formed an important item of business and was worked jointly with the French State Railways. Electric traction on the high-tension, single-phase system using overhead wires was inaugurated on 1 December 1909. The LBSCR owned 431 miles of track, 615 locomotives, 2 steam rail cars, and 1,870 coaches. It favoured the Westinghouse brake.

Midland Railway

The Midland Railway (MR) extended from Carlisle to Bristol and Bath, its joint ownership of the Somerset & Dorset Railway taking it on to Bournemouth. It also owned 265 miles of railway in Northern Ireland. The MR operated four steamers between Heysham and Belfast, and seven between Tilbury and Gravesend. In England it owned 1,521 miles of track, 3,019 steam locomotives, 1 electric locomotive, 48 electric motor cars, 49 trailer cars, 20 electric trams on the Burton & Ashby Light Railway and 4,331 coaches.

North British Railway

This ran from Berwick to Edinburgh, forming the northern part of the east coast route. It also ran from Carlisle to Edinburgh and Glasgow, with lines to Bervie and Mallaig. It operated six steamers on the Firth of Clyde, one Granton–Burntisland and another North–South Queensferry. It owned 1,275 miles of track,1,107 locomotives and 2,424 coaches.

North Eastern Railway

The North Eastern Railway (NER) ran from Hull, Selby and Leeds to Berwick, serving much of the country in between. It carried a heavier tonnage of mineral and coal traffic than any other railway in the country, the greater proportion of it in the company’s own wagons, and was the largest dock-owning railway company in the UK. The NER formed the middle link in the east coast London–Edinburgh route. It had 30 miles of electrified line in the Newcastle and Tynemouth area. The company owned 1,714 miles of track, 2,013 locomotives, 2 petrol rail cars, 3,104 coaches, 70 electric motor coaches and 55 trailers.

North Staffordshire Railway

The North Staffordshire Railway (NSR) radiated from Stoke-on-Trent and was popularly referred to as the ‘Knotty’. As it was a purely local line, there was probably not another British railway of its size and importance that was so little known in London. It owned 206 miles of track, 192 locomotives, 3 steam rail motors and 341 coaches.

Rhymney Railway

Although it consisted of only 51 miles of route, the Rhymney Railway (RR) reached out from Cardiff through Caerphilly, to Merthyr, Dowlais and Rhymney, making contact with several other Welsh railways and also the GWR and LNWR. The RR owned 38 miles of track, 123 locomotives and 131 coaches. Its 0-6-2T boilers were well maintained and long lasting, a significant number not needing to be replaced post-grouping with the GWR tapered variety.

South Eastern & Chatham Railway

An Act was passed in 1899 for the working union of the South Eastern Railway and the London, Chatham & Dover Railway, keeping the capital accounts separate. The South Eastern & Chatham Railway (SECR) ran from London to Margate and Bexhill, covering much of Kent and East Sussex. It owned 625 miles of track, and operated 13 steamers, 724 locomotives, 8 steam rail motors and 2,758 coaches.

Taff Vale Railway

The Taff Vale Railway (TVR) was the largest, oldest and, for many years, the most prosperous of the constituents which joined the GWR in 1922. The TVR’s original main line was from Cardiff to Merthyr Tydfil. The TVR was famous for the Pwllyrhebog Incline, ½ mile of 1 in 13. Worked as a balanced incline, it varied from others as to avoid breakaways, a locomotive propelled its train up the incline, the rope passing below the train to connect with the engine. The TVR owned 112 miles of track, 271 locomotives and 408 passenger train vehicles.
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The GWR was the only pre-grouping company to retain its name and, as it was largely the same company with a few Welsh additions, it proceeded as before and was not confused by having to settle the different practices of various companies. When it came to the selection of the twenty-five directors for the GWR, it was obvious that the easiest course was to retain the nineteen existing directors and add six from the other companies. This was done by allowing each of the Welsh constituent companies to nominate a director.

The GWR was unique due to the fact that it was by far the largest company in the new group, whereas the other three new railways comprised several companies of similar size. The GWR had a route mileage of 2,784 while the next two largest companies by mileage were the Cambrian and Taff Vale, with only 280 and 124 miles respectively.

Unlike the other members of the Big Four, the majority of its locomotives did not need renumbering. The GWR engines retained their numbers, while those of the newly acquired mostly Welsh railways were given vacant numbers between 1 and 2199. The pre-grouping livery of the GWR was continued for locomotives and coaches.

Another peculiarity of the GWR was that it adopted class nicknames for many of its types of wagon, these words having the most distinctive sounds possible, such as ‘Siphon’, ‘Macaw’ and ‘Bloater’. These designations were used in official communications and the distinctive nature of the words was a safeguard against misunderstanding in writing, telegraphy or by telephone. This class name was painted on the wagon’s side.

The absorption of the Midland & South Western Junction Railway (MSWJR) as a subsidiary company proved difficult. The first meeting between the officers of the two companies was in 1921, the GWR stating that the offer would be based on the 1913 income and in January 1922 offering £25,542. This was reasonable considering that the financial position of the MSWJR was poor, as it had borrowed from the Midland and owed in excess of £200,000. The GWR solicitor said it was not a liability the GWR was obliged to take over with the amalgamation. The problem was settled in March 1923 when the MSWJR solicitor received a letter from his LMS counterpart saying that he was prepared to advise his clients to accept half of the £175,280, say £85,000 of the 5 per cent preference stock the MSWJR would receive from the GWR in discharge of the amount advanced to the MSWJR by the Midland Railway.

Sir Felix Pole had taken office as general manager of the GWR in June 1921. He was a man of outstanding personality and had enjoyed a varied career. Starting aged 14 in the telegraph office at Swindon in October 1891, before his sixteenth birthday he had served at Port Talbot and Truro before being posted to the office of the electrical department at Paddington in 1893. Three years later he joined the personal staff of the chief engineer and it was here that he caught the eye of Sir James Inglis, the general manager. Pole’s flair for writing and publicity work found an outlet in the Great Western Railway Magazine, which he edited for many years, and Pole obtained a transfer to the general manager’s department in 1904. He was appointed his chief clerk in 1913 and general manager’s assistant in March 1919.

Pole wasted no time in getting the GWR back to pre-war efficiency. In October 1921 the 2-hour Bristol expresses, the 2-hour Birmingham expresses and the Cornish Riviera Express were all returned to their pre-war speeds. Brilliant at publicity, Pole engaged W.G. Chapman, a writer with a superb ability for explaining things in simple language. The GWR was the first company to publish an official guide to its locomotives in the form of a complete list of all the named engines, with illustrations and dimensional details of the more important standard classes. From this start in 1919 for the very reasonable price of 1s, further profusely illustrated, 250-page books followed such as The 10.30 Limited, Caerphilly Castle, ’Twixt Rail and Sea and many others. The whole series bore the subtitle ‘for boys of all ages’.

In 1923 William Peter Hamilton, the British-born editor of the Wall Street Journal, visited England and Pole was one of the first people he met. He remarked that he would be calling on his sister in Salisbury.

‘All right,’ said Pole, ‘I’ll see you’re treated like visiting royalty on my line.’

‘Thanks,’ said Hamilton, ‘but isn’t your Salisbury line a great way round?’ – the GWR route was 134¼ miles whereas the SR’s was only 83¾ miles.

‘It is,’ agreed Pole, ‘but I’m giving you a Great Western general pass!’

The restoration of pre-war speed was followed in 1924 by the inauguration of memorable clock-face departures: trains for Birmingham and Birkenhead all left Paddington at 10 minutes past the hour; Bristol trains at 15 minutes past, west of England trains at 30 minutes past, to the West Midlands at 45 minutes past and to South Wales at 55 minutes past. As a few other companies were running faster trains than the GWR, Pole thought something must be done to redress the fault, so for the summer of 1923 the 2.30 p.m. Cheltenham–Paddington was accelerated to cover the 77.3 miles Swindon–Paddington in 75 minutes, requiring an average speed of 61.8mph, thus beating the 61.5mph run Darlington–York of the ex-NER and the ex-GCR’s Leicester–Nottingham newspaper train.

In September 1923 the Irish Mail service via Fishguard to Rosslare was reintroduced following the disruption caused by the 1916 Easter Rising.

1923 saw the introduction of 20-ton coal wagons, with the GWR’s general manager, Pole, observing that the cost of building two 10-ton wagons was approximately 50 per cent more than building one 20-ton wagon, additional advantages of the greater capacity being that less siding space would be required and the cost of repairs reduced. As a further incentive to use the 20-tonners, the GWR offered a rebate of 5 per cent of the cost of carrying the coal if these larger wagons were used. To cope with the larger wagons, the GWR had to spend almost £2 million reconstructing or renewing the coal-tipping equipment. In March 1924 contracts had been made with three firms – the Gloucester Wagon Co., the Birmingham Carriage & Wagon Co. and the Bute Works Supply Co. – for all to supply 250 wagons at £280 each. On 27 August 1924 the first train of these heavier wagons ran from the pit to Port Talbot Docks.

At the GWR annual general meeting in February 1924 the chairman Viscount Churchill said that the line had carried over 12 million more passengers and over 7 million tons more freight than in the previous year, while the effects of grouping and the reduction of rates and charges in April 1923 meant that goods rates were reduced from 112 per cent to 75 per cent above pre-war levels, and passenger fares lowered from 75 per cent to just 50 per cent above those of 1914.

Unfortunately, these good times were not to last as strikes in industry and on the railway reduced the railway’s income, especially as they were coupled with a decline in coal traffic due to a greater substitution of oil for coal and the fact that countries which had hitherto bought Welsh coal were buying it more cheaply from the Ruhr. Steps had to be taken, so when meeting the unions, the GWR offered three options: redundancies, a reduction in salaries and wages, or the suspension of the guaranteed week. The unions reluctantly agreed to redundancies, casual and temporary staff being discharged first, followed by those employees with the shortest period of service, and the GWR agreeing to reinstate them when ‘circumstances improved’. Strikes at some stations in Dorset led traders to state that they were considering changing to road transport, so Pole warned staff, ‘You have been quarrelling with your bread and butter. Resolve not to do it again.’

On 1 May 1926 mine owners announced a reduction in pay, the miners struck and were supported by the Trades Union Congress (TUC), which authorised a General Strike that started at midnight on 3–4 May 1926. Most railwaymen struck, leaving Paddington silent. Volunteers were enlisted, varying from elderly retired staff and university students, to priests and businessmen interested in railways. So many people offered their services that only about 40 per cent were actually used. Basic training was given, and sixty volunteers started at the signalling school at Royal Oak. Taking their exam the following day, they were sent to local signal boxes. Similar training was given to shunters and guards, both passenger and goods.

On 4 May some GWR trains still ran, 194 worked by non-strikers and volunteers, while by 10 May 908 trains were operating. On 11 May 1926 the GWR reported that volunteers were ‘settling down to their work and doing yeoman service. Paddington to-day is the home of democracy and the unusual sight may be seen of young men of all walks of society cheerfully unloading milk churns by the thousand.’ Freight in particular was badly hit, the number of trains run being only about a twentieth of the usual number. This caused a significant number of firms to use road transport, and when the strike was over, many continued to use it.

Perhaps surprisingly, no serious accidents occurred while the railway was working under these strange conditions. The worst was at Oswestry, where a train ran through the buffer stops and demolished the end of a parcels office; fortunately none of the sixteen passengers were injured.

Loyal employees had to contend with intimidation and violence, such as stones thrown at trains and signal boxes, but by the second week of the strike, some employees were returning. Pole, the general manager, was not in a conciliatory mood, however, and a circular stated:

Men on strike who offer to return may be re-employed, providing that their services can be utilised in any capacity, but no man who is known to have taken a leading part in organising or carrying out the strike, nor any supervisor, is allowed to resume work without explicit instructions from this office.

The TUC called off the strike on 12 May 1926, a day on which the GWR managed to run 1,517 trains. Things did not immediately return to normal, Pole stating that, while services would be restored as soon as possible, ‘the injury to trade is believed to be so serious that for some time full pre-strike services will not be required’. Instructions stated that signalmen should be reinstated first. On 14 May 1926 the railway unions signed an admission that ‘in calling a strike they committed a wrongful act against the Companies’ and undertook ‘not to again instruct their members to strike without previous negotiations’. The guaranteed week was suspended until the financial position improved. Swindon Works was on short time for the rest of the year, working just from Tuesday until Friday.

The miners’ strike continued throughout the summer, not ending until December; this inconvenienced the GWR as it had to use imported coal for which its fireboxes were not designed. Early in 1927 traffic improved and on 16 February each employee was guaranteed weekly earnings of not less than 4 days’ pay at the ordinary rate, rising to 5 days’ pay in April, when all grades had their guaranteed week restored. The strike had done serious damage to the railways, as it had shown the convenience of motor transport for both goods and passengers, some traffic never returning to the railways.

May 1925 saw the first post-war half-day excursion on the GWR when 3,500 passengers were carried from Paddington to Weston-super-Mare for a very reasonable fare of 7s 6d for a total mileage there and back of 274. Five shilling trips were run from Paddington to Swindon Works to see locomotives being built.

In March 1926 the Assistant Superintendent of the Line inspected fifty-three branch lines: some were profitable, receipts exceeding expenses, but some were not. The report showed that many branches included level crossings that required staff to operate them and also that, although lines often ran close to main roads, stations were often some distance from villages or town centres. This was not serious when railways had the monopoly of transport but was ‘a severe handicap in securing and retaining the passenger-carrying business under present conditions’. At smaller stations the report recommended replacing stationmasters with porters. Road competition had ‘made serious inroads into the passenger-carrying businesses on branches’, buses offering ‘door to door service without a change or wait at a junction which travellers naturally prefer, and are prepared to pay higher fares to secure’.

The 1920s saw the increasing use of motor lorries replacing the horse-drawn variety and the GWR’s road vehicle maintenance depot at Slough was considerably enlarged in 1925. In some areas, delivery of goods from stations had been done by agents, but increasingly the GWR was taking over distribution. Motor transport aided the development of container traffic, while the 1928 Act enabled railways to carry goods by road for a whole journey and on 31 October 1933 the Big Four railway companies jointly purchased the road services of Pickfords, the removals specialist, and Carter Paterson, the parcels specialist. Railway expansion in this area was slow and by 1938 the Big Four owned only 10,000 goods vehicles out of a total of almost 495,000.

The railway grouping in 1923 had little effect on the GWR’s Road Motor Department, as none of the railways joining owned any buses. In the 1920s the GWR inaugurated several land cruises that lasted several days, using fifteen-seater armchair charabancs, and to occupy their winter months, these were used on an Oxford–Cheltenham road–rail link. 2 August 1928 saw a service inaugurated from Aberystwyth via Devil’s Bridge to the summit of Plynlimon, 2,008ft above sea level, returning to Devil’s Bridge from where passengers used the 1ft 11½in-gauge railway to return to Aberystwyth. The service was worked by a three-axle Morris Commercial with an eight-speed gear box, similar to vehicles sold to the army. As the body was open, passengers were provided with large aprons to protect them from the wet.

The Railways Act of 1927 permitted the railways to purchase existing bus companies and operate services instead of running unremunerative branch lines. For example, in 1929 the GWR, together with the other members of the Big Four, linked its road interests with the National Omnibus & Transport Co. Ltd, Western National operating buses in GWR areas and Southern National in SR districts. On 31 December 1933 the last bus in chocolate and cream livery was handed over to the Southern National Omnibus Company at Weymouth. In addition to local bus services such as Western Welsh, Crosville and Devon General, the GWR had a share in London Coastal Coaches, which owned, among other concerns, Victoria Coach Station. The GWR had holdings in the Black & White, Greyhound and Royal Blue coaches.

In 1929 the GWR recorded an increase of 211 per cent in tonnage carried in containers, over that of 1928, with 518 containers being in daily use. This system was an answer to road competition and allowed articles to be packed at a sender’s premises, taken by road to a railhead, transported by rail and finally carried by road from the railhead to its destination without the contents having to be handled. Household removals could be carried out in this way, householders travelling by train to their new house on discounted tickets.

On 21 May 1929 the Big Four obtained parliamentary powers enabling them to operate air services. The GWR was the first company to take the initiative and on 12 April 1933 opened a service between Cardiff and Haldon (sited just inland from Dawlish and serving Teignmouth and Torquay), the service continuing until 30 September 1933. The aircraft, a three-engine, six-seater Westland Wessex built in GWR territory at Yeovil, bore chocolate and cream livery, its interior décor similar to a first-class railway compartment.

Imperial Airways supplied the plane, pilot and ground staff for the twice-weekly flights which took about 50 minutes to cover the 80 miles compared with almost 4 hours and 140 miles by rail. In 1934 the main-line railways in association with Imperial Airways formed the Railway Air Services Limited (RAS), Mr Punch celebrating the event with a full-page cartoon entitled: ‘The Rocket goes up again’. Wing Commander A.H. Measures was appointed superintendent and on 7 May 1934 travelled on the new Liverpool–Plymouth service, noting that ‘the pilot flew with the cockpit door open’, which must have been unnerving for the passengers. If there were no passengers to be picked up en route at Haldon, a white sheet would be laid on the runway. Measures was unimpressed on arrival at Liverpool with the appearance of the aircraft engineer, ‘attending to his duties dressed in a dirty pair of trousers and a sports coat’. In 1945 a change of government altered the ownership and ended railway development in air transport, British European Airways taking over the railway airlines on 1 April 1947. On 1 May 1934, under an agreement with Spartan Air Lines Limited, RAS worked in conjunction with the SR on a Croydon–Cowes–Ryde service.

Like the other railway companies, the GWR owned hotels located at: Paddington; the Tregenna Castle Hotel, St Ives; the Manor House Hotel, Moretonhampstead; and the Fishguard Bay Hotel.

In 1923 the decision was made to revert to the chocolate and cream livery for coaching stock. Building methods did not change – steel panelling covered wooden bodywork mounted on a steel underframe – but a more modern aspect was given by smooth steel sheets replacing panelling, and the roof no longer enjoyed toplights, while from 1929 the window glass was far less deeply recessed. With the panelling changes, a simplified livery was adopted, with horizontal lining replacing the more complex pattern of the pre-grouping era.

At the start of the twentieth century, unlike most of the other railways, the GWR had adopted a carriage length of 70ft, making its carriages about 12ft longer than those of most other railways. The GWR did this as a means of reducing the coach/passenger weight ratio, but experience proved that the bogies of these coaches suffered rather more flange wear. In the 1920s the GWR began producing 57ft standard stock. The GWR experimented with Buckeye automatic couplers, Pullman-type gangways and bow-ended coaches, but found difficulties when coupling strengthening coaches to a set. To avoid this problem, a seven-coach South Wales set had its intermediate coaches with Buckeye couplers and bow ends, while the outer brake-thirds were flat ended with ordinary couplings. The Buckeyes were replaced in the early 1930s.

Another innovation was articulated coaches where two adjoining coaches shared one bogie, reducing both costs and weight. Six express train sets of eight coaches were built, subdivided into articulated units of two and three vehicles; one of these sets, the one brought into service on the Plymouth Ocean Liner specials, was displayed in the cavalcade of July 1925 to mark the centenary of the Stockton & Darlington Railway. In the mid-1930s articulation was rejected and the coaches were rebuilt with the usual two bogies, though the articulated suburban sets continued in use until the late 1950s.

From 1929 a length of 60ft was adopted for coaches, the side bowed to obtain maximum width at seat level yet remain within the loading gauge. Although the heavier 9ft bogies were still fitted to coaches used on prestige trains such as the Cornish Riviera, a lighter version with a 7ft wheelbase was used for other stock. Coincidentally with these small bogies, coaches were given bow ends, this feature combined with a new pattern of suspended gangway linking the corridor coaches. To maximise the generous width allowed due to the space offered by the former broad gauge, in July 1929 the Cornish Riviera was given coaches with a width of 9ft 5¾in.

In the 1930s the GWR constructed ‘excursion stock’ whereby passengers sat as today on each side of a central gangway, rather than being in eight-seat compartments like the majority of contemporary coaches of that era.

Until 1928 sleeping cars had only been available to first-class passengers, but that year the GWR, in common with the LMS and LNER, also provided them for the third class. Three sleeping cars were built, each having only three sleeping compartments out of the eight compartments. The top berths were designed to fold so that the compartments could be used for seating accommodation during the day. At night they accommodated four passengers but lacked the hand basin enjoyed by first-class passengers.

With the increasing ownership of cars, in 1924 the GWR used carriage trucks to carry cars through the Severn Tunnel from Pilning (High Level) to Severn Tunnel Junction, thus avoiding the long road detour via Gloucester. This service persisted until the opening of the Severn Bridge in 1966.

1927 saw the introduction of milk tank wagons in Britain to replace some of the many churns, each weighing 2¼cwt when full; United Dairies at Wootton Bassett near Swindon was the first company to utilise these new vehicles. A man could rinse a tank with cold water and scrub before rinsing it with hot water and finally sterilising it with steam. This was a much easier operation than carrying out these procedures with 176 17-gallon churns which held the equivalent of one tank. Furthermore, the 176 churns needed three vans to carry them and weighed a total of 80 tons, whereas one tank was only 22 tons.

The 3,000-gallon glass-lined tanks were manufactured by the Dairy Supply Company but the chassis was built at Swindon. As each tank was insulated with a 2in layer of cork, when the milk left the factory at 38ºF the temperature rose by no more than 1ºF on its journey to Mitre Bridge siding, Willesden. The service was inaugurated on 1 December 1927 when a special train carried 200 passengers to witness the tanks being filled at Wootton Bassett.

June 1927 saw the innovation of GWR Land Cruises, which sent passengers ‘adventuring by rail and road, leisurely wandering along the highways and byways into regions that lie well off the beaten track’. Two 6-day tours were announced: one visiting the Forest of Dean, the Wye Valley, Malvern and the Shakespeare country; the other visiting the Vale of White Horse, Lambourn and the Marlborough Downs, Cheddar, the Mendips and the Cotswolds. Each cost 12 guineas, this including all transport, accommodation at hotels, meals and entry to places of interest. More expensive at a price of 25 guineas, the third land tour starting at Fishguard included the Cambrian Coast, the Lleyn Peninsula, Snowdon and the Vale of Llangollen. Although they made a loss initially, land cruises continued in subsequent years. For example, in 1937 starting from Paddington, three 6-day tours covered: (1) North Wales, for £12; (2) Devon and Cornwall, for £12 10s; and (3) Somerset and Devon for £12 10s. Land cruise No 4 lasted 13 days and, combining Nos 2 and 3, cost £25 10s. All the land cruises used first-class transport.

The 1920s saw the replacement of some of Brunel’s picturesque timber viaducts. Although cleverly designed so that woodwork could be replaced while traffic still ran, they were not capable of supporting heavier engines.

Newton Abbot station was reconstructed in 1927, while in 1929 vast goods stations at Bristol and Paddington were built, and a hump yard at East Depot, Bristol, using gravity for shunting, had been opened in 1923.

The 1920s saw the introduction on the GWR of the ‘economic system’ of track maintenance whereby on branch lines gangs were given a motor trolley so that they could cover a longer length of line than they had when walking. A new tunnel at Colwall, almost 1,600yd in length, was driven through the Malvern Hills; although only single track, it was more spacious than the one it replaced and the gradient slightly easier for Down trains.

Signalling improvements included the extension of the Automatic Train Control (ATC) system to more routes. This excellent device gave an audible and visual warning to a driver on the position of a distant signal, and if it stood at danger and he did not apply the brakes, this would be done automatically. Yellow glass replaced red at distant signals to make them distinct at night and different from home signals. New signal posts were tubular rather than timber, while wooden arms were replaced by those of vitreous enamel.

Most contemporary goods trains had no continuous brakes, meaning that braking power was only supplied by the locomotive at one end and the brake van at the other. The GWR, being particularly safety conscious, fitted each engine with a brake whistle as a means of a driver alerting a guard when braking was needed; other companies did not adopt this feature.

In 1929 Winston Churchill, Chancellor of the Exchequer, announced that the Railway Passenger Duty levied on first- and second-class fares would be abolished on condition that the railways spent the capital value of this duty on improvement schemes which would help relieve unemployment. On the GWR large reconstruction schemes were put in hand at Paddington, Bristol, Cardiff and Taunton, together with the Westbury and Frome avoiding lines. The GWR also used this form of finance for a gravitational yard at Banbury, and to enlarge its existing yards at Rogerstone, near Newport, and at Severn Tunnel Junction.

The work at Paddington included lengthening six of the eleven platforms to accommodate longer trains; the Parcels Department, which had used the ‘Lawn’ behind the buffer stops, was given a new depot in Bishops Road and clerks who had worked in twenty-two houses in the nearby Eastbourne Terrace and James Street were moved to new office blocks built on each side of the Lawn, one in ‘restrained classic style’, the other a striking art-deco building.

At Bristol Temple Meads, which had become a bottle-neck for many years, more platforms were built and the track was quadrupled on each side. Similar schemes were carried out at Cardiff and Taunton: at the latter a flyover bridge eased a conflicting junction where the lines to Bristol and Westbury diverged. Manual signalling at Cardiff and Bristol was replaced by power boxes and colour lights.

Although the Westbury cut-off was only 2¼ miles in length and that at Frome 2 miles, they avoided speed restrictions, thus saving both time and fuel. Some of the 1929 money was used for constructing a 7½-acre shop in the carriage works. Opened in 1930, it had twenty-eight roads and could accommodate 250 coaches.

In 1929 the GWR pioneered the Green Arrow service, guaranteeing the delivery of urgent assignments. Felix Pole had suggested the idea, but the other Big Four general managers believed the plan too risky. The GWR went boldly ahead, it proved a success and in 1933 the other companies adopted similar schemes.

In January 1930 the new general manager, Sir James Milne, announced that the ATC would be extended to cover all the company’s main lines, as at that date it only covered 372 miles and only 334 locomotives had been fitted with the ATC equipment. Over 1,700 more miles would be installed and a further 200 locomotives equipped.

Due to the poor economic situation in March 1931, the Big Four imposed a 2½ per cent wage cut. In 1934, when matters had eased, wages were restored, but only after the unions threatened strike action.

As the first edition of Holiday Haunts, giving details of places to stay, had been published in 1906, in 1929 it was given an update when it appeared with a bathing beauty on the cover rather than the company’s coat of arms. In 1930 the contents were revised and instead of listing each county alphabetically, the new layout had seven regional sections, each sub-divided into counties. Some 250 tons of paper were required to print the 170,000 copies of about 1,000 pages. In 1933 the GWR ran Holiday Haunts expresses from Paddington, Birmingham and Bristol to the main seaside resorts on its system. Cheap tickets encouraged holidaymakers, armed with a copy of Holiday Haunts, to make a personal visit to view the accommodation they desired and make a booking for later in the year.

In 1928 the GWR published two excellent travel guides, The Cornish Riviera and Glorious Devon both by S.P.B. Mais, which gave details of the areas and did not advertise places to stay. The print run of 20,000 sold within 6 months. In 1932 Maxwell Fraser wrote Southern Ireland and in 1934 Somerset. To encourage travel out of season, Mais wrote Winter in the West. There were also books suggesting hikes which could be made by train and at the Easter weekend of 1932 the first hikers’ mystery trains were run from Paddington at a fare of 3s 6d.

Between 1923 and 1937 the GWR issued forty-four jigsaw puzzles made by the Chad Valley Company, depicting railway subjects or scenes in GWR territory, most sold at the cost price of 2s 6d, and in the first 10 years more than 77,000 were purchased.

Following the lead of the LNER, in 1934 the GWR introduced camp coaches: elderly coaches adapted for holiday accommodation, which were parked in sidings at attractive spots and rented weekly to passengers travelling by train. Initially the GWR placed them at nineteen locations, but when they proved highly popular, twenty were added in 1935, fifteen more in 1936 and another before 1939, but its total of sixty-nine was lower than any other of the Big Four. For the Coronation of King George VI in 1937 the GWR concentrated camping coaches at Henley-on-Thames and Wargrave and a coach for eight persons cost £8 for a week.

It is not always realised that railway embankments brought regular income to the Big Four. Apart from allotments and letting of arches for use as shops, warehouses and garages, the lineside was used for fowl runs, market gardens and tethering goats. In Devonshire several miles alongside the line was planted as an orchard, while in other places rabbit-trapping rights, or rights for the collection of hay, also contributed to the revenue. Additionally, there were the water pipes and cables passing under the line for which an annual charge was made.

The GWR had built its initial steam rail motor in 1903, eventually having a fleet of ninety-nine, this company being by far the largest user of this type of vehicle, which consisted of a combined locomotive and passenger coach, capable of being driven from either end. This meant that at the termination of a journey, rather than having to uncouple a locomotive, run it round the train and recouple, the driver could simply walk from one end to the other, thus saving time, signal movements and occupation of adjacent track. The rail motor’s disadvantages were that being maintained in a smoky engine shed was bad for the upholstery and paintwork, and additionally, while the engine part was undergoing maintenance, the carriage section was perforce also out of commission.

In due course a better solution was the auto train, whereby a small engine drew a coach which had a driver’s compartment at the rear, so that at the end of a journey the driver could walk to that compartment and, with the suitable equipment provided, control the train from there, the engine propelling the coach. The last GWR steam rail motor was withdrawn in 1934, most being economically recycled by having the engine section removed and its space replaced by seating, so making it into a suitable coach for auto-train working.

The GWR was forward in the use of diesel railcars, its first lightweight, streamlined railcar, developed with the AEC Company, entering service between Paddington, Reading and Oxford in February 1934. Powered by a single diesel engine of 121bhp, its transmission was a four-speed mechanical gear box. One engine driver felt it a come-down and that he had almost been made into a bus driver. The first car seated sixty-nine passengers but with such limited engine power had to be confined to level routes. Intended to operate singly, it had no drawgear, the buffers were of the lightest description and the car weighed only 18 tons tare. The next batch of railcars appearing in July 1934 had two 121bhp engines of a type similar to those fitted to London buses. The mounting was also similar to that used in the AEC Q-type bus with the power unit mounted down the side of the frame. One engine drove two axles of one bogie through a Wilson pre-selective epicyclic gearbox, a reversing box and two sets of worm gearing, while the engine on the other side was of the direct-drive type without an epicyclic gearbox and driving only one axle. The power and transmission components were entirely below the floor and could be inspected by removing the doors in the lower part of the body panels. The car could be driven from either end and was designed for a maximum speed of 80mph. It seated a total of forty passengers in two saloons and a buffet was arranged at one end. Nos 2–4 were placed on the Birmingham–South Wales businessmen’s service, a route where a locomotive-hauled train would not have been economic. Intended for long-distance passengers, they did not carry local passengers between Newport and Cardiff. A fee of 2s 6d over and above the ordinary fare covered a single journey for any distance. In July 1935 the latest cars had two engines giving an aggregate of 242bhp, seating varying from sixty-three to seventy. As railway working, particularly in rural areas, sometimes required a van, horse box or goods vehicle to be attached, a new railcar with standard buffers and drawgear capable of hauling a tail load of 60 tons was placed in service, also having two engines giving a total of 242bhp.

Although planned and ordered before the outbreak of war, it was not until 1940 that the second generation of diesel railcars entered service. These were constructed to traditional railway design with separate bodies and underframes and standard buffers and drawgear. The last four cars were single ended and were intended for operation in pairs at up to speeds of 70mph, and if required, an ordinary coach could be coupled between them. Their warning horns were tuned to E flat and G, as was French practice.

Viscount Churchill, chairman since 1908, died on 3 January 1934, and was replaced by Viscount Horne.

In July 1934 the GWR introduced the roundel with its initials inside, helping to introduce a modern idiom, while in 1936 the company employed the first saleswoman, whose duty was to ‘keep in touch with all kinds of women’s organisations, works and factories where women are employed in order to assist in the promotion of outings and excursions’, offering advice on ‘itineraries, sight-seeing, amusements and catering’.

1935 marked the centenary of the GWR and back in 1932 D.F. Levien of the GWR Record Office, Paddington, had suggested that it should be celebrated by a week-long event, including a cavalcade of old locomotives and rolling stock with the GWR Social & Educational Union and Dramatic & Operatic Society members appearing in period costume. There could also be a display of smaller relics and models. It was felt that such an event should be held in the London area, but a suitable site near the line could not be found, while the estimated cost of £10,000 for holding the event was thought unwise in a time of financial stringency.

Excursion trains were often formed of old rolling stock, but in 1934 the GWR placed in service two centre-corridor excursion trains where meals could be served to all passengers, thus avoiding them having to stagger along corridors. Two kitchen cars served four adjacent coaches. Passengers, sitting four to a table, had excellent views through large balanced windows with a locking device to hold them in any position. A special luxury was a bell push on each table to summon the attendant.

Some excursions offered excellent value for money: in 1935 an evening trip was advertised from Bristol to Weymouth leaving at 3.40 p.m., the fare being only 2s 6d for 174 miles, about 6 miles for each penny.

Although the GWR was proud of its past, and tended to use the same locomotive designs, livery and style of engine numbers, paradoxically it also liked to project a modern image and in 1906 scrapped the broad-gauge North Star and Lord of the Isles, which had been preserved. It would have been pleasant had some of the elderly engines acquired in the grouping been saved rather than scrapped. To celebrate the broad gauge, the GWR only had a replica of the 2-2-2 North Star and the South Devon Railway 0-4-0T Tiny, with the rather more modern record-breaking 4-4-0 City of Truro resting in York Museum.

Rather than looking back in the centenary celebrations, a look forward was emphasised, the slogan being ‘100 Years of Progress’ and announcements made of the building of new locomotives and carriages. No new design of locomotive appeared, but No 6014 King Henry VII was modified with fairings added to make it more streamlined, while later that year No 5005 Manorbier Castle was also treated in the same manner. Instead of making the engines look graceful, it looked like what it was: a cheap effort at streamlining. Soon the streamlining had to be modified by the removal of the casing round the cylinders and motion, which, by hindering the access of cold air when the engines were running at speed, tended to cause the motion to heat unduly. Tender coverings hindered coal loading, so these also were removed.

The new carriages in the centenary year included two thirteen-coach rakes for Cornish Riviera Limited, the 60ft long and 9ft 7in wide coaches – the widest in the country – being as well equipped and luxurious as Pullman cars. A new feature for the GWR was that, instead of multiple doors, there were only two recessed end doors, while each compartment had large drop windows fitted with rayon curtains.

On 31 August 1935, the centenary of the passing of the GWR Act, The Times marked the event by publishing a special supplement relating new initiatives as well as those of the past. The GWR paid The Times £750 for the supplement, this sum equalling the cost of a full-page advertisement.

On 31 August 1935 a train of GWR guests left Paddington at 10 a.m. and sped to Bristol non-stop in 2 hours for a celebratory lunch in the Great Hall of the University of Bristol. Following the meal they were shown the film The Romance of a Railway.

This showed the first meeting of the GWR in 1833, re-enacted in the Merchants’ Hall, Bristol, using members of the Society of Merchant Venturers, GWR directors, management and staff, and Bristol City Council employees. The arrival of the first train at Maidenhead was replicated on waste ground west of the Swindon Works. The train was headed by the replica North Star burning cotton waste in its smokebox, but actually propelled by a diesel shunter out of shot. The track was necessarily mixed gauge as the carriages and North Star’s tender were standard-gauge replicas used in the Liverpool & Manchester celebrations of 1925; the crowd was played by members of the Great Western (London) and Swindon Operatic societies. The GWR Magazine reported that between the historical scenes were ‘cleverly contrived glimpses of several resorts served by the railway, and of traffic operations’.

Guests were whisked back to London in 1 hour 45 minutes. The high-speed Bristolian express was inaugurated on 9 September 1935, cutting the time of 2 hours to 1¾ hours, making it 15 minutes faster than any previous train.

On 30 August 1935 the BBC broadcast a programme telling the story of the GWR between Paddington and Penzance, interviewing several members of staff. The last centenary event was a banquet held in the Grosvenor House Hotel, attended by 1,100 guests including the Prince of Wales and mayors and lord mayors of the towns and cities served by the GWR. The Prince of Wales gave an amusing speech relating that his grandmother, Queen Victoria, had travelled on the GWR first in 1842 and this permitted the GWR to call itself ‘The Royal Road’. He said that on its centenary the company ‘was entitled to have its own trumpet blown, and I am very happy to give it a hearty and resounding blast’. Every diner was presented with a cigar, a cigarette and a match container in the form of the Lord of the Isles locomotive. Sadly the centenary celebrations did not cater for the ordinary person.

At the GWR’s annual general meeting in 1937, the chairman Viscount Horne was able to announce that, for the first year since 1930, the company had been able to pay the 3 per cent dividend to shareholders without dipping into its reserves. That year the scheme for an inland bypass of the coast line through Dawlish and Teignmouth, which although highly picturesque was always at risk of storm damage, was modified by a divergence at Exminster, instead of Dawlish Warren as originally intended. The length of the new line, for which an Act was being applied, would have been approximately 12½ miles. The outbreak of war in 1939 put a stop to the scheme, which was never revived.

In 1937 the GWR planned a unique excursion from Bristol and district visiting the Pinewood Film Studios, Iver Heath, near Slough. For 10s 6d adults and 6s 9d children, the party travelled by rail to Slough where on arrival the group was filmed before travelling by motor coach to the studios, the largest and most up-to-date in Europe. During a conducted tour of the studios and gardens, the stages, property and wardrobe departments, dressing rooms, carpenters’ and plasterers’ shops, make-up departments and much else of interest were visited and part of the actual shooting of a film was witnessed; the visit concluded with tea in the studio restaurant.

Following the conclusion of the visit, the visitors were returned to Slough by road and then on to Paddington, enjoying 6 hours in London before returning to Bristol at 12.20 a.m. A few days later the film showing them at Slough was exhibited at various cinemas in Bristol and the west of England.

The GWR operated a 24-hour service on King George VI’s Coronation Day, 12 May 1937, and between 12.30 a.m. and 6.30 a.m. twenty-five special trains arrived at Paddington. Then at the Whitsun weekend, traffic was again very heavy at Paddington, with almost as many passengers arriving to enjoy the Coronation decorations and floodlighting in London as left for the sea and country. Duplication of main-line trains began on Friday, 14 May, and on the next day the Cornish Riviera Express ran as four full-length trains. On those 2 days, 125 long-distance expresses left Paddington for the West Country.

In mid-June 1937 the GWR inaugurated a new fast freight service from Birkenhead to London. Leaving Birkenhead at 7.45 p.m., it called at Chester at 9 p.m., then Shrewsbury at 10.45 p.m. before (at an average speed of 30.6mph) making a 152¾-mile non-stop run to Paddington in 5 hours, making it the longest run on the system. It brought merchandise from the North into Paddington 3 hours earlier than previously.

As the Liskeard to Looe branch was difficult to work due to steep gradients and the need for a reversal at Coombe Junction, in 1937 work began on a new branch to the town. Starting from a junction with the main line west of St Germans, the line was not inexpensive as it required two new intermediate stations, two viaducts and two tunnels – one of 2,288yd and one of 700yd. It was incomplete when the war broke out and the new line was never completed.

In February 1938 Lord Horne, chairman of the GWR, announced that the GWR had requested Messrs Merz & McLellan, consulting engineers, to prepare an electrification scheme for lines west of Taunton, an area to which coal had to be hauled a considerable distance from South Wales. The company was concerned by the rising cost of coal as every shilling per ton increase in price meant an additional expense to the GWR of over £100,000 a year. Quite apart from the cost of coal, the heavy gradients west of Newton Abbot were better suited to electric traction. It was envisaged that not all the west of England branches would be electrified, some using diesel traction to avoid the necessity of maintaining any steam depots west of Taunton.

The consulting engineers issued their report in May 1939, recommending overhead electrification at 3,000 volts. The net capital cost of electrifying the lines was estimated at over £4 million, while the saving in working costs would have been only £100,500. As the directors believed this would have been an inadequate return, the idea was shelved.

In November 1938 the Big Four began the ‘Square Deal’ campaign, seeking freedom to charge appropriate rates for the goods they were bound to carry under the Carriers’ Acts. In May 1939 the government accepted this, but events were overtaken by the Second World War before steps could be taken.

Almost on the eve of the war, 4-6-0 No 4086 Builth Castle made an exploit which has been little recoded. On 31 July 1939, heading a Paddington–Worcester express with a load of seven coaches, it held a speed of 100mph for no fewer than 4½ miles near Honeybourne.

On 1 September 1939, under the Defence Regulations Act, 1939, the government seized control of the railways, taking all the receipts and paying what it considered a suitable payment from a pool of £40 million, the GWR receiving 16 per cent, the LMS 34 per cent, the LNER 23 per cent, the SR 16 per cent and the LPTB 11 per cent. These figures were based on the average net revenues for 1935–37; any balance above the £40 million was to be allocated on the same percentage up to a maximum of £3.5 million.

Government control was through the Railway Executive Committee, consisting of the general managers of each of the Big Four and Frank Pick, vice-chairman of the LPTB.

It was expected that if war broke out the enemy would bomb major cities, so the evacuation of children from these locations was planned, the GWR playing a major role. From 1 September 1939 for 4 days, the GWR was required to run sixty-four evacuation trains of twelve coaches from London (sixty left from Ealing Broadway), at approximately 9-minute intervals between 8.30 a.m. and 5.30 p.m.

Initially, to save fuel in wartime and reduce wear on the track, trains were restricted to a maximum speed of 60mph, this later being raised to 75mph. At first, when an air raid warning was given, passenger trains were required to stop to allow passengers to alight and, if they wished, take shelter, before continuing at a maximum speed of 15mph. As this seriously delayed traffic, from November 1940 they were allowed to proceed at 25mph during an air raid, but outside of industrial areas drivers realised the chance of running into bomb-damaged track was slender and so ignored this limit.

On 6 October 1941 all London suburban trains starting and ending their journey within the LPTB’s area became third class only. In addition to making the best use of the accommodation on the reduced number of trains, it meant that trains were not delayed by passengers seeking the right class of carriage in the blackout. Knowledgeable passengers sought out these former first-class compartments as they offered greater leg and elbow room and better upholstery. On 5 October 1942 off-peak cheap returns were withdrawn, leaving ‘seasons’ as the only discounted tickets. In an effort to save fuel, instead of the pre-war custom of switching on full heat between October and April when the temperature fell below 48°F and half heat when below 55°F, it became full heat when below 45°F and half heat when below 50°F between November and March.

Like the other Big Four companies, the GWR had to take precautions against air raids. At night, as blinds did not cut out all light, reduced lighting was necessary in carriages. In an effort to avoid firebox glow, tender engines had a tarpaulin stretched from the cab roof to the tender, and locomotives with side window cabs had them replaced with steel plates. Footplatemen and signalmen were given steel helmets as protection against flying debris. Glass was removed from station roofs and canopies as flying glass splinters could inflict dreadful wounds.

The GWR was required by the War Office to supply 0-6-0s for use on the Continent, the GWR providing 100 Dean Goods. Before leaving from France these were modified by removing the automatic train control cab signalling equipment and installing Westinghouse braking equipment, while ten were fitted with condensing gear and pannier tanks. An apparatus was also supplied to enable them to lift water out of any convenient stream or pond to replenish their supplies. To compensate for the loss of these 0-6-0s, the GWR reinstated twenty of various classes which had been withdrawn but not cut up, and borrowed forty Class 2F and 3F 0-6-0s from the LMS and twenty J25s from the LNER.

On 26 May 1940 the code-word ‘Dynamo’ was sent to all the Big Four, warning them that the Dunkirk evacuation was commencing, and the GWR provided forty of the 186 trains required. The GWR was restricted in the type of locomotive it could send to the SR, as clearance and weight restrictions had to be taken into consideration. Most of the engines used were the relatively light 2-6-0s and Manor class 4-6-0s.

An interesting gesture following the 1940 Battle of Britain was that some Castle class 4-6-0s were renamed after British aircraft used in the fighting. The displaced castle names were used when further engines were built in the post-war years. In 1940–42, fifty-three 2800 class 2-8-0 engines were built, paying great tribute to a 40-year-old design.

On 11 December 1942 the first of the American-built Class S160 2-8-0s were handed over to the Minister of War Transport at Paddington. Some 175 worked on the GWR, so actually outnumbered the GWR’s own 2800 class of 2-8-0s, but with the invasion of France in 1944, the US engines were sent to the Continent. Then in 1943 large quantities of material began to arrive from the USA for the American forces in addition to the ‘Lend-Lease’ cargoes. Some of this material included locomotives and armoured vehicles, the railway equipment arriving by ‘sea-train’, a vessel fitted with railway tracks on several decks, but loaded and unloaded by crane and not by the roll on–roll off of a normal train ferry. From just one ship, thirty-four locomotives were unloaded at a South Wales port in addition to other equipment.

After 1942 only Kings and Castles continued to be painted green, all other classes being black. At the same time, while the Cornish Riviera Express and the Torbay Express coaches and the diesel railcars were still painted chocolate and cream, other vehicles were given a reddish-brown livery.

GWR workshops supported the war effort and produced such items as anti-aircraft guns, quick-release equipment for barrage balloons, anti-aircraft predictors, midget submarine superstructures and casings for 2,000lb and 4,000lb bombs. Of the 126 awards for conspicuous gallantry awarded to railway workers on duty, thirty-two were awarded to those on the GWR.

To facilitate access to Southampton, the former Didcot, Newbury & Southampton Railway had its 18 miles Didcot–Newbury doubled as well as the first 2 miles south of that point, while beyond that location extra capacity was gained by lengthening the passing loops. Between Newport and Severn Tunnel Junction the line was quadrupled, as was Cheltenham to Gloucester, the latter being shared with the LMS, which actually carried out the work.

Partly due to the fact that the GWR had an ATC system whereby drivers were alerted to the positions of distant signals and, if ignored, trains were automatically stopped, the GWR was largely free from serious accidents, but a terrible derailment took place at Norton Fitzwarren on 4 November 1940.

No 6028 King George VI called at Taunton with the 9.50 p.m. Paddington–Penzance sleeping car express. Shortly after its arrival, the Taunton Station West signalman was informed that the newspaper train of five bogie vans hauled by another King was running ahead of schedule. As it was not booked to call at Taunton, the signalman correctly decided to let it run through on the main line and send the express as far as Norton Fitzwarren on the parallel relief line, instead of crossing it to the Down main immediately west of the station as normally happened.

Station work concluded, the express drew out of Taunton and shortly afterwards the newspaper train passed through at approximately 55mph. Unfortunately, Driver Stacey on the express, unaware that he was on the relief line, mistook the main-line signal set at clear for his own. Not until the other King drew alongside just before reaching Norton Fitzwarren station did he realise his mistake.

He immediately closed the regulator and applied the brakes because the relief line ended at Norton Fitzwarren, but at 40mph there was insufficient time to stop before King George VI was derailed at the trap points protecting the main line.

The first six coaches of the express spread across all four roads. Of the 900 passengers aboard, twenty-seven were killed, thirteen of whom were naval ratings, while injuries numbered seventy-five.

Guard Baggett on the newspaper train, struck by an object flying through his window, applied his brake and brought the train to a halt about a mile beyond Norton Fitzwarren. Finding nothing amiss, the train proceeded carefully to Wellington station for a more detailed examination, but in the blackout nothing was found wrong.

The object which struck Guard Baggett was a rivet head from the bogie of King George VI, and the lower panels of the last newspaper van were found to be marked by the ballast flung up by the derailed express, indicating that the newspaper train had not quite cleared the scene before the derailed express crashed across its path, the second coach of the express actually ripping off one of its rear buffers. Had the newspaper train been just a few seconds later, it would have crashed into the crowded coaches with an even more appalling result.

Driver Stacey on the express was uninjured, but his fireman was killed. Although responsible for the event, Driver Stacey was treated sympathetically because, apart from the difficulties of driving in the blackout, his home at Acton had been damaged by bombing and he was concerned about the safety of his family. The ATC would have alerted him as he passed Norton Fitzwarren’s distant signal at danger, but he must have cancelled it subconsciously.

One of the first signs of peace was the restoration of the Channel Islands service on 18 September 1945 and the reinstatement of the Travelling Post Office on 1 October 1945 following a break of 5 years. Although the other three companies restored restaurant cars on 1 October 1945, the GWR did not follow suit as its trains were overcrowded and it did not wish to reduce passenger accommodation, so it delayed their reintroduction until 31 December 1945.

In December 1945 the GWR was the first of the Big Four to set up a zonal system for dealing with small consignments. The country was divided into zones, each with a designated station as a centre and having a number of sub-railheads. A package handed in at a small station would be taken by road to a sub-railhead where it might be possible to make up a full wagonload for its destination, but failing this, the package would be taken on by road to the zone’s railhead. This meant that a package for a destination served by the railhead’s road delivery service might complete its journey without ever travelling by rail.

The severe weather early in 1947 blocked many lines, so all permanent way staff were engaged in shovelling snow, assisted by British and Polish troops and German prisoners-of-war. One Welsh station master tried to ease the situation by traipsing the streets with a handbell appealing for more shovelers. On one day only 192 coal wagons left South Wales compared with the usual 2,000. One solution to clear drifts was to use two Rolls-Royce jet engines mounted on a wagon. The fuel shortage caused passenger train services to be reduced in January and then further in March. The introduction of the 5-day week in industry adversely affected the emptying of wagons, as there was 1 day fewer to undertake the task, so more wagons were needed, the turn-round being slower.

Until 1946 GWR coaches had been built as two separate units: a coach body and a steel underframe. From that year the body was built into the frame.

The GWR’s Interest and Dividends from Investments in Other Undertakings, 1947









	Name of Undertaking

	Investment

	Interest

	Dividends




	Associated Bus Companies

	£

	£

	%




	Birmingham & Midland Motor Omnibus Co. Ltd

	411,500

	201,600

	49.0




	City of Oxford Motor Services Ltd

	123,868

	51,364

	41.5




	Crosville Motor Service Ltd

	148,212

	25,536

	17.2




	Devon General Omnibus & Touring Co. Ltd

	62,954

	22,504

	35.8




	Thames Valley Traction Co. Ltd

	93,710

	36,400

	38.8




	Western National Omnibus Co. Ltd

	1,263,378

	187,636

	14.9




	Western Welsh Omnibus Co. Ltd

	196,520

	59,977

	30.5




	Other companies

	 

	 

	 




	Hays Wharf Cartage Co. Ltd

	795,808

	238,888

	30.0




	Penarth Pontoon, Slipway & Ship Repairing Co. Ltd

	37,750

	1,389

	3.7
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This attempt at streamlining No 6014 King Henry VII looks very amateurish compared with the LMS and LNER efforts. (Author’s collection)
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A GWR-liveried Westland Wessex in 1933, hired from Imperial Airways. The GWR coat of arms appears on the tail. (Author’s collection)
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A GWR 3,000-gallon milk tank wagon around 1930. (Author’s collection)
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The cover of a GWR jigsaw puzzle issued in the 1920s. The GWR coat of arms consisted of the London coat of arms on the left and that of Bristol on the right.
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Electric traction for road vehicles is not new. This photograph of a GWR electric lorry, Fleet No 11, subject to a speed limit of 9mph, was taken in December 1923. Its batteries are hung below the platform. (Author’s collection)
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In addition to carrying goods, the railways offered a distribution service. Here, around 1931, the GWR van No 2339, on a Dennis chassis and in Macfarlane Lang livery, provides a delivery service from a railhead. The roof rack is for holding empty biscuit tins to be returned to the factory for refilling. (Author’s collection)
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For intermittent shunting, the GWR used a converted Fordson tractor as a cheaper alternative to a locomotive as it used no fuel when idle. This view was taken around 1930. (Author’s collection)
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GWR streamlined diesel railcar No 11, ex-works, February 1936. (Author’s collection)
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The GWR’s Royal Hotel at Paddington, although dating from 1852, has been given a 1930s look. (Author’s collection)
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Built in the USA, S160 class 2-8-0 No 1707 is on loan to the GWR prior to being sent to the Continent following the D-Day invasion. (Author’s collection)
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No 6028 King George VI derailed at Norton Fitzwarren 4 November 1940. (Author’s collection)
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Above: Frederick Hawksworth’s 1945 4-6-0 No 1000 County of Middlesex. Although mainly constructed with typical GWR features, for ease of maintenance it had two large cylinders rather than four smaller ones. Its double chimney, straight-sided welded tender and straight nameplate upset some traditionalists. (Author’s collection)
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An advertisement in June 1930 for the GWR’s rail and road land cruises.
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GWR LOCOMOTIVE DEVELOPMENT

The GWR acquired locomotive workshops at Barry, Caerphilly, Cardiff, Cirencester and Oswestry, but repair and maintenance of Welsh locomotives was concentrated at the former Rhymney railway’s works at Caerphilly, only dating from 1901, the GWR completing their modernisation in 1926. Locomotives of railways taken over by the GWR were, when needing extensive repair, ‘Great Westernised’ by being given GWR boilers, cabs, chimneys and safety valve covers, renumbered and having cast number plates fixed.

Until the summer of 1922 the GWR could claim that it had the largest and most powerful express passenger engine in the country, the 4-6-2 The Great Bear with a tractive effort of 27,800lb, but then Gresley’s Pacifics on the GNR, followed by Raven’s Pacifics on the NER, appeared with a tractive effort of 29,835lb and 29,918lb respectively. Pole countered this one-upmanship with the appearance of Charles Benjamin Collett’s 4-6-0 No 4073 Caerphilly Castle with a tractive effort of 31,625lb, this engine forming the centre-piece of the GWR exhibit at the British Empire Exhibition, Wembley, in 1924. It was estimated that 750,000 visited Caerphilly Castle’s footplate. When the exhibition was reopened in 1925, No 4079 Pendennis Castle was the locomotive displayed. It was estimated that over the 2 years the exhibition was visited by more than 20 million people, while the GWR ran over 800 excursion trains to it, carrying almost 400,000 passengers.

The GWR Castles and Stars were economical engines and the 1925 locomotive exchange between the LNER and the GWR showed that the average coal consumption of the LNER’s No 4474, later named Victor Wild, had an average coal consumption when working the Down Cornish Riviera Express of 50lb per mile, yet on the day Caldicot Castle brought the train into Plymouth a quarter of an hour early, it had used only 46.8lb per mile. Other companies were anxious to find the ‘secret’ of low coal consumption and the final batch of the ex-LYR 4-6-0s had a modified valve gear with long-lap valves.

In 1926 the GWR’s Launceston Castle was tried on runs Euston–Crewe and then Crewe–Carlisle. Although it performed well in the south, the winds and rain of Westmorland reduced the effectiveness of its dry sanding gear, but overall it was a success and J.E. Anderson, superintendent of LMS motive power, who had never previously been known to speak well of any other than MR engines, said openly that he would appreciate twenty Castles for the 1927 summer traffic.

Meanwhile Pole had ordered an even better 4-6-0 for the GWR’s 1927 traffic and thus No 6000 King George V appeared with a tractive effort of 40,300lb. It worked the Cornish Riviera Express for the first time on 20 July 1927 and then on 3 August sailed from Cardiff to appear at the Baltimore & Ohio Railroad’s ‘Fair of the Iron Horse’, held from 24 September until 15 October 1927.

In 1927 the 4-6-0 No 2925 Saint Martin had its 6ft 8in driving wheels replaced by 6ft ones, turning it from an express locomotive into one suitable for mixed traffic. This proving a success, an order for eighty Halls, as these locomotives were to become, was placed in 1927.

The year 1930 saw the appearance of a new 0-6-0 to replace engines of the 1110 class double-frame tender goods engines that were in need of renewal. The new 2251 class engines were fitted with the same motion as the 57XX class 0-6-0PTs, while the boilers were the GWR standard No 10 pattern, similar to those being fitted to the absorbed South Wales railways 0-6-2Ts. Boiler pressure was 200lb per square inch and they were fitted with Belpaire fireboxes. The cabs had side windows.

Unlike the LMS, which adopted diesel shunters in the 1930s, the GWR was slow to adopt this form of locomotive. In 1933 it purchased a Fowler diesel-electric 0-4-0 for use at Swindon Works, but it was not until 1935 that it bought the next, a Hawthorn Leslie 0-6-0 diesel-electric for Acton Yard.

The mid-1930s was an era of renewals. Churchward’s 2-8-0Ts were destined to haul coal in South Wales between pit and port or factory. Following the General Strike of 1926, this traffic declined and some of the 2-8-0Ts became superfluous. In 1934 Collett realised that, if the frames were extended by 4ft 1in, the enlarged bunker could hold 6 tons of coal, almost as much as a tender engine, and thus allow the range of the class to be extended. The enlarged bunker was supported by a trailing radial axle, making the locomotive a 2-8-2T of most impressive appearance.

Between 1936 and 1939, eighty mixed traffic Grange class 4-6-0s, similar to the Hall class, were created using the 5ft 8in driving wheels, motion and tenders from withdrawn 4300 class 2-6-0s. A lighter engine was created by using a slightly smaller boiler and cylinders. The Manor class 4-6-0s were 5 tons lighter and permitted for use on sections which had hitherto seen nothing larger than a 2-6-0. For example, the first of the class, No 7800 Torquay Manor, was in service in mid-February 1938 on the Banbury–Swansea section of the Newcastle–South Wales Ports-to-Ports express where, until the introduction of the Manors, nothing larger than a 2-6-0 was allowed on the Banbury–Cheltenham section.

Another ‘new’ class was made by combining the strong frames of a ‘Bulldog’ class 4-4-0 with the cab, boiler and smokebox fittings of a lighter ‘Duke’, as a ‘Bulldog’, being a heavier engine, could not itself be a replacement. They were named ‘Earls’, but as real earls were less than happy about being named on locomotives with an ancient appearance, these nameplates were removed and fixed to new ‘Castles’, the rebuilt locomotives then being known as ‘Dukedogs’.

Frederick William Hawksworth was appointed chief mechanical engineer (CME) in July 1941, a rather unfortunate date as wartime expediency prevented him from creating an express engine larger and more powerful than a King. Hall 4-6-0s, being mixed traffic engines, were allowed to be built and Hawksworth improved their design, a visual difference being that his Halls carried the main frames through to the buffer beams, while an internal improvement was a larger superheater. Footplate crews acknowledged that they ran better than the original Halls and could reach 80mph. They were placed on passenger duty and worked turn and turnabout with Castles.

Hawksworth’s first completely new design was the County class mixed traffic 4-6-0 which appeared in the summer of 1945. Initially it proved a poor steamer due to the number of tubes hindering circulation, but modification obviated this fault and it proved to be a good engine. Its boiler pressure was 280lb compared with the 250lb of a King, or 225lb of a Castle, while the boiler was non-standard as were the 6ft 3in driving wheels, above which was a continuous splasher. The flat-sided tender was a new design produced by welding instead of riveting.

Although the Castle design was 23 years old, more were built in 1946, as the GWR’s post-war policy was to run relatively light trains frequently, rather than longer ones at longer intervals, so there was no requirement for a Pacific to match those built by the other three companies. Castles had proved popular with their crews and were economical to run.

In the post-war years, in order to obtain foreign currency the best coal was exported, leaving poor-quality coal for home use. To alleviate the shortage of good steam coal, in 1945 the GWR equipped some engines for oil firing. It involved fitting an oil tank in the tender and a burner in the firebox, where the oil was atomised in a steam jet prior to combustion. The GWR anticipated converting all engines used in Cornwall to oil firing, this county being the furthest from coal mines.

When drawing a heavy load, an oil-fired 2-8-0 burned 6.5 gallons per mile compared with 72lb of coal, which meant that the range of an oil-fired engine was approximately half as much again as one using coal. Additionally there were the advantages that no ash disposal or fire cleaning was required at the end of a trip, while the hazard of a lineside fire caused by cinders was eliminated, yet due to the risk of the fuel igniting, a fire extinguisher was kept each side of the cab.

The Ministry of Transport thought it an excellent scheme and authorised the remainder of the Big Four to convert 1,217 locomotives from coal to oil firing. Then, after many engines had been converted and money invested in oil fuelling plants, the Treasury announced that there was insufficient foreign exchange available to purchase the oil!

Keen on innovation, in 1946 the GWR ordered a gas-turbine locomotive from the Swiss firm of Brown-Boveri, only the third such machine in the world. It did not arrive in England until 1950 when it was principally used on Paddington–Bristol expresses. It was nicknamed ‘Kerosene Castle’. A similar machine ordered from Metropolitan-Vickers was delivered in December 1951. Both suffered from the defect that they consumed almost as much fuel when idling as when hauling a train. Diesel-electric propulsion was more efficient as the Metropolitan-Vickers consumed 2.97 gallons a mile, approximately triple that of a diesel-electric.

In an effort to combat conditions caused by having to use poor fuel, in 1947 Hawksworth planned to use a much higher degree of superheat than previously used at Swindon, and obtained excellent results from fitting a four-row superheater on No 6022 King Edward III. Critics observed that the LMS and LNER had been using a high degree of superheat for years, but they had done so not from choice, but because the coal they used demanded it, despite its disadvantages and extra maintenance costs.

In 1947 a modernised version of the 57XX Pannier 0-6-0T appeared, numbered in the 94XX series. Having a tapered boiler, it was of a modern appearance, but with a weight 8 tons heavier, it was too heavy for some lines, while another disadvantage was that, due to the width of its cab, a driver could not look over the side to observe a shunter’s signal and operate the brake as it was out of reach.

After nationalisation, British Railways designed a series of standard steam locomotives and most of the boilers were based on the LMS versions of the Swindon designs which Stanier had taken with him to Crewe.
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GWR PRINCIPAL NAMED TRAINS

Probably the best-known named GWR express was the Cornish Riviera Limited. Although running non-stop, it slipped coaches at Westbury, Taunton and Exeter and this proportioned the load to the increasing severity of the gradients as the train worked its way westwards with climbs as steep as 1 in 36 and 1½ miles averaging 1 in 50. In the summer of 1928, although fourteen coaches left Paddington, there were only six leaving Exeter. The Westbury coaches were worked through to Weymouth while one of the Taunton coaches worked to Minehead and the other to Ilfracombe. The Exeter slip coach was worked through to Kingsbridge. The Cornish Riviera consisted of eight portions because, in addition to the three slip portions mentioned above, a stop was made at Par to detach a coach for Newquay. At Truro one was detached for Falmouth, and one for St Ives at St Erth, so just four coaches, comprising the main train and restaurant cars, went on to terminate at Penzance. Coaches used on this train were usually the newest stock, in 1935 this being the special Centenary Riviera vehicles of extra width and with recessed end doors. In 1938 it left Paddington at 10.30 a.m., reached Plymouth at 2.30 p.m. and finally arrived in Penzance, 305¼ miles from Paddington, at 4.55 p.m. The Up working left Penzance at 10 a.m., reached Plymouth at 12.30 p.m. and arrived at Paddington at 4.40 p.m.

During the locomotive exchange with the LNER, for a week in May 1925 the LNER A1 Pacific No 4474 Victor Wild worked alternate runs of the Cornish Riviera with No 4074 Caldicot Castle (note the curiosity that both numbers end in 74); the GWR engine kept better time and used less fuel. By 1939 the normal load was fourteen coaches, weighing 468 tons empty and almost 500 tons with a normal complement of passengers and luggage. In the summer months the Cornish Riviera was so well used that a similar service, the Cornishman, departed 5 minutes after the Limited. At the commencement of the Second World War, the Cornish Riviera was diverted via Bath and Bristol, combining the work of several other expresses, but it was found impossible to accommodate all these passengers in a single service and it returned to its original route via Westbury.

The Cheltenham Spa Express ran from Cheltenham to Paddington. In 1923 the GWR decided that, with its new Castle class engines, it should wrest the record of the fastest run from the LNER, which was the 43 minute timing for the 44.1 miles from Darlington to York. The almost level and almost straight track from Swindon to Paddington was ideal for the purpose, so the timing of the Cheltenham Spa Express for the 77.3 miles from Swindon was cut to 75 minutes, requiring a start-to-stop average speed of 61.8mph. In July 1929 timing was cut to 70 minutes, requiring a speed of 66.2mph, at that time the world’s fastest regular railway run, but in 1931 the Canadian Pacific Railway introduced a train which required an average speed of 68.9mph between Montreal and Smith’s Falls, so the GWR retaliated in September 1931 by accelerating the Cheltenham Spa Express to a 67-minute run requiring an average speed of 69.2mph, but in order to give the schedule a round figure, in September 1932 the time was cut to 65 minutes, raising the average speed to 71.4mph. Its fastest recorded journey was on 6 June 1932 when it covered the distance in 56 minutes 47 seconds, making an average of 81.7mph. The engine responsible for the feat was No 5006 Tregenna Castle with a load of six coaches weighing 186 tons empty and 195 tons gross. It was only a fast train between Swindon and Paddington: after leaving Cheltenham it called at Gloucester, Stroud and Kemble, the 44¼ miles to Swindon taking 71 minutes. The corresponding Down service ran non-stop from Paddington to Kemble. The Up train had a restaurant car, but its Down counterpart only a buffet. At the outbreak of the Second World War the train was withdrawn and it was never reinstated.

To mark the company’s centenary, the GWR inaugurated a new express, the Bristolian, which ran between its two original termini in a shorter time than previously. At one time it was anticipated that the 118.3 miles could be covered in 90 minutes, but on second thoughts the time was increased to 105 minutes, 15 minutes faster than the previous best. Interestingly, the Down route differed from the Up. The Down route was via Bath, but the Up via Badminton reduced the distance to 117.6 miles, while introducing a 2¼-mile climb at 1 in 75. The average speed for a Down train was 67.6mph and 67.2 in an Up direction. It was withdrawn in 1939 and not restored until after nationalisation.

The Torbay Express left Paddington at noon and was due at Exeter St David’s at 2.49 p.m., having covered the 173.5 miles in 169 minutes at an average speed of 61.6mph. The 26.1 miles onwards to Torquay required 35 minutes and offered passengers more time to enjoy the coastal delights at Dawlish. At 4.05 p.m. it terminated at Kingswear, the last stretch of 6 miles being probably the only piece of GWR single track regularly used by a King. During the Second World War it left Paddington earlier at 10.40 a.m., made additional stops and was due at Torquay at 3.18 p.m. and Kingswear at 3.50 p.m. The summer of 1946 saw reversion to the old noon departure.

On 8 July 1929 the Torbay Express had a rival when the Torbay Pullman Limited was introduced, leaving Paddington at 11 a.m. and running the 193.9 miles to Newton Abbot non-stop in 205 minutes, arriving in Torquay at 2.40 p.m. and Paignton at 2.50 p.m. It returned from Paignton at 4.30 p.m., reached Torquay at 4.40 p.m. and arrived at Paddington at 8.30 p.m. The Torbay Pullman was the first of the very few Pullmans run on the GWR. Despite running only on Mondays and Fridays, with an additional round-trip added in the autumn of 1929, it failed to attract passengers and was withdrawn in 1930. The Pullman Car company made a charge of 7s 6d for a first-class journey and 5s 0d for third. Following the withdrawal of the Pullmans, in 1931 the GWR built eight luxurious Super Saloons for use on the Plymouth boat trains and named after members of the Royal Family; as with Pullmans, an extra fee was charged.
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THE LONDON, MIDLAND
& SCOTTISH RAILWAY

With a total length of about 8,000 miles, the LMS was the largest British railway and included two of the lines which ranked as some of the longest in Great Britain. One of those lines was the London & North Western, which claimed to be ‘The Premier Line’ as it included many of the principal early railways such as the London & Birmingham, the Liverpool & Manchester and the Grand Junction. The LNWR possessed the shortest and most favourable routes between many of the principal towns and resorts, and competed fiercely with the LYR. The other important company was the Midland Railway, an octopus which had lines extending into almost every part of England, north, south, east and west. Uniting these three powerful companies into one did not halt competition, but just internalised it.

In Scotland the LMS included the Caledonian Railway, the west coast partner of the LNWR, while the Glasgow and South Western worked with the Midland’s London–Glasgow traffic. In Lancashire and Yorkshire was a network of lines operated by a company which took its name from those counties. There was also the Furness Railway covering the Lake and Furness districts, the North Staffordshire serving the Potteries and Five Towns familiar to the readers of Arnold Bennett, and finally the Highland Railway in the far north of Scotland.

Thus the LMS had two main lines between London and Carlisle: the direct via Crewe formed by the LNWR, and the longer but more scenic Midland route via Bedford and Kirby Stephen. Similarly, there were two routes between Carlisle and Glasgow: the direct Caledonian Railway and the GSWR. The LMS provided the shortest routes between London and Birmingham, Manchester and Liverpool. Regarding the west to north route, there was the former Midland line between Bristol and Birmingham.

The LMS linked the west and east coasts by its main line between Liverpool and Manchester and across the Pennines to Wakefield and Goole. The Irish Mail route to the Republic of Ireland via Holyhead and Kingstown or Dublin was LMS throughout, shipping included. Routes which it either owned, or worked in association with other companies, carried it to the east coast at Shoeburyness, Cromer, Yarmouth and Lowestoft, to the south coast at Bournemouth – this resort could hardly be described as being in London, the Midlands or Scotland – and the LMS also had important lines in both North and South Wales. The Continent could be accessed via the LMS steamship services from Goole, making it possible to travel all the way by LMS from Copenhagen to either Dublin or Belfast.

The LMS even had an agency on Guernsey in an attempt to profit from the tomato, vegetable and flower traffic. Set up jointly by the MR and the LNWR, it secured the passage over its system of the produce which began its transit on the steamers and rails of the GWR and SR, subsequently being transferred to the LMS. Additionally, a large potato traffic was carried by privately owned steamers from the Channel Islands direct to Holyhead where the LMS took over the traffic. The potatoes, packed in casks or tubs, were generally transhipped into covered vans, then formed into special trains destined for Manchester, Leeds and other northern cities. The steamers also advertised passenger trips between Holyhead and Guernsey, a small amount of comfortable passenger accommodation being available on board these steamers.

The LMS worked over 20,000 miles of track, including all lines and sidings owned by the company, using 10,300 locomotives, 27,000 passenger train vehicles and 304,000 goods wagons and vans, quite apart from the electric stock, rail motors and road vehicles. It conveyed over 350 million passengers annually, excluding journeys made by the 319,000 season-ticket holders, and carried over 163 million tons of freight. The latter included almost 100 million tons of coal and coke and 33 million tons of other minerals, leaving 32½ million tons of general traffic, chiefly in packages which called for quite an amount of handling. To work all this traffic the LMS ran about 227 million miles by locomotives or electric trains in the course of a year. The LMS owned ten of the twenty-one largest stations in the British Isles and owned the Northern Counties Committee line in Northern Ireland as well as having interests in the Republic. Additionally the LMS was a large steamer, dock and hotel-owning company. After the SR, it had the highest number of London termini, these being located at Broad Street, Euston, Fenchurch Street and St Pancras.

As a result of grouping its locomotives were renumbered, the general system being:

1–4999, mainly Midland and North Staffordshire: passenger tender locomotives 1–1199; passenger tank locomotives 1200–1499 and 2000–2219; freight tank locomotives 1500–1999 and 2200–2289; and freight tender locomotives 2290–4999.

5000–9999, mainly London & North Western: passenger tender locomotives 5000–6399; passenger tank locomotives 6400–6999; freight tank locomotives 7XXX; and freight tender locomotives 8XXX and 9XXX.

10000–12999, mainly Lancashire & Yorkshire and Furness: passenger tender locomotives 10000–10599; passenger tank locomotives 10600–11199; freight tank locomotives 11200–11999; and freight tender locomotives 12000–12999.

14000–17999, Scottish: passenger tender locomotives 14XXX; passenger tank locomotives 15XXX; freight tank locomotives 16XXX; and freight tender locomotives 17XXX.

The LMS placed the number of the locomotive on the engine rather than MR style on the tender, because tenders could be overhauled faster than locomotives, so the plan was adopted of giving an ex-works engine any suitable available tender, thus allowing the stock of tenders to be less than that of its locomotives.

A similar numbering system was adopted for passenger and goods vehicles, while engines and rolling stock from the small lines were renumbered in one of the above listed series. An ‘X’ painted on the end of passenger stock indicated that it belonged to the Western Division, while a triangle showed that it was a Midland Division vehicle.

In 1932, due to the LMS adopting the ‘scrap and build’ policy, many pre-grouping engines had been withdrawn, so the numbering system was revised: all standard engines were in the 1–9999 series, while a little later, numbers were cleared for new engines by adding 20000 to the numbers of old locomotives. The 74XX series for diesel shunters proved insufficient, so a new one was started at 7050. In 1947 the new diesel-electrics were numbered 10000 and 10001.

The LMS adopted the Midland livery of passenger engines painted crimson red with large numerals on the cab or tank sides, while goods and mineral engines were painted black. Passenger vehicles were painted crimson red to match the locomotive hauling them.

Arthur Watson, general manager of the LYR, was given the same post on the LMS and George Hughes of the LYR became the LMS chief mechanical engineer, Sir Henry Fowler of the MR becoming his deputy. A difference between the LMS and the rest of the Big Four was that its Carriage & Wagon Department initially was separate from that of the chief mechanical engineer. The first holder of the post was Robert Whyte Reid, son of William Paton Reid, locomotive superintendent of the North British Railway.

Following a brief trial of the initials LM&SR on locomotives and in other places, the symmetry of the letter ‘M’ suggested it was aesthetically more pleasing to adopt the abbreviated form LMS. For operational purposes the LMS was split into divisions: the Western Division, made up of the former London & North Western, North Staffordshire, Furness and the Carlisle & Workington; the Midland Division, formed by the Midland Railway; the Central Division, formed by the Lancashire & Yorkshire; and the Northern Division, made up of the Scottish companies. As ex-Midland man J.H. Follows had been appointed Chief Operating Superintendent, he was able to impose Midland ideas on the entire system, in particular the express passenger services policy of ‘short trains and often’. This was reflected in the type of locomotive required, and the best design for this type of working was the MR Compound 4-4-0 whose performance and fuel economy were excellent. In practice, the ‘short trains and often’ policy was not suitable for the whole system because, particularly on the west coast main line, there was insufficient line capacity to accommodate the extra trains needed.

On the other Big Four, staff from former companies forgot their differences and worked together, but this did not apply to the LMS. As we saw above, the Midland favoured short trains and often, trains loaded within the capacity of the engine, but the LNWR liked long trains with the locomotive having to work hard, causing them to be more expensive to maintain. Because of these controversies, critics of the company referred to it as the ‘Hell of a Mess’ railway.

Early in its life the LMS adopted the slogan ‘Travel LMS – The Best Way’. Like the other railway companies, the LMS issued a house magazine, LMS Magazine, which was unusually varied in content. Apart from features on new locomotives, stations, coaling plants and overseas railways, regional inserts covered retirements, marriages and deaths, and there was a page for junior staff, a women’s page and a children’s page. An early issue reminded its readers that the LMS possessed more steamships than any other railway company in the world: 29 for work on the Irish Sea, 21 for services to the Continent, 11 on the Clyde, 8 ferries, 17 lake steamers, 9 tugs, 36 hoppers, dredgers and barges, and 7 pontoons.

As the LMS Magazine had to be purchased, it had a circulation of only about a quarter of the LMS staff; its free publications were On Time for the Operating Department and Quota News for the Commercial Department. The latter was inspired by the chief commercial manager, Ashton Davies, who in 1932 introduced quotas for stations and districts and placed them in leagues, with trophies awarded for the best performance in gaining new traffic. On Time also used league tables for punctuality and locomotive failures. The last issue of the LMS Magazine appeared in September 1939 and was replaced by Carry On, which continued until nationalisation.

Initially, advertising and publicity were the responsibility of T.C. Jeffrey based in Derby, but his successor G.H. Lofthouse Allen worked from Euston. Allen employed Royal Academicians to paint posters which, although excellent artistically and educationally, because they depicted industrial and railway subjects were hardly likely to grab the attention of the public and make them want to travel by the LMS or send goods by that route. Attractive paintings of scenery or architecture on the LMS would have been more enticing. In 1932 a Fleet Street journalist and railway author D.S.M. Barrie was in charge of public relations.

In 1924 the LMS built new sleeping cars with spring mattresses, while rubber blocks between the bodies and metal underframes added to comfort.

On the first day of the General Strike, 4 May 1926, there were almost no trains on the LMS, but 446 were worked the next day and by 10 May it managed to work 1,227 trains, rising to 1,865 on 14 May 1926 when the strike ended.

In 1924 Sir Guy Granet became the LMS chairman and realised that his large and complex organisation needed a different type of management. Sir Josiah Stamp, a distinguished economist, was therefore appointed president of the executive on 1 January 1926. Stamp was a splendid example of the office boy who did well. He worked 6 days a week; attended night school, chapel and Scripture Union; graduated with first-class honours at the age of 31; and became Doctor of Science 5 years later. He literally lived on the LMS, residing in an austerely comfortable coach furnished with bed and bathroom.

His costing weeded out LNWR 4-6-0s and 4-4-0s, which had proved expensive to maintain, but that company’s 0-8-0s showed up favourably. The Caledonian’s small engines with their robust frames were also well worth keeping. Almost all the MR locomotives were considered LMS standard designs, so their high rate of survival was not surprising. Sir William Wood, who succeeded Stamp after he and his wife died when a bomb struck their house at Beckenham on the night of 16 April 1941, said: ‘He created the LMS as a single and closely integrated machine, with maximum efficiency at minimum cost.’ Stamp’s improvement programme cost £20,000 a year, but its savings were said to be fifty times this sum.

In 1927, seventy-five ex-Railway Operating Division (ROD) engines were purchased at £340 each, though interestingly it was really just the tenders that the LMS wanted. This was because the LNWR had constructed fewer tenders than engines due to the fact that tender repair was quicker than that of a locomotive, so their engines were given any tender available. As the LMS already had thirty of these RODs inherited from the LNWR, twenty of this new batch were placed in service and fifty-five dismantled for spares and their tenders used for other locomotives. The RODs were barred from all ex-Midland lines due to their heavy axle loading and limited gauge clearance.

At the British Empire Exhibition at Wembley in 1924–25, the Sentinel Waggon Works, Shrewsbury, and Cammell Laird & Company, Nottingham, displayed a steam rail motor, its vertical, two-cylinder, single-acting engine being the same pattern used in the company’s steam lorries, and the final drive being by roller chain. Following the LNER, the LMS purchased a Sentinel in 1925, numbering it 2223 before testing it on various branches in the Midland Division. When it proved satisfactory, a further twelve were purchased and sent to various parts of the system. In 1928 a rail motor was purchased with six cylinders and a shaft drive. Although the same length as the LNER vehicles, which seated between fifty-nine and sixty-five passengers, those of the LMS seated only forty-four. Not kept in use so long as those on the LNER, twelve were withdrawn in 1935, one in 1937, the six-cylindered car ending its days in Scotland on the Beattock–Moffat branch in December 1939.

The LNER loaned a Sentinel shunting engine to the LMS from November 1926 to February 1928. On sidings with sharp curves or where a low height was required, these vertical-boiler geared steam locomotives were ideal and the LMS decided to purchase four.

The year 1928 saw the scrapping of Somerset & Dorset No 28A, which at the time of its breaking up was one of the oldest engines working in the country. Built in 1861 by George England & Company as a tender engine, it was later converted to a 2-4-0T.

A very serious accident occurred early on 13 October 1928. About an hour before sunrise, signalman Harry Button in Charfield signal box between Bristol and Gloucester, following a telephone conversation with his control office, decided to shunt the 9.15 p.m. Oxley Sidings, Wolverhampton–Bristol fitted freight to avoid delaying the 10 p.m. Leeds–Bristol Mail, which was shortly due.

From his box he watched GWR 2-6-0 No 6381 slowly back its load of forty-nine wagons and brake van into the refuge siding. While this was happening, two other trains were approaching: the 4.45 a.m. Up empty freight Westerleigh–Gloucester and the already mentioned Leeds–Bristol Mail. Button pulled off his signals to allow the empty freight to pass through, but held his three Down signals against the Mail because the interlocking would not permit them to be cleared until the Bristol-bound goods had completely reversed into the layby siding. Meanwhile the Down Mail passed the previous signal box, travelling at its normal speed of 60mph.

Button watched the goods back-shunting into the refuge siding and kept glancing at the track circuit for the Mail’s approach because he wanted to change the points as soon as possible and pull off the signals in order not to delay it a moment longer than necessary. Button was then horrified when he realised that the Mail had failed to stop at the home signal! Simultaneously, the Up empty freight passed through the station and he could anticipate that three trains were about to collide and he was quite powerless to avoid the catastrophe.

The Class 3 4-4-0 No 714 and its mail train grazed the last two wagons of the reversing GWR goods train and struck the right-hand rear end of the tender of the locomotive propelling that train. This resulted in No 714 being derailed and coming into contact with the wagons of the passing Up empty freight drawn by Class 3F 0-6-0 No 3593 and then ploughing to a standstill on its side. Its tender, together with GWR No 6381, became wedged under the overbridge and, with the wreckage of the destroyed wagons, blocked the forward movement of the Mail coaches. This resulted in the first five vehicles of the Mail piling themselves on each side of, but chiefly under, the bridge in an inextricable mass of steelwork and timber wreckage, the momentum of the whole train being absorbed in the destruction of the first five vehicles.

Unfortunately, the wooden-bodied coaches were lit by gas and so all the ingredients for an inferno were present. Fire started in the wreckage and rapidly grew to a flaming furnace, with the result that eventually the first seven vehicles of the Mail, two loaded wagons of the Down goods and a number of empty wagons were completely destroyed.

Immediately after the collision, Harry Button informed the control office that a serious accident had occurred and asked that ambulances and breakdown trains be sent from Bristol and Gloucester.

Stationmaster Brown, on his way to the station, saw flames at the bridge and arranged for a chain of men with fire buckets to check the blaze on the station side of the bridge and also provided axes and bars to assist helpers in releasing some passengers. He telephoned Wootton-under-Edge police station, asking them to advise doctors, nurses and ambulances to be sent quickly, to summon assistance from fire brigades at Dursley, Stroud and Bristol, and also to warn Bristol hospitals to prepare to receive casualties.

When the train with ambulance men and equipment arrived from Bristol, stretcher cases and other injured passengers were placed aboard. Meanwhile, fire brigades had arrived and were at work. The Bristol brigade arrived in 35 minutes and pumped water from a stream 100yd away, but despite the efforts of the various teams, the blaze continued for 12 hours.

From a total of approximately sixty passengers travelling on the Mail, sixteen lost their lives and twenty-four suffered injury, while in addition thirteen postal sorters as well as the driver and fireman of the GWR goods, and the guards of both LMS trains, were hurt. Of the total of forty-one injured, eleven were taken to hospital and detained. Medical opinion on the bodies of the victims recovered from the wreckage was that death was caused by multiple injuries received and not from fire.

Colonel J.W. Pringle, inspecting officer for the Ministry of Transport, said that he could not accept the accuracy of the statement of Driver Henry Aldington or Fireman Frank Want that they saw a green light at the distant signal. He concluded: ‘The responsibility for this collision rests upon Driver E.H. Aldington, who, in my opinion, passed the distant signal for Charfield in the warning position, and subsequently the outer and inner home signals at danger. To a minor extent, I think responsibility rests also upon Fireman F.C. Want.’ Colonel Pringle recommended that ATC be installed to prevent misreading signals; that coaches be made stronger; and that gas lighting in coaches be abolished. In the event, gas lighting remained right to the end on three of the Big Four, the SR alone abolishing it completely.

At the inquest the jury brought in a verdict of manslaughter, so Henry Aldington was committed on that charge. At Gloucester Assizes on 1 February 1929 the verdict was ‘Not guilty’. The press believed this was the correct decision, for the men had convincingly declared that they had definitely seen the signal green and it could have shown green had a heavy object been placed on the wire, or the wire been deliberately pulled by someone between the signal box and the signal.

As identification of some of the human bodies proved difficult, relatives of the deceased accepted the railway company’s offer of a mass grave, its upkeep the responsibility of the LMS and its successors.

The LNWR had bequeathed many four-and six-wheeled coaches and these needed replacement. In 1928 a new design for express stock appeared with end doors replacing doors to each compartment. This permitted large picture windows for the corridor stock. In 1932 Stanier investigated coach-building methods and discovered that 106 small parts could be eliminated by modifying coach design; one significant economy was welding, which offered a weight saving of 1 ton.

From about 1930 onwards the standard LMS coach was a wooden-framed body covered with thin steel plates mounted on a steel underframe. This stood up to collisions fairly well, certainly much better than frail wooden-bodied coaches which were additionally susceptible to fire, as had been shown at Charfield in 1928. The LMS also brought in the doorway leading to a vestibule, rather than an outside door to each compartment. This allowed a very long window to be fitted with a sliding upper quarter, giving a much better outlook than two quarterlights and a droplight in the door. The LMS expanded the use of the open-gangway, rather than compartment, coach. In 1937 it constructed eleven ten-coach trains for long-distance excursions, with centre-corridors and articulated in two-coach units, thus saving 55 tons in weight and 40ft in length. The LMS brought in armrests for third-class seating in side-corridor coaches that offered three seats each side. The armrests could be folded so that when trains were crowded, and passengers feeling kindly disposed towards others, they could be folded back to offer four seats each side. The LNER also adopted this principle, but the GWR and SR retained four aside seats with no armrests. The LMS favoured double doors from the corridor into a compartment, inconvenient for those carrying luggage as opening required two hands rather than the one hand for the single door adopted by the other companies. For its electric trains on the Wirral line, the LMS adopted the air-operated doors that had been found successful on London’s underground lines. In 1936 on its new corridor stock a new type of destination board was introduced, being a combination of a roof-board and the small destination boards shown at each end. The new board was as long as a roof-board but was placed under the roof and above the windows at the centre of the coach, giving a very readable indication to passengers on a platform.

The year 1930 marked the centenary of the opening of the Liverpool & Manchester Railway which the LMS celebrated. The Liverpool & Manchester Railway 0-4-2 Lion, built in 1838 and normally displayed on a pedestal at Lime Street station, Liverpool, was reconditioned and ran under its own steam. It was taken out of retirement again in 1937 when it appeared in the film Victoria the Great, a siding at Bricket Wood station on the Watford–St Albans branch being converted into the semblance of part of the 1840 Euston station. It used the reproduction train it had hauled for the 1930 celebrations. Lion’s most famous film was the Titfield Thunderbolt made on the Limpley Stoke–Camerton line in 1952.

The centenary celebrations attracted many visitors to Liverpool during the period 13–20 September 1930. Apart from the exhibition of working models, miniature railways and historical material relating to the evolution of railways assembled in St George’s Hall, there was the Great Railway Fair where visitors could travel on a miniature railway under the same conditions as the original passengers, and then move straight over to the sidings on which were displayed eighteen British locomotives and vehicles, including the final GWR King class locomotive No 6029 King Stephen and the LNER’s 10000 (see page 172). In the nightly Pageant of Transport, a succession of highly dramatic and colourful episodes depicting the evolution of transport through the ages were enacted, no fewer than 3,500 persons participating.

In the Railway Magazine for April 1930, C.R. Prescott revealed the amazing density of holiday traffic at Blackpool:

On the second Saturday in August 1929, for a period of almost three hours, I watched, with increasing appreciation, this wonderful feat of transport. Passing trains, largely specials, averaged one per minute during that period; twice the four tracks were occupied by four trains passing simultaneously, and several times I enjoyed the thrilling spectacle of two substantial trains running neck-and-neck. Most of the specials were 10-coach trains, others loaded to 11 or 12 and the two heaviest noted were 14-coach formations in charge of a 2-6-0 and a 4-6-0 Prince respectively.

In 1933 the LMS received an invitation to send a locomotive and train to the Chicago ‘Century of Progress’ exhibition. As the new Pacific under construction would not be completed in time, Stanier decided to send a 4-6-0 Royal Scot. No 6152 was sent to Derby, given new axle boxes to his specification and a new bogie based on the GWR de Glehn type, the small Fowler tender was replaced with one intended for the Pacific No 6202, and No 6152 exchanged its number and name with No 6100 Royal Scot. The engine and train toured 2,632 miles through eastern Canada and the USA before being displayed in Chicago, afterwards running a further 8,562 miles.

1933 saw the appearance of three 130bhp Leyland four-wheeled railcars, Nos 29950, 29951 and 29952, with a combined hydraulic and direct drive. Although intended for short-distance trains on accelerated schedules, one of these cars was tried on the main line and made what was probably the fastest ascent to that date of the south side of Shap, maintaining a speed of 53–56mph up the 4 miles of 1 in 75.

In 1933 the motive power department was reorganised to cut out unnecessary engine movements, speed coaling, watering and ash disposal. One of the principles laid down was that the disposal of an engine should be in forward movements from the time it entered the locomotive yard until it arrived at the road on which it was to be stabled. Operations were to be scheduled in the order:

1. Coaling

2. Watering

3. Ashpit – cleaning fires, ashpans and smokeboxes

4. Turning

5. Stabling in shed or return to preparation pits for other duty.

Forty-seven schemes were authorised for a total expenditure of £750,000. The reorganisation was known as the ‘Motive Power Area Locomotive Supply, Repair Concentration and Garage Scheme’. The LMS was divided into twenty-nine areas, each area in the charge of a District Locomotive Superintendent, with one main or concentration depot and a number of sub, or ‘garage’, depots where only minor examinations and running repairs were carried out during stoppages not exceeding twenty-four hours. One of the aims of the scheme was to allocate engines on the area basis, so that the area could be considered for working purposes as one large depot which was supplied with the necessary equipment to repair boilers and overhaul valves, pistons and axle boxes, reducing the need for an engine to visit the works. In 1935 a Motive Power League was started with the object of creating an added interest amongst the staffs engaged in the management and maintenance of LMS locomotives. The district which during each four-weekly period obtained the highest number of miles per engine casualty that was debitable to the owning shed was awarded 29 points, that with the next highest, 28 points, and so on. The scheme worked, as is shown by the decrease in the number of casualties:







	 

	Decrease %




	1935 compared with 1934

	19.5




	1936  “  “  1935

	15.0




	1937  “  “  1936

	31.5




A concentration shed had an ‘A’ after its number, subsidiary sheds being given the same number as the concentration depot, but with a suffix using a different letter.

Back in 1925 a twin-bunker coaling plant filled by a wagon hoist was ordered for the engine shed at Glasgow Polmadie. This proving successful, the LMS resolved to extend mechanised coaling to other large sheds. There were two types, differentiated by the method of filling: No 1 tipped an arriving coal wagon so that its contents fell into a 20-ton container, which was then hoisted and tipped into a storage container, from where gravity would feed it to a locomotive’s tender or bunker. A variation to the No 1 design used hopper wagons dropping the coal rather than it being tipped out sideways. The bunker had two compartments, both holding 150 tons, one for higher-grade coal used for locomotives allocated for important work and the other for lower-grade coal for engines on duties of lesser importance. Coal of the desired grade fell into the locomotive tender or bunker, a machine recording the weight and engine number. Before being pulled to the tippler table by means of an electric capstan, the coal wagons were sprayed with water to prevent dust.

With the No 2 coaling plant, the coal wagon itself was lifted and its contents were tipped into one of two 75-ton bunkers, a skip at the foot of the bunker being filled by gravity, raised and then tipped into a tender or bunker. Both patterns of coaling plant were constructed of concrete. For sheds whose coal consumption was less than 100 tons a day, but more than a small stage could cope with, a smaller loading plant was provided. Coal was shovelled from a wagon into a 10cwt tub which was then raised before being tipped on to a tender.

Mechanical ash plants enabled a fireman to discharge ashes into a skip set either in a pit or beside the locomotive, and when filled this could be raised to an ash bunker for storage. Around this period, sheds in hard water areas were given water softeners to reduce limescale coating on boilers and boiler tubes. To enable the larger and more powerful standard engines to be introduced, more sheds were equipped with 60ft-diameter turntables of the vacuum-operated type, whereby power for turning the table was provided by the locomotive being turned.

Until 1933 the LMS headquarters staff were deployed in two places, Euston station and Rugby. As this situation was undesirable, that year they were combined at Euston House.

In 1934 new works on the LMS, capitalised from the removal of the Railway Passenger Duty, amounted to £8.4 million, much of it for 232 steam locomotives, 159 new boilers for rebuilding older engines, 674 new carriages and 5,365 wagons in addition to 80,000 tons of steel for relaying 500 miles of track.

In May 1934 the LMS provided camping coaches, which it called ‘caravans’, at stations in holiday areas, and by 1938 the number had grown to over 200 at different sites.

In 1934 a pneumatic-tyred Michelin railcar was brought over from France and tested on the LMS. A 56-seater with a 240bhp engine, its pneumatic tyres had steel flanges and any loss of tyre pressure caused a hooter to sound in the cab. It ran from Leighton Buzzard to Euston, 40.2 miles in 42½ minutes, attaining a maximum speed of 66mph.

It was said that engines at speed when picking up water from troughs ‘spill more than they use’. In order to attempt to prevent this, scoops were fitted with an apparatus to direct water from the sides of the trough towards the centre. An increase in height of the water in the region of the scoop mouthpiece increased by 200 gallons the amount it was possible to pick up at each lift.

Hitler rising to power in 1933 suggested possibilities of a future war and as early as 1934 Stanier was asked to list all LMS machine tools likely to be suitable for munitions work as the Committee of Imperial Defence was assessing the capacity of railway works, should they be needed in the future.

In 1936 the LMS offered a ‘boring’ excursion from Wolverhampton which proved so popular that it was run in duplicate. On 22 April 1936 the Severn Bore was due to make its appearance in the late evening. The round fare was 3s 9d from Wolverhampton and 3s 6d from Birmingham. Departure from New Street was at 7 p.m.; passengers changed to motor coaches at Gloucester and were conveyed onwards to Stonebench on the Severn, where they arrived at 9.15 p.m. in good time for the anticipated arrival of the Bore between 9.30 and 10 p.m. In order to enhance the sight, floodlighting had been arranged.

As staff had some difficulty in reading the names of signal boxes displayed on their fronts if they were passing at speed, in 1936 the LMS adopted the practice of providing all new boxes, and existing ones when repainted, with two name-boards, one of which was fixed at each end of the box below the gable, thus giving the staff more time to read them. The new boards had white lettering on a black ground.

At the beginning of November 1936 the LMS inaugurated a cinema coach for staff training, making an 8-month tour of sixty-eight LMS stations and depots, during which 572 showings of instructional films were given. The theatre, a converted sleeping car, had seating for fifty-two. Projection equipment was for 35mm and 16mm films, and electrical power was supplied by a diesel-driven generator. The films, specially prepared by the company’s publicity department, were cleverly conceived, their purpose being to instruct without arousing any feeling of resistance in the minds of the audience, whereas instructions by a foreman or senior officer were often received with diffidence. Following this success, the LMS, with assistance from the photo agency Topical Press, produced further films combining education and entertainment, a film theatre with editing facilities being created in the basement of Euston House.

The 1930s was a popular time for producing schemes to allow people to purchase things easily – such as the ‘never-never’ and building societies – so the LMS promoted its ‘Save to Travel’ scheme in 1936 when over 120,000 shilling stamps were sold to enable passengers to pay for tickets in small sums.

Adderley Park station preceding Birmingham New Street on the line from Coventry and London had a fare collection system that was unique in four respects:

1. It offered a journey of 2 miles between consecutive stations on a busy main line for which it was impossible to book a third-class single card ticket.

2. It gave passengers a ticket of which dozens were issued every day, yet not one was collected or even inspected.

3. The ticket was sold, yet never left the booking office.

4. The passenger paid for the ticket, yet never handled it.

New Street being an ‘open’ station, Adderley Park would normally have been the stop at which New Street tickets would have been collected, but due to its restricted accommodation and unsuitability for this purpose, tickets were always taken at Stechford. Consequently, when passengers arrived at Adderley Park they were always ticketless. Any passenger from Adderley Park to New Street was given a small, square, paper ticket torn from a pad, bearing the instruction that it should be destroyed on arrival. Although designated ‘Excess Fare ticket’, it was just a receipt. If a return fare was required, the usual Edmondson two-part card ticket was issued, the outward half being retained by the booking clerk, who handed the passenger just the return half.

In 1936 the LMS adopted six standard colours to be used for repainting its 2,500 stations. They comprised two light shades, either deep cream or Portland stone, either of which could be used in conjunction with any three dark shades of middle brown, middle Brunswick green or Venetian red. The sixth colour, golden brown, could be used alone, or in combination with others, and withstood the effects of rust-like stain caused by iron dust in the air, peculiar to areas of electric traction.

On 16 and 17 November 1936 the LMS succeeded in achieving a world record for a steam locomotive. 4-6-2 No 6201 Princess Elizabeth with seven coaches on the Down journey and eight on the Up, travelled the 401.4 miles Euston–Glasgow in 353 minutes 38 seconds, giving an average speed of 68.1mph. On its return the next day, it covered the distance in 344 minutes 15 seconds, which was 15¾ minutes below the 6-hour schedule which had been laid down for the test, with an average of precisely 70mph.

In readiness for the 1937 pigeon-racing season, the LMS produced a seventy-page booklet dealing with the care of the birds from the time they entered the company’s hands until they were released for their homeward journey. In addition to the large number of baskets carried in ordinary guard’s vans, 2,000 vans were specially provided during the season for racing traffic, some run in pigeon-only trains.

May 1937 proved a particularly busy month for the LMS. The first day of the month saw the FA Cup Final, the LMS providing thirty-nine specials to Euston and twenty-one to St Pancras. A week later it was the Widnes versus Keighley Rugby League Cup Final and the LMS provided sixty-four specials to Euston and St Pancras. Due to the London busmen’s strike, on both days it also had to convey a larger proportion of the spectators to Wembley.

On 9 and 10 May 1937, 4,000 officers and men of the Army, Navy and Air Force were taken to London prior to the Coronation of King George VI, some from Inverness and Fort George, while others were from Glasgow, Gourock, Lancaster, Liverpool and Heysham (from Belfast). On 9 May, twenty-four other long-distance excursions were run to London, and on 10 May, Whit Monday, forty more. The following day was Coronation Eve, when approximately fifty long-distance specials arrived at Euston and St Pancras. Traffic handled at Euston during the month of the Coronation was easily the heaviest in its 100 years of existence, the normal 60,000 passengers a day having increased on several days to over 100,000.

A new record for a single railway excursion was set on Saturday, 22 May 1937, when 9,000 passengers were carried in twenty special trains from Rochdale to Windsor and London. Organised by the Rochdale Observer, an unusual feature of the excursion was that it involved all four main-line companies and several bus companies. Of the special trains run by the LMS, seven travelled via Brent and then used the SR station at Windsor, returning from St Pancras, while six others travelled via Leamington and then to the GWR station at Windsor, returning from Euston. The seven trains provided by the LNER ran via Banbury using the GWR’s Windsor station before returning from Marylebone. It was certainly a long day – the first return train left London at 1.30 a.m. and the last at 2.30 a.m. on Sunday morning.

In August 1937 the LMS introduced an ‘inclusive holiday’ scheme at Blackpool whereby holidaymakers could make arrangements at the station of departure to reserve accommodation at Blackpool on notice being given not less than 5 days in advance, thus relieving the passenger of the trouble of finding suitable accommodation.

The LMS was keen on trying new ideas and in 1937 laid a total of 5 miles of flat-bottomed rails, testing the merits of different types of fastening and of flat-bottom compared with bull-head track. Gangers maintaining the various lengths were required to send to headquarters a special weekly return giving details of man-hours spent on various jobs, together with a similar return for trial lengths of bull-head track adjoining each section of the flat-bottom track. The elastic spike fixing the flat-bottom rail minimised movement between the rail and soleplate, and between the soleplate and sleeper, and prevented relative movement laterally between the rail and soleplate, thus eliminating rail creep.

Although avalanche shelters are mainly associated with Switzerland, the steep and rugged nature of the coastline at Penmaenmawr, where the main line tunnelled through Penmaenmawr mountain, necessitated the provision of avalanche sheds at each end to carry rockfalls clear of the line. The sheds originally had timber roofs, but as water tended to percolate through the roof and rust the steel girders supporting it, it was decided in 1937 to substitute the timber with a concrete roof reinforced with old steel rails.

Loudspeaker equipment was installed at many of the major stations in the 1930s and apparently that at Llandudno Junction was in the charge of an English announcer, with the unhappy result that Anglicised pronunciation meant that none of the Welsh passengers knew the destination of the train. On the other hand, in a concession to Welsh nationalism, the LMS displayed posters in Welsh advertising cheap fares. One Welshman claimed that this was superfluous because those who only spoke Welsh generally could not read, while those who were literate were bilingual.

In 1937 the LMS involvement in the Railway Air Services included the Royal Mail service Croydon–Belfast calling at Birmingham, Stoke-on-Trent and Liverpool, and as two services each way were offered, it was possible to travel outwards and return in a day. The Glasgow–Belfast flight was three times daily, while flights were offered from the Isle of Man to Belfast, Blackpool, Bradford, Carlisle, Glasgow, Leeds and Liverpool. The Railway Air Services suspended flights during the war, except for government officials, but on 13 November 1944 services were resumed London–Liverpool and Liverpool–Belfast.

A testing and research laboratory had been established at Derby jointly with the LNER, as the LMS practice of using a dynamometer car plus an indicator shelter in front of the smokebox was not possible with a streamlined engine (see pages 113 & 124). This was followed in 1938 by a School of Transport, the first of its kind in the world. Rather surprisingly in view of its modern outlook, the company showed little interest in electrification apart from the joint Manchester South Junction & Altrincham line at 1,500 volts DC and third rail on former Wirral and Mersey Railways in 1938. LMS economy meant that its stations tended to look neglected and the company had no general reconstruction programme; the only large station to be partly rebuilt was Leeds City.

In 1938 an articulated three-car diesel train, car numbers 80000, 80001 and 80002, with hydraulic transmission appeared from Derby Works, for use on such lines as Oxford–Cambridge. With a length of 184ft 6in and a weight of 73 tons, by adopting the double pivot system of articulation, the coaches were built to the maximum length permitted by the signal locking bars, without the throw-over on a sharp curve exceeding the loading gauge. The axles were carried on SKF roller bearings. The Westinghouse compressed air brakes operated through individual cylinders on all wheels, the brake blocks having Ferodo linings. All the transverse seats, except those against partitions, were reversible and consisted of Dunlopillo cushions on chromium-plated steel tubular frames. The guard controlled the air-operated sliding doors. Power was supplied by six Leyland 125hp oil engines, two being mounted below the floor of each car driving the inner axles of the adjacent bogies, so only the two outer axles were unpowered. The normal maximum speed was 75mph, though on a trial run 82mph was achieved. They were in a livery of Post Office red lower panels and aluminium above.

In 1938 the LMS made preparations for a possible war, purchasing The Grove, a large country mansion near Watford to where its managerial staff could be relocated, surrounded by 300 acres of parkland on which temporary buildings could be erected. Many railwaymen were in the Royal Engineers’ Railway Supplementary Reserve, while others had joined the Civil Defence Corps or were Air Raid Precaution wardens. Air raid shelters were constructed at railway workshops and suitable shelters provided at stations, often in the basement. Canvas sheeting was provided between cab roof and tender to conceal the fire from enemy aircraft.

Shortly before the war the LMS installed the ATC system on the Bow–Southend line. Similar to that of the GWR, it used magnetic rather than mechanical action between the track and locomotive. The LMS completed the last pre-war mechanised marshalling yard, opening the Down yard at Toton in 1939.

In the summer of 1939 the LMS ran sixty-eight start-to-stop runs at 60mph or above, the greatest number in the country.

Like the other members of the Big Four, the LMS from 1 to 4 September 1939 ran evacuation trains from London for children and expectant mothers. The LMS also ran evacuation trains from Birmingham, Glasgow, Manchester and Merseyside. The majority of these trains carried an average of 400–500 passengers, but two trains from Rosyth managed to contain a combined total of 2,187 evacuees. In addition to these trains, from 1 to 3 September 1939 the LMS ran twenty-two special trains transporting about 10,000 service personnel to the King George V Dock, Glasgow, from where they sailed to support various garrisons in the Mediterranean. Some LMS long-distance trains became lengthy, including twenty or more coaches. This meant that at some stations they had to draw up twice at a platform.

During the Second World War, in addition to building and repairing locomotives, Horwich produced 481 tanks for the Army and Crewe built 161. Those built at Crewe, the Covenanters, had actually been designed in the Crewe drawing office. At Derby and Wolverton wings for Handley Page Hampden and Avro Lancaster bombers were manufactured and repaired, while at the Barassie locomotive repair works in Scotland a landing strip was laid to enable damaged aircraft to be repaired. Of the 126 awards made during the war to railway workers on duty, twenty-four were given to those on the LMS. As many as 50,000 LMS employees joined the Local Defence Volunteers and when the name changed to ‘Home Guard’ in July 1940, Patriot class 4-6-0 No 5543 was named Home Guard at Euston by Lt General Sir Henry Pownall, Inspector General of the Home Guard.

Following Josiah Stamp’s death, in 1941 Sir William Wood, vice-president of the LMS from 1930, became the last president of the LMS, but the war and its aftermath prevented any startling innovations. Just prior to nationalisation the LMS adopted the zonal system (explained in Chapter 4, page 66) for dealing with small loads.
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Ex-Lancashire & Yorkshire Railway 0-6-0 LMS No 12615 works an excursion to Blackpool. Although basically a goods engine, this type was often used at weekends to work extra passenger trains. Could the passengers be gazing up at the tower? (Author’s collection)
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Beyer-Garratt 2-6-0+0-6-2 No 4977. Notice the revolving drum on the tender to bring coal forward to the fireman. (Author’s collection)
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The Up Merseyside Express, headed by Royal Scot class 4-6-0 No 6117 Welsh Guardsman, picking up water on Whitmore troughs in the early 1930s. (Author’s collection)
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The London & North Western Railway brought to the LMS many useful 0-8-0s. Fowler produced his version, which was not so long-lasting. No 9569 is depicted here. (Author’s collection)
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William Stanier designed an excellent mixed-traffic 4-6-0 nicknamed ‘Black Five’; No 5235 is shown here. (Author’s collection)
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Princess Coronation class 4-6-2 No 6230 Duchess of Buccleuch seen around 1939. (Author’s collection)
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No 6229 Duchess of Hamilton is a streamlined version of the Princess Coronation class. Here it is working the Up West Coast Postal Aberdeen to Euston in 1938. (E.J.M. Hayward)
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An Adderley Park to Birmingham, New Street, ticket (see pages 103–4).
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Resplendent in red, ex-works Midland 4-4-0 Compound No 1035 at Derby, 8 August 1937. Although an excellent design, it was too small for the weighty expresses of the 1920s. (Revd Alan Newman)
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LMS road–rail bus UR 7924 at Stratford-upon-Avon station in 1932 en route to Blisworth. (Author’s collection)
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Rubber-tyred Michelin railcar No 1 at Leamington (Avenue) station around 1936. The driver in his roof cab can see in both directions, so the car never needs turning. (Author’s collection)
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LMS 4-6-2 No 6202, a steam turbine locomotive.
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H.G. Ivatt’s 2-6-0, designed to replace elderly 0-6-0s.
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LMS LOCOMOTIVE DEVELOPMENT
& ELECTRIFICATION

The very first LMS locomotive to appear was No 10433, a 4-6-0 which emerged from Horwich Works on 1 January 1923 in dark-grey livery before the instruction was given for it to be painted in crimson lake.

In January 1924 work began on Hughes’ 2-6-0 but it was not completed until May 1926. Due to its ‘leggy’ appearance, it was nicknamed ‘Crab’.

Early in the history of the LMS it was realised that a powerful express locomotive was required. In 1925 Fowler designed a three-cylinder 4-6-2 compound, but in 1926 there was deadlock on the LMS over the provision of a new express passenger locomotive. One was badly needed as the LNWR Claughton 4-6-0s experienced mechanical trouble, while Hughes’ Lancashire & Yorkshire 4-6-0s offered erratic performance and were heavy on coal. The chief mechanical engineer’s department favoured a compound Pacific, but the operating department stated that it did not want a compound and that a Pacific was a larger engine than required. Sir Henry Fowler, who had succeeded Hughes as CME in October 1925, had started to construct a compound the frames of which had already been cut, but was ordered to stop work and build some 4-6-0s of comparable power to the GWR Castles, which at that date were the best 4-6-0s. In September 1926 GWR No 5000 Launceston Castle was borrowed for trials between London and Carlisle.

This was a terrible ‘slap in the face’ to Fowler and a man of a different temperament would have immediately resigned. Instead, he approached the GWR and asked if Swindon would supply a complete set of working drawings. This request was refused, so Fowler went to Maunsell of the SR who provided Lord Nelson drawings which in due course aided the firebox design. For some time, official documents on the LMS referred to the projected new 4-6-0s as ‘Improved Castles’.

As the fifty new 4-6-0s were required for the 1927 summer service and the LMS works were busy, in December 1926 a contract for the design and construction of the new engines was placed with the North British Locomotive Company, standard LMS parts being used where possible. The first of the three-cylinder 250lb pressure Royal Scot class appeared in June 1927 and was a success.

In 1936 approval was given for new 4,000-gallon tenders to be provided for the Royal Scot class, their existing tenders transferred to Jubilees. The reason for the change was ‘to provide a safer margin of coal and water for Royal Scots working through runs’.

Another Fowler success were his 2-6-4Ts. They were built using many existing parts, their cylinders and valve gear being those of Somerset & Dorset 2-8-0s. He also designed a 2-6-2T as a scaled-down version of his 2-6-4T, but with short travel valves, performance and steaming were poor.

As double-heading was necessary on Midland Division coal trains, thought was given to using a larger engine such as a 2-8-2, but Hughes favoured a Beyer-Garratt and wished to order a 2-6-2+2-6-2 from Beyer, Peacock for £10,000. J.E. Anderson, the Chief General Superintendent, intervened but nevertheless in 1926 Beyer, Peacock was given an order for 2-6-0+0-6-2 Garratts. Unfortunately Anderson ruled that they be given short-travel valves based on the Somerset & Dorset 2-8-0s and 4F 0-6-0 axle boxes, so were ordained to experience heavy coal consumption and hot axle boxes. The Garratts proved hardly more efficient than two Class 4F 0-6-0s, the only saving being of enginemen’s wages, yet thirty more were built in 1930 despite Hughes’ Crabs and Fowler’s 2-6-4Ts and Royal Scots proving the superiority of long-lap, long-travel valves over the short-travel type favoured by Anderson.

Another interesting locomotive which appeared in 1926 was the Ljungstrom turbine, built by Beyer, Peacock, which ran for several months on the Midland section of the LMS. A ten-wheeled vehicle carried the boiler, while another with six coupled wheels and a bogie carried the turbine, drive and condenser. The main turbine developed 2,000hp.

For heavy freight the superheated LNWR 0-8-0s offered the best performance and maintenance costs, so in 1929 Fowler produced a new 0-8-0 based on this design. But in the interests of standardisation he used the inadequate 4F axle boxes, though their long-lap, long-travel valve gear offered considerably better coal and water consumption than those of the LNWR G2s. Although they had a planned life of 45 years and were not worn out, from 1949 they were withdrawn against the ‘Special WD Programme’, being replaced by ex-War Department engines surplus to government requirements.

A successful 4-6-0 from the Fowler period was the Patriot class, which proved to be reliable and speedy. Nominally called rebuilt Claughtons, because early examples used some recycled parts, they were really an enlarged Claughton boiler on a slightly modified Royal Scot chassis. Due to their appearance they were nicknamed ‘Baby Scots’, but when the first of the class was given the LNWR war memorial name, the class became officially ‘Patriots’.

It was known that a higher boiler pressure would provide better performance coupled with a reduced fuel consumption, so in 1929 4-6-0 No 6399 Fury was built by the North British Locomotive Company to an LMS design. A compound locomotive, it took steam from its Schmidt super-pressure boiler at 900lb per square inch for use in the high-pressure cylinder. After exhausting from the high-pressure cylinder, the expanded steam was mixed with steam generated in a locomotive-type boiler forming part of the system, and this entered the two low-pressure cylinders at 250lb. A closed circuit of piping filled with distilled water gave out its heat through elements to produce steam used in the high-pressure cylinder, and pressure here could rise to between 1,300lb and 1,700lb per square inch. On 10 February 1930 this piping burst on a test run, killing an engineer from the Superheater Company, and resulted in Fury’s withdrawal. Certainly for railway work, any economy made in fuel consumption was outweighed by the extra maintenance a high-pressure locomotive required. Stored at Derby, having frames and motion identical to the Royal Scots, it was completely rebuilt by Stanier in 1935, was given a tapered boiler and became the three-cylinder 4-6-0 No 6170 British Legion in the Royal Scot class. It was thus the prototype for rebuilding the class, transforming it from an excellent machine into an outstanding one; the last example was not rebuilt until 1955. An important result of the rebuild was that its total weight was reduced from 84 tons 18cwt to 82 tons, enabling the civil engineer to allow the class to work on the Midland Division.

At the LMS 1930 annual meeting, Sir Josiah Stamp, chairman, announced that economies had enabled the 1929 decrease of £674,809 in gross receipts to become an increase of £103,667 in net receipts. He also mentioned that, owing to the success of containers, their use was being substantially extended.

In 1930 the locomotive stock of the Somerset & Dorset Joint Railway (SDJR) was transferred to LMS, the SR taking over SDJR coaches. This meant the end to the SDJR’s very attractive livery of royal blue with gold lining, as its new owners painted the passenger stock green and its locomotives black.

The minutes of a meeting on 24 January 1930 recorded that the North British Locomotive Company’s quote for building a Royal Scot was £8,085, whereas Derby believed it could build one for £7,750. An order was placed with Derby Works but in the event each locomotive cost £8,306!

The LMS first experimented with a diesel shunter in 1931 when a six-cylinder Davey Paxman diesel engine and hydraulic transmission were economically fitted to the chassis and wheels of ex-Midland steam 0-6-0T No 1831. The hydraulic transmission proved troublesome, but as diesel traction was believed to be worthwhile, between 1933 and 1936 eight diesel-mechanical shunters were purchased from English Electric, Hunslet, Hudswell Clarke and Harland & Wolff, together with a diesel-electric from Armstrong Whitworth. The experiment proved a success and in 1935 ten 350hp diesel-electric shunters were ordered from Armstrong Whitworth and the same number from Hawthorn Leslie, the orders being fulfilled in 1936 for a total cost of £130,000.

In 1930 Fowler’s 2-6-2T No 15500 appeared, intended to work suburban passenger trains. The twenty engines to be allocated to the London district were fitted with condensing gear and also the special vacuum trip cock gear to enable them to work over the Metropolitan lines. Twenty-two of them, stationed at sheds where hot-water apparatus was provided for washing out, were fitted with blow-off cocks for this purpose. Steam-operated brake gear could be applied to all the coupled wheels and also to the Bissel truck wheels which had brake blocks on both sides.

When Fowler retired in 1931 he was replaced by Ernest John Hutchings Lemon, but shortly after his appointment, Lemon was made vice-president of the LMS and was replaced by William Arthur Stanier from Swindon. The first chief mechanical engineers of the GWR, LNER and SR had held office for 18, 18 and 13 years respectively, but in 1932 the LMS was welcoming its fourth CME. The move was a good one for Stanier, as there was little prospect of his ever becoming the GWR’s chief mechanical engineer. Moving to the LMS meant that he was able to introduce the excellent features of a GWR-type taper boiler, offering better circulation, and GWR axle boxes, and was thus able to offer his new company some really useful engines which would largely eliminate costly double-heading. Stanier’s policy was to scrap old engines and replace them with new ones. Unfortunately, he had no feeling for history and when he discovered the Derby paint shop cluttered with preserved engines he ordered them to be scrapped. In the event, the Johnson 4-2-2 was saved, but the Kirtley 2-4-0 and 0-6-0, Johnson 0-4-0T and ex-North London 4-4-0T were lost. Stanier introduced to the LMS a letter-signing trick practised on the GWR: his clerk applied a facsimile of ‘W. A. S.’ and if he approved of the letter he just added ‘tanier’.

The work of designing a Pacific, 6ft 9in 4-6-0 (Jubilee) and 2-6-4T was given to Derby Drawing Office; a 2-6-0 and 6ft 4-6-0 (Black Five) to Horwich; and a 2-8-0 to Crewe.

The first to appear was the Pacific No 6200 The Princess Royal with the same tractive effort as a King, but being a 4-6-2, space was available for it to have a wider firebox to generate more steam. Relatively narrow fireboxes were fine for GWR engines using Welsh steam coal, but the LMS coal and the long runs on the west coast main line required wide boxes to prevent the ashpans becoming choked. Emerging from Crewe in July 1933, No 6200 was followed by No 6201 Princess Elizabeth in November. Although good, it was felt that they should be better and when Stanier abandoned the GWR practice of low-temperature superheating, replacing it with a 32-element superheater, it was deemed that the design was satisfactory and that a further ten should be built.

In 1934 the Class 5 mixed traffic 4-6-0 appeared, based on the GWR Hall class, with the same 6ft driving wheels, but a tractive effort of 24,455lb as against the Hall’s 27,275. The order for 227 was the largest single order for locomotives ever placed by a British railway and a total of 842 were built through to 1951. Although they performed adequately with the 14-element low-degree superheater, they were later given one with 28 elements.

Also appearing in 1934, the three-cylinder Jubilees were really a taper boiler on a Patriot chassis and proved to be under-draughted due to being based on Swindon ratios for locomotives – four beats per revolution rather than three – with the result that the engines would not steam. When No 5552 Silver Jubilee appeared in 1935, to mark the Silver Jubilee of King George V, instead of the usual red, it was given a special livery of black and chromium.

When the Jubilees were put to use, several modifications were found desirable. The first series of Jubilees were fitted with fireboxes having straight throat plates, the grate area being 29.5 square feet as compared with the 31 square feet on later engines, which were fitted with sloping throat plates; another difference was that the superheater arrangements were modified.

By 1934 more powerful engines were required for the London, Tilbury & Southend section and Stanier believed that an updated, three-cylinder version of a Fowler 2-6-4T would be suitable and capable of rapid acceleration. When they appeared it was found that they were no better than those with two cylinders which were cheaper and lighter, so all engines of this type from 1935 onwards had only two cylinders. Later versions had improvements such as self-cleaning smokeboxes, rocking grates and self-emptying ashpans.

In 1935 Stanier produced a Class 8F 2-8-0, akin to the GWR design. The original design used a Class 5 boiler, but this made it too heavy on the two rear coupled axles. The solution was to move the boiler forward and upward; in all 852 were constructed, 133 of these being for the War Department. Also in 1935 Stanier designed his version of a Fowler 2-6-2T, but like the original, it was shy of steam.

Stanier built a Pacific with a turbine drive supplied by Metropolitan-Vickers. Entering traffic in June 1935, No 6202 proved to be the most successful unconventional locomotive built in Great Britain, reaching a mileage of 460,000, while in 1936 its mileage was 73,268 – not far short of the average of 80,000 for the class. The Turbomotive (nicknamed ‘Gracie Fields’ because it sang as it went, the turbine exhaust producing just a soft hissing with a slight whine from the turbine) was not replicated as its reduced coal consumption was insufficient to justify the extra cost of construction, £20,538 compared with £8,538 for the other Princess Royals. When the turbines needed a complete renewal it was converted to a conventional Pacific, and although nominally a Princess Royal class and fitted with that type of boiler, her chassis had an improved form of inside motion like that of a Duchess. Renamed Princess Anne, she unfortunately came to a sad end in the Harrow disaster of 1952.

Stanier’s last major design was the Princess Coronation Pacific, which first appeared in 1937, the first being streamlined, the design worked out from the results of wind-tunnel tests in March 1936 at the company’s Derby research laboratory. Although they were based on the Princess Royal Pacifics, certain modifications were made to adapt them for high-speed running: for example, the coupled wheels were 6ft 9in in diameter compared with the 6ft 6in of the Princess Royals; the grate area was 50 square feet, as against 45 square feet, thus having the largest superheating surface of any British locomotive; and the combined heating surfaces showed an increase of 696 square feet. The tender was larger and carried 10 tons of coal and 4,000 gallons of water. To assist the fireman, a steam-worked coal pusher in the tender brought the coal forward as the supply decreased. The engine and its coaches were painted in Coronation blue with horizontal silver bands running continuously from end to end of the train, meeting in a V-shaped curve at the front of the engine where two hinged flaps in the streamlined casing could be swung back to give access to the smokebox door. Stanier had not really wanted streamlining but was overruled by the publicity-conscious Board. Of the fifty-one Stanier Pacifics, twenty-four were streamlined, but were eventually rebuilt without the casing in order to reduce maintenance; the performance and economy did not suffer. His Pacifics were noted for their capability for a sustained high power output of 2,300–2,500hp.

On a trial run of the Coronation Scot No 6220 Coronation, a maximum speed of 114mph was achieved, but an error of judgement resulted in a too rapid approach to a facing crossover at Crewe, fortunately with no more serious consequences than smashed crockery and the assumption of undignified attitudes by several distinguished personages. Had the engine not been fitted with the de Glehn bogie, it might well have been derailed.

When in October 1937 another ten Princess Coronations were required, the operating department managed to get five built unstreamlined. This was because streamlining meant there was no running plate, so ladders were required for cleaning and access to sanders and lubricators. When No 6230 Duchess of Buccleuch appeared in June 1938, she appeared to many more elegant than her streamlined sisters.

By 1938 the LMS was using its locomotives more intensively, engines spending fewer hours out of traffic and double-heading less frequent. By this date Stanier had reduced the number of locomotive types working on the LMS from 404 to 132, while improvements in the locomotive and carriage workshops had reduced costs, repair time and the number of engines needed to work the system, producing an annual saving of £2 million.

The LMS 1938 timetable revealed a train whose journey only lasted 1 minute. It was the 12.20 a.m. electric train from Watford Junction to Watford High Street, the latter reached at 12.21 a.m. It was provided to connect with the 11.50 p.m. express from Euston to Watford and was a thoughtful provision for residents who lived closer to High Street than the Junction station.

As mentioned on page 108, early in 1938 an articulated diesel-hydraulic three-car set appeared, its streamlined shape determined by wind-tunnel tests at Derby. Of the eight axles, six were driven by 125bhp underfloor engines specifically designed by Leyland Motors Limited for railcars. Maximum speed was 75mph.

In 1939 No 6234 Duchess of Abercorn was given a double-blastpipe and chimney which made her even better. When the LMS decided to send a locomotive and train to the 1939 World’s Fair in New York, it sent seven semi-articulated coaches, engine and train painted in crimson lake with gold speed lines. The engine was the new No 6229 Duchess of Hamilton, temporarily renamed Coronation as it was thought this would better link it to the Coronation Scot train. Due to the outbreak of the Second World War, if returned, there was the risk of the train and engine being torpedoed. The coaches were moved to Jeffersonville, Indiana, to become living quarters for the US Army Quartermaster Corps. When sea crossings were safer, the locomotive returned in 1942, identities were exchanged and she reverted to being No 6229 Duchess of Hamilton.

In September 1939 the railways came under government control and were administered by a Railway Executive Committee. It had been decided that a single design of freight engine to suit wartime needs should be constructed in the workshops of all the companies. When in 1941 Stanier became chairman of the relevant sub-committee, the obvious choice was the Stanier 8F 2-8-0, and his deputy R.A. Riddles had already ordered 8Fs for the War Department. The GWR constructed 80, the LNER 60 and the SR 105. The Swindon-built engines were immediately loaned to the GWR and the LNER-built locomotives were loaned to the LNER, all being transferred to the LMS in 1946–47.

Curiously, just when all the Big Four started building 8Fs, Riddles produced a simplified design, the Austerity 2-8-0 and 2-10-0, which required 20 per cent fewer man-hours to build. Although they were not designed to last, in post-war years many of the Austerities were purchased by British Railways, running for 20 years before being superseded by diesel traction.

It seems odd that, despite streamlining being proved only beneficial at high speeds, and these were not a wartime priority, between 1940 and 1943 nine streamlined Duchesses were built.

C.E. Fairburn became acting chief mechanical engineer in 1942 when Stanier was fully engaged in government work, and on Stanier’s retirement in 1944 Fairburn became CME. He improved the Stanier 2-6-4T, but died on 12 October 1945. H.G. Ivatt was appointed CME from 1 February 1946 and produced Class 2 and Class 4 2-6-0s so that modern engines could replace old engines on the lighter duties, also producing an excellent 2-6-2T version of his Class 2 2-6-0. In 1946 Ivatt commenced rebuilding the Patriots with a taper boiler, new cylinders and a double chimney. He also carried out experimental variants of existing designs to improve their running, testing roller bearings, double chimneys, Caprotti valve gear and Stephenson link motion. The American S160 class 2-8-0s in use in Britain showed the benefit of hopper ashpans and rocking grates. Ivatt declared that the streamlined casings should be removed and replaced with smoke deflectors.

The last conventional Duchesses appeared in 1946, and in 1947 No 6256 Sir William A. Stanier F.R.S. appeared with roller bearings, manganese steel linings to the axle boxes and horn guides, and a redesigned pony truck to allow a rocking grate and hopper ashpan to be fitted. It had a higher level of superheating.

Probably Ivatt’s greatest achievement was the production of the first main-line diesel-electric locomotive in just over 6 months. The two locomotives could be coupled together and worked as one. Each Co-Co was powered by a 1,600hp sixteen-cylinder English Electric engine, that company also being responsible for the electrical transmission. Concurrently a smaller locomotive, a Bo-Bo, appeared with an 800hp Davey-Paxman engine and transmission by British Thomson-Houston.

At the end of the LMS era the number of locomotives owned had been reduced from 10,316 to 8,084 steam engines plus fifty-four diesels, all of them far better machines than those they had replaced.

Electrification

The LMS inherited the Lancashire & Yorkshire’s Liverpool–Southport line, which had been electrified in 1904 using the third-rail 600V DC system and multiple units, and added Liverpool–Aintree on the same system in 1906. The same company used overhead electrification for its Bury–Holcombe Brook line in 1913 and the 1200V DC side-contact third-rail system for that between Manchester, Whitefield and Bury, converting the Bury–Holcombe Brook line to this system in 1917.

The Midland Railway used 6,600/6,700V AC overhead for its Lancaster–Morecambe–Heysham line. The London & North Western electrified the Broad Street–Richmond line in 1916 using a third and fourth rail like the Underground lines, also using this system for Broad Street–Watford in 1922. The LMS extended electrification of the latter to Rickmansworth. The Manchester South Junction & Altrincham line, operated jointly with the LNER, used a 1,500V DC overhead system, while the Wirral electrification in 1938 used third-rail 650V DC so that its trains could use its running powers over the Mersey Railway.

The full electric service on the third rail on the 650V system began on the Wirral lines on 14 March 1938. Of monocoque construction, the bogies were attached directly to the bodies. The new cars were of all-steel welded construction and fitted with high-density seating, air-operated sliding doors and roller-blind destination displays. The three-car sets consisted of a third-class motor coach, a third-class driving trailer and between them a first-class trailer weighing 20 tons. Power was obtained from the Liverpool Corporation through the Mersey Railway Tunnel. The normal train service was at 20-minute intervals.

When H.E. O’Brien, who had been responsible for the Southport electrification, was appointed the LMS Electrical Engineer, he put forward a scheme in 1924 for electrifying the west coast main line between Crewe and Carlisle, which included the Shap incline, at 1,500V DC using the overhead system, and designed a 2-D-2 electric engine to work the line. Unfortunately, he revealed these proposals to the Institution of Electrical Engineers before placing them before his Board of Directors, creating such a brouhaha that he resigned, moving to Dublin where he lectured on transport at Trinity College.
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LMS PRINCIPAL NAMED TRAINS

It is not surprising that the LMS, as the largest of the Big Four companies, had most named trains. One of its most unusual expresses was the Blackpool club train. Many Manchester and Salford businessmen preferred to live in the resorts of Blackpool, Lytham St Annes and Southport, holding first-class season tickets. In 1895, before corridor trains had been brought into general use, a group of first-class season ticket holders asked the Lancashire & Yorkshire Railway if it would be possible for them to have a saloon, thus offering better facilities for intermingling than a standard compartment coach. In return for a guarantee that a specified number of first-class season tickets would be taken annually between Blackpool and Manchester at a higher than normal rate, the LYR agreed that saloon accommodation would be provided, together with an attendant serving light refreshments. These saloons were attached to one of the morning expresses from Blackpool and returned from Manchester soon after 5 p.m. In the years following 1923, the LMS continued to provide palatial Club Saloons.

All regular members had their own seat and even any undesired opening of windows was strictly forbidden. In later years a third-class section of the club was established with its own reserved car adjacent to those of the first class. Leaving Manchester Victoria at 5.14 p.m., it made its first stop at Lytham, a distance of 41.9 miles, at 6.14 p.m. Although the time seems rather lengthy, it was a difficult route with significant gradients and with reduced speeds required over colliery workings. Initially, the LMS continued using Hughes’ four-cylinder 4-6-0s, but in the Stanier era Black Fives and Jubilee class 4-6-0s were used. The Llandudno Club train and Windermere Club Train were similar to the Blackpool version.

The Comet running between Manchester London Road and Euston received its name in 1932. Leaving Manchester at 5.40 p.m., it arrived at Euston at 9 p.m., the only intermediate stop being at Stafford. Between here and Euston only 128 minutes were allowed for the 133.6 miles, thus requiring an average speed of 62.6mph, one of the fastest scheduled runs on the LMS. A popular train, it generally carried a full load. A Royal Scot 4-6-0 was invariably used on both Up and Down workings and tested the locomotive’s ability since the train’s minimum load was eleven vehicles with a tare weight of about 340 tons. When the load exceeded thirteen vehicles, a 4-4-0 Compound was attached as a pilot.

Stations and timings differed on the Down run. Leaving Euston at 11.50 a.m., it was allowed 165 minutes for the 158.1 miles to Crewe, then covered the 24.9 miles to Stockport in 29 minutes, before covering the 5.9 miles to London Road in 10 minutes, arriving at 3.20 p.m. The Down Comet had a minimum load of fourteen bogies with a tare of about 430 tons. About seven of these vehicles were detached at Crewe and destined for Liverpool. Withdrawn during the Second World War, when reinstated it was slower, leaving Manchester at 5.50 p.m. and arriving at Euston at 9.36 p.m.

Following the Race to Aberdeen in 1895, the west and east coast companies ceased violent competition, but when in the autumn of 1936 the LNER announced its intention of celebrating the Coronation of King George VI with a new streamlined high-speed train in the summer of 1937, it seemed probable that the LMS would provide something similar.

On 7 November 1936, 4-6-2 No 6201 Princess Elizabeth made a test run from Euston to Glasgow with a load of seven coaches, covering the distance of 401.4 miles in 5 hours 53½ minutes. On 8 November 1936 with an extra coach, it returned non-stop in only 5 hours 44¼ minutes, giving an average speed of 70mph. When the timing of the new LMS express, the Coronation Scot, was revealed to be 6½ hours, including a 2-minute stop at Carlisle for a change of locomotive crew, it was thought somewhat disappointing.

On 29 June 1937 before the regular running of the Coronation Scot, a test run was made with a new streamlined Pacific No 6220 Coronation, a speed of 114mph being attained. On its return, it covered the 158.1 miles from Crewe to Euston at an average speed of 79.7mph, the fact that it had gained 25 minutes on the Coronation Scot schedule from Crewe demonstrating that the timings on the new train could easily be kept.

The Coronation Scot train consisted of nine bogie coaches weighing 297 tons, being standard stock painted Coronation blue with horizontal white lines which continued on the streamlined blue locomotive and tender. The train’s make-up included two kitchen cars, and both side and centre corridor coaches. Interiors were given variety by the use of different veneers, mainly from the British empire. Interestingly, the Canadian silver elm used for the finish of one third-class car in every train had been cut from piles recovered in 1936 during the demolition of Waterloo Bridge and so had been under water since the bridge was built in 1817. Except for the kitchen cars, all the coaches had pressure heating and ventilation, air being delivered from above the windows and also above the doors in compartment coaches, through nozzles which could be adjusted by passengers to regulate the temperature; this was in addition to the usual steam heaters provided under the seats. In the interests of aerodynamics, fairings were placed between carriages to reduce eddy drag.

In 1939 a more luxurious Coronation Scot train was built and, instead of blue, carried the normal red livery with horizontal gold lines, most of the streamlined Pacifics being painted to match. To cover the expense, the LMS charged an additional 2s 6d for both first- and third-class passengers.

The Devonian was incorrectly named for half of the year because most of its coaches only ran from Bradford to Bristol, only running through to Torquay and Paignton in the summer. Inaugurated in 1927, it offered the fastest run between Leeds and Bristol, the 206 miles being covered in 4 hours 40 minutes. In winter the through Paignton coaches were taken onwards by an indifferent GWR express, reaching Paignton having covered the 323 miles from Bradford in 8 hours 26 minutes, the run over the GWR section considerably lowering the average speed. From May to September the train of LMS stock, including restaurant cars, ran through between Bradford and Kingswear, and on Saturdays needed to run in several parts. It was withdrawn on the outbreak of war, but was restored in October 1946, taking 8¾ hours from Bradford to Torquay and 8 hours 57 minutes on the return journey. Between Leeds and Bristol it was normally hauled by a Jubilee class 4-6-0, a Black Five occasionally making a good substitute.

One of the most memorable of the LMS named trains was the Irish Mail from Euston to Holyhead. The day-service Irish Mails carried restaurant cars of superlative quality, while the night Mails included first- and third-class sleeping cars. Those travelling by the Down Mail had to leave their berth at 2.20 a.m., but those on the Up, having disembarked from the ferry, could be in their berth by midnight and had the option to remain in it until 8 a.m. The Irish Mail was a heavy train, a Royal Scot being expected to haul up to sixteen or seventeen bogie vehicles with a full weight of 510–40 tons. By 1939 the Mail was leaving Euston at 8.45 a.m., made a brief stop at Watford to pick up passengers, then called at Rugby and Crewe with a final stop at Chester before a non-stop run to Holyhead, which it reached at 2.05 p.m. The postal pick up apparatus was used at Nuneaton, Llandudno Junction and Menai Bridge just before crossing the Britannia Tubular Bridge into Anglesey.

The working timetable stated that the evening Mail left Euston at 8.50 p.m. and arrived at 2.20 a.m. The Up night Mail left at 12.13 a.m. and arrived Euston 5.30 a.m. The pick up apparatus was busier than on the Down run and was used at Bangor, Rhyl, Stafford, Tamworth, Nuneaton, Bletchley, Hemel Hempsted and Harrow. The day Up Irish Mail left Holyhead at 12.40 p.m., calling at Chester, Crewe and Rugby before arriving in London at 5.50 p.m., and as it was a heavy train, it meant hard work for the Royal Scot.

During the Second World War the Irish Mail day service was run in both directions and allowed an extra 45 minutes on the peacetime schedule. The night service was restored in October 1946.

The year 1927 saw the introduction of the Lancastrian, the 6.05 p.m. from Euston, due at Manchester at 9.35 p.m., and one of the first trains to bring this city within 3½ hours of London. In 1932 the schedule was reduced by 15 minutes and its departure time altered to 6 p.m. To keep the load to about twelve vehicles, the total tare weight of about 360 tons was well within the capacity of a Royal Scot, but it no longer had a section of through coaches to Colne and Rochdale. Following the rebuilding of No 6170 British Legion with a taper boiler, it was frequently seen heading this train, while in the late 1930s Princess Royal Pacifics appeared on the Lancastrian. On the Up journey the 6 p.m. stock left Manchester at 12.05 p.m. and used a different route to that of its Down counterpart. It called at Stockport, Macclesfield and Stoke-on-Trent before a Euston arrival at 3.40 p.m. The different route permitted only the weight of a Jubilee, but excellent time was kept with this 400–40-ton load by drivers from the Longsight shed, driving spotless locomotives.

The Mancunian was the exact opposite of the Lancastrian, the Up Mancunian taking 3¼ hours to London while the Down train took the Stoke-on-Trent route with the same stops as the Up Lancastrian plus four more. The Up workings were usually headed by a Royal Scot, while Down trains had to be content with a Jubilee.

Leeds and Bradford are approximately equidistant between the east coast at Bridlington and Scarborough and the west coast at Morecambe, so the LMS operated the Leeds, Bradford and Morecambe Residential Express to enable Yorkshire businessmen to enjoy a coastal home. It was one of the first post-war expresses to revert to its pre-war schedule in each direction. It left the Promenade station in Morecambe at 7.40 a.m., calling at Lancaster, Clapham, Hellifield and Skipton, where the three Leeds coaches were detached, leaving the four Bradford coaches to call at Keighley before arriving at Leeds City station at 9.32 a.m.

In the reverse direction it left Leeds at 4.55 p.m. and arrived at Morecambe at 6.50 p.m. Climbing to the summit a mile east of Clapham station involved an ascent of 7 miles at 1 in 100–150.

In 1927 the London–Merseyside Express was inaugurated and as this name did not easily flow from the tongue it was soon abbreviated to the Merseyside Express. In 1932 the departure time of the Merseyside Express was altered from 5.55 p.m. to 6.05 p.m. It ran the 189.7 miles to Mossley Hill in 200 minutes, making an average speed of 56.9mph, then called at Edge Hill before terminating at Lime Street at 9.40 p.m. At Edge Hill the two Southport coaches were detached and these reached their destination at 10.30 p.m. The Down Merseyside Express, running on the fast route, often had a race with the 6.06 p.m. from Euston to Northampton, which ran non-stop to Kings Langley using the slow route, but as this was a lighter train, the latter usually won.

The Up Merseyside Express left Lime Street at 10 a.m. and was due at Euston at 1.30 p.m., before being accelerated to start 10 minutes later and cover the distance in 3 hours 20 minutes. In this direction the Southport coaches had left at 8.50 a.m., working through to Lime Street where they were coupled to the front of the Merseyside Express. So it only called at Mossley Hill, from where the 189.7 miles to Euston were allowed 189 minutes, making an average of 60.2mph. Between Crewe and Stafford the Up Merseyside took the fast route and often came alongside the Pines Express on the slow route, and an exciting race would develop particularly on the falling gradients south of Whitmore.

The Merseyside was a heavy train almost invariably of fourteen or fifteen coaches, with an empty weight of 490 tons or 525 with passengers. Unusually, two sets of dining cars were provided – a kitchen car with an open first-class car on either side and a twelve-wheeled third, and a kitchen with an open third-class saloon adjoining, making a total of five coaches for eating. During the Second World War it was combined with a Manchester train, but eventually it became too heavy for a single engine and the two trains reverted to single entities. It reached Lime Street at 9.46 p.m. The wartime train was a lot slower in the Up direction and, with calls at Mossley Hill, Crewe and Watford, reached Euston at 2.22 p.m., an hour later than in peacetime. Then on 7 October 1946 the Down departure was altered to 5.45 p.m. and the journey time was reduced to 3 hours 55 minutes, giving an arrival time of 9.40 p.m.

The Midday Scot was another case of the 1927 naming frenzy. By 1923 the forerunner of the Midday Scot left Euston at 1.30 p.m. and reached Glasgow at 10.30 p.m., the Up train having exactly the same timings. Then in 1932, with the ending of the agreement between the LMS and LNER which had restricted the overall times of their Anglo-Scottish day trains to a minimum of 8¼ hours in order to avoid competition, the Midday Scot was one of those to be accelerated. Initially it was timed at 8 hours 5 minutes Down and 8 hours Up, but the following year the Up train was accelerated to 7 hours 55 minutes including an additional stop at Lancaster. When the train was worked by a locomotive of the Royal Scot class, the engine was changed at Crewe, but when the Stanier Pacifics appeared they worked throughout the 401½ miles between Euston and Glasgow. Interestingly, at Crewe a GWR brake composite from Penzance to Glasgow was coupled next to the engine. Between May 1936 and June 1937 the Midday Scot reverted to its traditional departure time of 2 p.m. and ran non-stop over the 158 miles to Crewe in 163 minutes. New stops were made at Penrith and Carlisle, and at 7.35 p.m. the train was divided, the Glasgow section running non-stop for 116 minutes and arriving at 9.35 p.m. The Edinburgh and Aberdeen portions ran to Lockerbie where they divided, the Edinburgh portion arriving at 9.05 p.m. The Up Midday Scot reached Euston at 9.20 p.m.

The introduction of the Coronation Scot streamlined train in July 1937 caused the withdrawal of the name ‘Midday Scot’, though the train continued to leave at 2 p.m., while in the reverse direction a train for London left Glasgow at 1.35 p.m.

The ancestor of the Pines Express was inaugurated in October 1910 when a train ran from Manchester over London & North Western Railway metals to Birmingham, then used the Midland Railway to Bath, the Somerset & Dorset Joint Railway to Broadstone and finally the London & South Western Railway lines to Bournemouth West. In 1927 it was named the Pines Express after the trees for which Bournemouth was well known. By this year almost the whole route was owned, or shared, by the LMS – only the last 7¾ miles ran over the Southern Railway.

By 1939 the restaurant section of the Pines Express left Manchester London Road at 10.10 a.m. and at Crewe picked up a four-coach set for Birmingham and through coaches for both Bournemouth and Southampton, which had left Liverpool Lime Street at 9.40 a.m. It departed from Crewe at 10.49 a.m. and was booked to take the slow road to Stafford to avoid fouling the Up Merseyside Express due through Crewe at 10.57 a.m. As related earlier, if the Pines was late there was a race from Whitmore to Stafford. The Pines Express called at Wolverhampton and ran into the Midland Division side at Birmingham New Street at 12.02 p.m. Here the four-coach set from Liverpool was uncoupled and a Midland Division engine, usually a Black Five but occasionally a Crab, took charge of the remainder, usually amounting to about six coaches. It left at 12.13 p.m., arriving at Cheltenham at 1.10 p.m., the Southampton coach being detached to be worked over the former MSJWR line through Swindon and Andover. Next call was at Gloucester, then the Bath terminus where a reversal was necessary.

From Bath a fresh Black Five was faced with a climb of 2 miles at 1 in 50 and from Radstock a further 3 miles’ climb at 1 in 50, followed by 4 miles varying between 1 in 50 and 1 in 73 to cross the Mendip Hills at Masbury, 811ft above sea level. From Templecombe to Blandford the line was single track and, although tablet changing was carried out by an apparatus, slacks were imposed through the station loops. The 2 hours 17 minutes for the 71½ miles from Bath to Bournemouth including four stops represented hard work. Bournemouth was reached at 4.37 p.m., giving the time from Manchester to Bournemouth of 6 hours 27 minutes for the 252 miles.

In the other direction, the Pines Express left Bournemouth West at 10.35 a.m. and after calling at six stations reached Bath in only 2 hours 5 minutes, despite a climb of 7 miles at about 1 in 50. Bath was left at 12.44 p.m., Gloucester at 1.37 p.m., and Cheltenham at 1.51 p.m., having picked up the GWR through coach from Southampton. A run at an average speed of 60mph was required to the stop at Bromsgrove to pick up banking assistance for the 2 miles of 1 in 37¾. At New Street it used the same platform as it had used in the other direction, this being possible due to the circle of lines around Birmingham. With the four-coach Liverpool section added, the train now consisting of approximately eleven bogies ran the 54 miles to Crewe non-stop in 70 minutes, arriving at 4.02 p.m. Here the train was divided: the Pines Express arrived in Manchester at 4.51 p.m., having taken 1 minute over 6¼ hours from Bournemouth. Withdrawn during the Second World War, it was restored between Manchester and Bournemouth on 7 October 1946 with a timing of 7 hours going south and 7¼ hours north.

The Royal Highlander, which received its name in 1927, left Euston at 7.30 p.m. and after calling at Bletchley, Rugby, Crewe, Wigan, Carlisle and Stirling arrived in Perth at 5.24 a.m., where the train was divided. The Aberdeen section left at 5.40 a.m. and after stopping at Forfar, Bridge of Dun, Laurencekirk and Stonehaven arrived at Aberdeen at 7.40 a.m. Passengers on the Inverness section had to be patient because the through sleeping cars and coaches from the Aberdonian originating from King’s Cross had to be attached and also a restaurant car, so the train did not leave Perth until 6.25 a.m., having been there for an hour. After calling at various stations it arrived at Inverness, 568½ miles from Euston, at 9.50 a.m.

In winter the Royal Highlander had three pairs of sleeping cars, first and third class, for Aberdeen, Inverness and Perth respectively, in addition to composite coaches containing both first- and third-class compartments for each destination together with third-class brakes or bogie luggage brakes. At the rear was a restaurant car, easily accessible for removal at Crewe, the train amounting to twelve or thirteen vehicles.

In the height of summer, traffic was so heavy that three trains were needed each night to accommodate the passengers. The departure time of the actual Royal Highlander was advanced to 7.20 p.m. Crewe was reached at 10.22 p.m. and 10 minutes were allowed for engines to be changed. Although the public timetable showed Perth to be the next stop, the working timetable demanded a call at Motherwell to detach a parcels van for Glasgow. Perth was reached at 4.46 a.m., the Aberdeen section leaving at 4.51 a.m. and calling only at Coupar Angus, reaching Aberdeen at 7.00 a.m., 40 minutes earlier than the winter timetable. The main train spent only 23 minutes at Perth and reached Inverness at 8.45 a.m., 65 minutes before its winter schedule. The time of 3 hours 36 minutes for the 118 miles between Perth and Inverness may seem lengthy, but it must be remembered that this involved 76½ miles of single track with possible delays at passing loops, and also the severe climb from Blair Atholl to Druimuachdar summit, 1,484ft above sea level, 14 miles at 1 in 70–80 and then a climb of 6 miles at 1 in 60–70 from Aviemore to Slochd summit, 1,315 above sea level. Two Black Fives were found ideal to handle this heavy train over the severe gradients. There was no Up Royal Highlander.

On 10 July 1936 some of its passengers were engaged on a very long ‘day trip’. Leaving Euston at 7.30 p.m. on the Friday, Oban was reached by special train from Stirling at 8.30 a.m. the following morning. From there the steamer Lochfyne was taken for an all-day circuit of the Isle of Mull, with calls at Staffa, for Fingal’s Cave and Iona. Back at Oban they used the railway to reach Euston at 7.45 a.m. on Sunday, having covered 1,100 miles for a cost of £1 15s 0d. It proved so popular that another was arranged for 21–23 August.

The 10 a.m. departure from Euston for Scotland had run for many years, but only in 1927 was it actually named the Royal Scot. As the agreement between the west and east coast routes forbade a reduction in time, it became a competition of non-stop running, with the Royal Scot only available for passengers to Glasgow and Edinburgh. A Claughton 4-6-0 piloted by a George the Fifth 4-4-0 hauled it non-stop to Carnforth, 236 miles from Euston, where the train was examined before being hauled onwards by two 4P Compound 4-4-0s over Shap and Beattock summits to Symington, a distance of 130 miles, where the Edinburgh coaches were detached. Then in the summer of 1927, with the new Royal Scot 4-6-0s being available, the LMS omitted the Carnforth stop and ran through to Kingmoor, 2 miles north of Carlisle.

On 27 April 1928 the Down Royal Scot, unusually for a spring day, ran in two portions: that for Glasgow behind Royal Scot class 4-6-0 No 6113 Cameronian and the other for Edinburgh behind Class 4P 4-4-0 Compound No 1054. A knowledgeable spectator would have spotted that each engine had an extra engineman on the footplate to offer assistance when required. The 399.7 miles to Edinburgh Princes Street by the 4-4-0 was an unrivalled feat for an engine with this wheel arrangement, but unlike the LNER’s efforts, that of the LMS was a one-off.

In May 1928 the LNER bettered this by running non-stop from King’s Cross to Edinburgh. The LMS stole the LNER’s thunder by a couple of days before its new non-stop service was to begin. As a one-off it divided the Royal Scot and ran one portion non-stop to Glasgow and the other to Edinburgh; Royal Scot class 4-6-0 No 6113 Cameronian was in charge of the Glasgow portion of 401.4 miles, while Compound 4-4-0 No 1054 headed the Edinburgh run of 399.7 miles. The latter was the longest non-stop run made by a 4-4-0 in Great Britain, while the former was a record for any locomotive.

In 1932 the 8¼-hour agreement was abandoned and by 1939 the Royal Scot in the summer timetable was booked to reach Carlisle at 2.59 p.m., having covered the 299.1 miles from Euston in 299 minutes at an average of 60mph. Glasgow was reached at 5 p.m. Its winter schedule was given an additional 20 minutes to allow for stops at Rugby and Crewe. The 82.6 miles to Rugby allowed 80 minutes and the 75.5 miles onwards allowed 75 minutes, two runs at over 60mph. By 1939 the Royal Scot was running non-stop from Glasgow to Euston throughout the year, though stopped at Carlisle just to change the engine crew. From 1933 Stanier Pacifics were available to work the Royal Scot, comprising fifteen vehicles weighing about 450 tons. In the Second World War it ran in both directions, its load usually limited to seventeen vehicles. Its arrival time at Glasgow was 6.55 p.m. while the Up train arrived at Euston 6.56 p.m. The Perth section became a separate train, leaving Euston at 10.05. Restaurant cars were restored on 1 October 1945 and 2 weeks later the station stop at Carlisle was withdrawn and the Royal Scot called at Kingmoor for examination and change of engine crew.

Yet another train named in 1927 was the Thames–Clyde Express from St Pancras to Glasgow. Although a heavier and longer route than that of the west coast, it was more attractive scenically. By 1939, leaving at 10 a.m., it ran the 72 miles from St Pancras to Kettering in 71 minutes, arriving at 11.11 a.m., an excellent time considering the gradients. Leicester, 99.1 miles, was reached at 11.44 a.m. and the 47.2 miles to Chesterfield were allowed 57 minutes, with arrival at 12.41 p.m. This was followed by a stiff run to Leeds, the 49.7 miles being covered in just 60 minutes and arrival at 1.44 p.m. There the engine, which had worked from St Pancras, almost invariably a Jubilee, would be left at the platform and another engine would be coupled to what had been the rear. Until the Second World War, the engine for the Leeds to Glasgow leg of the journey was generally a 4-6-0 Patriot, but during the war rebuilt Royal Scots with their taper boilers appeared on the train and did excellently, taking on fifteen bogies without pilot assistance.

The pre-war Thames–Clyde covered the 36 miles from Leeds to Hellifield in 45 minutes and then took 51 minutes for the 46 miles to Appleby, including the 15-mile climb almost entirely at 1 in 100 from Settle Junction to Blea Moor tunnel. The descent of 30.8 miles from Appleby to Carlisle had a leisurely 35 minutes, with arrival timed at 4.09 p.m. Calls were made at Annan, Dumfries, Mauchline and Kilmarnock before arriving at St Enoch at 6.38 p.m., having taken 8 hours 38 minutes from St Pancras.

Leaving St Enoch at 10.30 a.m., the Up run to Carlisle was allowed 2 hours 20 minutes for the 115.5 miles, and there, passengers anxious to reach London quickly could change to the Royal Scot and save an hour. The Thames–Clyde left Carlisle at 11.55 a.m. and ran the 113 miles to Leeds, arriving at 2.20 p.m. After stops at Sheffield, Trent and Leicester, it arrived at St Pancras at 6.25 p.m. Just like the Royal Scot, it was slower on an Up journey, taking 8 hours 55 minutes, 17 minutes more than trains in the reverse direction, though with six intermediate stops compared with eight.

During the Second World War it was allowed almost 3 hours longer, still leaving St Pancras at 10 a.m. but not arriving at St Enoch until 9.32 p.m. On the Up journey, it left at 10 a.m. and reached St Pancras at 9.40 p.m. Due to Up and Down trains taking slightly different routes, a curiosity was that at Trent both trains stopped at the same platform and left travelling in the same direction. Another curiosity was that the Down Thames–Clyde passed through more tunnels than any other train in Great Britain, no fewer than forty, and of these, no fewer than six were over a mile in length. From 1 October 1945 the Thames–Clyde in both directions had its restaurant cars restored, lost its Edinburgh coaches and became much faster. After Carlisle it only called at Leeds, Sheffield, Nottingham and Kettering before arriving at St Pancras at 8.20 p.m. In October 1946 it was rescheduled to leave St Pancras at 9.55 a.m., ran non-stop from Leeds to Carlisle and arrived at St Enoch at 7.23 p.m. In the Up direction it left Glasgow at 9.50 a.m. and was due at St Pancras at 7.24 p.m.
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THE LONDON & NORTH
EASTERN RAILWAY

The LNER was the second largest of the Big Four. It justified its sobriquet of ‘London and Nearly Everywhere’ Railway. Its lines extended into many parts of England and Scotland and just ventured into North Wales. It had important continental links by its own steamships from Harwich and Grimsby. With the LMS it shared steamer services on the Firth of Clyde and Loch Lomond. Despite its name, the LNER reached the west coast at Liverpool, Chester, Southport, Silloth and Mallaig. In Scotland, north of Glasgow the LNER was a west coast line, while continuing to be an east coast line from Edinburgh to Aberdeen and northwards as far as Elgin. To operate its 7,000-plus miles of track, the LNER used about 7,400 steam locomotives, 21,500 coaching and 282,000 freight vehicles, together with electric stock. It owned twenty-two steamers and twenty smaller vessels.

The LNER divided its system into four areas – London, York, Edinburgh and Aberdeen – each in the charge of an area general manager. These areas worked as a federation under the overall control of the chief general manager, Sir Ralph Wedgwood, in London, but headquarters exercised fairly loose control over the day-to-day affairs of the areas. The LNER had three London passenger termini: King’s Cross, Liverpool Street and Marylebone. Standardisation of equipment and practices was slow, particularly as the financial position of the company weakened under the influence of the decline of the heavy industries of the north-east during the long-term depression. It was more dependent on freight than the other railway companies.

The LNER chairman was William Whitelaw from the North British Railway and deputy chairman Lord Faringdon from the Great Central. Economy was essential for the new railway company and the number of staff employed was reduced from 207,500 in 1924 to 175,800 in 1937, despite more train-miles being operated.

Initially as a quick fix, engines and vehicles belonging to the various pre-grouping companies were distinguished by letters added to numbers: D for Darlington, or Y for York, for former North Eastern stock; N for Great Northern; C for Great Central; E for Great Eastern; B for North British; and S for Great North of Scotland. A similar system applied to coaching, goods and mineral stock.

In due course it was found more convenient to have a new numbering system using the format:


1–2500: North Eastern locomotives

2501–3000: New locomotives built for the LNER

3001–5000: Great Northern locomotives, 3000 added to their old numbers

5001–7000: Great Central locomotives, 5000 added to their old numbers. Former Great North of Scotland locomotives were also numbered in the GCR series.

7001–9000: Great Eastern locomotives, 7000 added to their old numbers

9000 upwards: North British locomotives, 9000 added to their old numbers.



The livery adopted was that of the Great Northern with green for express passenger engines, while goods and tank engines were black. Passenger coaches were varnished teak, or painted a teak colour. Goods vehicles were in several colours, grey, chocolate, brown, blue etc., according to the type of traffic for which they were designed. They normally carried just the letters NE rather than LNER.

The First World War brought the first British seagoing train ferries. In 1923 Great Eastern Train Ferries Limited was formed to work the three ferry vessels between Harwich and Zeebrugge. Ex-WD berthing equipment came from Richborough and Southampton, the Belgian government supplying a large number of wagons which it owned, built to the British loading gauge. Management was vested in the LNER and the daily freight-only service started on 24 April 1924.

In 1923 the Sentinel Waggon Works, Shrewsbury, built a light, geared steam rail motor; a two-cylinder single-acting engine, as used in their steam lorries, was placed vertically behind the boiler, driving all four wheels of the leading bogie by means of a layshaft and roller chains. Two types of boiler were available, rated at either 100 or 200hp. The standard bodies, from Cammell Laird & Co., Nottingham, were built entirely of steel. The first car was exhibited at the British Empire Exhibition at Wembley in 1924 and 1925. This car was tested on the LNER between Scarborough and Whitby, which had the severe ruling gradient of 1 in 39. Found to be rather underpowered, nevertheless it was still purchased and numbered 13E, later No 43307. A sister rail motor No 12E was also taken into stock in March 1925. This proving successful, in 1927–28 a further twenty-two cars were purchased. In December 1927, No 2135 was taken into stock, this having a horizontal engine driving a cardan shaft with a Hardy Spicer universal joint. Between 1928 and 1930, forty-nine cars of this type were purchased with six-cylinder engines. Five 200hp cars with twelve-cylinder engines were bought in 1930 and 1932. No 2291 Phenomena was a double car carried on three bogies with two six-cylinder engines. Of the 111 Sentinel steam rail motors at work in Great Britain, eighty worked on the LNER, which was by far the greatest user. Apart from the first two, all the LNER cars were given the names of former stage coaches. No 220 Water Witch was completely destroyed on 9 June 1929 in a collision at Doncaster with a Leeds–London express, but most of the others remained in service until the mid-1940s, the last being withdrawn in 1947. Due to their appearance, they were colloquially known as ‘chip vans’.

In 1927 Clayton Wagons Limited, Lincoln, brought out a rival to the Sentinel-Cammell. It differed in that the engine was on the leading bogie, rather than in the body, and drive was to only one axle, outside coupling rods linking the other set of wheels. Unlike the Sentinels, water was carried in a tank under the coach frame. The average coal consumption was 10lb per mile. The LNER acquired its first Clayton in 1927 and a further ten in 1928. Most were allotted to the North Eastern section but No 51999 worked on the former Great Central line. Less successful than the Sentinels, they had a shorter life, all being withdrawn in 1936–37, and like the Sentinels, they were named after stage coaches. No other British railway used Claytons.

On the first day of the General Strike, 4 May 1926, the LNER worked 148 trains and, by 10 May, 977, though on that day two collisions occurred: one at St Margaret’s Edinburgh, which killed three persons, and the other at Bishop’s Stortford, which killed one. It must be taken into account that ordinary block working in most places had been suspended, the railways were back to time-interval working and many of the drivers were inexperienced. Cecil J. Allen quoted a case of two engines stuck outside King’s Cross in Copenhagen Tunnel for no apparent reason, with steam on. One was subsequently discovered to be in full backward gear!

Also on 10 May 1926, near Cramlington Colliery, Northumberland, striking miners, irked by seeing a volunteer permanent way gang at work, menaced and drove them off, then removed some rails from the Up road. An east coast express, fortunately travelling slowly, derailed and turned over amid the derisive hoots of a crowd of men and women who had waited to see the result. Fortunately, no one was badly injured and the train was not as severely damaged as it might have been. On 14 May, the strike’s last day, the LNER ran 1,363 trains.

In 1928, because the existing yards were overloaded, the LNER opened a new marshalling yard at Whitemoor, just north of March, Cambridgeshire. Partly modelled on the yards at Hamm, Germany, the Up yard dealt with loaded traffic and was the first mechanised yard in Great Britain. Of the hump pattern, a shunting engine propelled a train up a slope and at the summit wagons were uncoupled, gravity taking them down to the required sidings. Points into these sidings were remotely controlled and, as applying a handbrake to a moving wagon could be extremely hazardous, mechanical retarders were fitted. Supplied by Thyssen-Frohlich, they were hydraulically worked at a pressure of 1,200–1,400lb per square inch, their use reducing the number of ground-staff engaged on humping to four. In 1929 Whitemoor Yard dealt with 784,177 wagons and saved the company £30,000 annually. In a sample hour, seven trains making a total of 357 wagons were divided into 232 cuts. The operator in the control tower pre-set the points according to the destination of the cuts of wagon, then manually controlled the action of the retarders so that the wagon, or wagons, did not crash into vehicles already in a siding. A Down yard was opened at Whitemoor in 1933, while in 1935 the LNER commissioned the New Inward Yard at Hessle, near Hull.

As marshalling yards were large and excellent targets, in an attempt to fool German bombers, dummy marshalling yards were set up not far from the genuine article. This was carried out at Whitemoor, the largest yard in Great Britain and the second largest in Europe, by a team from Sound City Film Studios, Shepperton, Surrey. Lights were put in place to illuminate tracks, while dummy locomotives had glowing fireboxes.

Nigel Gresley, the chief mechanical engineer, who was in charge of ten locomotive works employing a total over 100,000, decided to use the existing local facilities and only direct and check from his small drawing office on Platform 10, King’s Cross, where he scrutinised most of the locomotive drawings, while his assistant Oliver Bulleid inspected all the carriage and wagon drawings. Carriage building to the old designs ended early in 1924 when the new standard LNER (really GNR) designs were fixed, using teak bodies on steel underframes with GNR bogies and running gear. By 1925 new trains had been provided for the Flying Scotsman and Hook Continental with articulated restaurant car sets, in addition to quadruple and quintuple suburban sets, the latter required particularly on the Great Eastern section, as that poverty-stricken company, knowing of the amalgamation, had not replaced old stock. Bulleid was sufficiently far sighted to make provision for power bogies on the King’s Cross suburban sets, as an electrification scheme had been proposed in October 1923, but then rejected in September 1925. Bulleid and his assistant N. Newsome underestimated the number of passengers using Liverpool Street, their weight causing the frames of the quintuples to sag so severely that the doors would not open, thus requiring an urgent stiffening. Years before, Gresley had introduced articulation to the Great Northern, whereby two adjacent coaches shared one bogie, the advantages being a lower first cost, a saving in weight, improved riding, a great resistance to collision and, as there was less space between the carriages, more passenger accommodation for a length of train. The disadvantage was that if a repair was necessary, the whole set was out of service. Regarding wagons, the LNER adopted Railway Clearing House standards.

Litter is not just a twenty-first-century problem. In 1924 the LNER produced a poster appealing to day excursionists not to leave litter about the countryside. Entitled ‘His Day’s Good Deed’, it depicted a shocked boy scout armed with a spiked pole, clearing the countryside after an al fresco feast. The poster was exhibited at stations on the company’s system where it was thought most likely to be relevant.

1925 was the centenary of the opening of the Stockton & Darlington Railway. In addition to holding a large exhibition at Faverdale Wagon Works, the LNER staged a cavalcade of over fifty locomotives, ranging from old ones like Stephenson’s Locomotion, to the latest Gresley A1 class Pacific. The LNER was fortunate in that, unlike the other members of the Big Four, it had examples of original rolling stock, locomotives and a museum. Other railway companies also contributed to the display.

In 1928 the first sleeping cars for third-class passengers appeared. As the company was uncertain of the market, they were really day coaches with compartment seats convertible into lower berths, while the hinged upper berths could be folded into the walls when out of use. Third-class passengers did not receive full bedding, just a rug and pillow.

In 1929 Pullman de luxe excursions were inaugurated as an experiment. Each week in high summer, the Eastern Belle left Liverpool Street daily to a different East Anglian holiday resort. These trips proved so popular that they were reintroduced on 1 June 1930 for the summer season, running daily except Saturdays. The programme was considerably extended and covered eighteen different resorts. Third-class return fares ranged from 6s 6d to 10s 0d and first class from 10s 6d to 16s 6d. Meals could be obtained at an additional price. In 1936 the LNER issued 5-day season tickets every Monday for travel on the Eastern Belle for the modest fare of £1 5s 0d third class, or £1 17s 6d first class including all Pullman supplements, the third-class ticket offering Pullman travel at over 3 miles for a penny. The resorts visited included all the seaside towns from Clacton to Hunstanton, in addition to Wroxham and North Walsham on the Broads and Skegness on the Lincolnshire coast.

At the 1930 annual meeting it was stated that, through the use of more modern engines, there had been a decrease of forty-six in the locomotive stock and the greater use of 12- and 20-ton wagons had brought an economy in operation. To carry the increase of 13,500,000 passengers it had been necessary to run 2,065,000 more loaded passenger train miles and, of these, 1,166,000 were accounted for by the steam rail cars, the number of which had increased to thirty-one.

In 1930 the LNER decided to carry out a large number of works schemes under the Development (Loans, Guarantees and Grants) Act, 1929. Totalling £1,700,000, it included new sidings and goods depots, widening lines and installing colour light signalling throughout the 26 miles between Skelton Bridge and Northallerton. Under the remission of passenger duty proposals, the LNER was already undertaking various track work, installing electric cranes at Grimsby Royal Dock and adapting coal-shipping appliances to deal with 20-ton wagons.

31 March 1930 saw an event unlikely to be duplicated in the twenty-first century. W.M. Gracie, Assistant Goods Manager, was giving an address to the Sheffield Rotary Club on ‘The Railway and the Trader’. To illustrate it, he arranged for a train to be hauled through Sheffield passenger station and then halted at the Up main platform for examination. It comprised twenty units and was hauled by the 2-8-8-2 Garratt, weighing 178 tons, temporarily borrowed from its banking duties on the heavily graded Worsborough branch. The leading feature of the train was the 150-ton cantilever set, which comprised five vehicles, the centre one having an individual capacity of 110 tons, but required the addition of cantilever wagons for handling weights up to 150 tons. Other vehicles in the train were a 70-ton transformer girder set, comprising two flat trucks connected by two detachable girders from which the load was suspended; a 55-ton well-trolley wagon; a 40-ton bolster wagon; and a 30-ton trestle trolley wagon designed for carrying a heavy load with awkward dimensions. The remaining units, of varying types, included wagons used on the train ferry; a 40-ton brick wagon; a banana van and various types of container, with the standard 20-ton brake van bringing up the rear. The twenty units had a tare weight of 456 tons and comprised a total length of 909ft, this being the maximum length of train it was possible to ‘lock in’ the Up main platform.

The year 1930 saw the LNER publicity department utilising the backs of handbills for disseminating information dealing with various phases of the company’s activities. For example, the rear of a bill relating to a football match at Northumberland Park carried a short, readable article dealing with the personalities of the London termini, while other handbills had equally readable articles on ‘Week-end Wisdom’ and ‘Footplate Favourites’. On a bill advertising Uttoxeter races was an essay on the joys of going into the country, or up to town, just for the day. They all bore the initials D.L., standing for Dell Leigh, otherwise Mr E.P. Leigh-Bennett.

In 1930 the coaches forming the principal morning King’s Cross–Leeds express and the afternoon return service had every seat fitted with headphone sockets connected to a radio and record player in one of the brake vans, the record player coming into operation when a tunnel blotted out radio reception. Train staff issued passengers with free headphones. Two years later the midday sets to Edinburgh were similarly equipped, but then the scheme was abandoned in 1935.

In 1931 the LMS and LNER electrified their jointly owned Manchester South Junction & Altrincham line at 1,500V DC.

The first diesel railcar to appear in England was the Tyneside Venturer in December 1931, built by Armstrong-Whitworth and powered by a Sulzer engine. Its great advantage was immediate availability, not needing time to raise steam, while its thermal efficiency was also beneficial.

In his presidential address to the Institution of Locomotive Engineers in 1927, Gresley advanced the idea of a National Locomotive Testing Station for the use of all the railway companies. The Department of Scientific and Industrial Research and the Big Four recommended a committee being formed to examine the possibility, but the slump of the early 1930s delayed progress following the committee’s report. In 1936 the LMS and LNER decided jointly to build a testing station for their own use, with facilities for use by others when practicable. By the outbreak of the Second World War, work was well advanced, but it stopped between 1940 and 1944. The testing station at Rugby was officially opened by the Minister of Transport, the Right Honourable Alfred Barnes, on 19 October 1948.

In 1933, with the British economy improving, thoughts were turned to higher speeds. Gresley and Bulleid travelled on the Flying Hamburger at an average speed of 77mph and asked its makers, Maybach, to quote for an LNER train. Gresley and Bulleid also travelled from Deauville to Paris in one of Bugatti’s railcars with the designer, 70mph being maintained even around curves. Gresley, alarmed, asked Bugatti how he dared put so much petrol in the vehicle and did he not fear a fire? Bugatti replied that the railcar travelled so fast that, in the event of the tanks discharging petrol and the fuel igniting, it was travelling so quickly that the fire would have been left well behind. Bulleid admired Bugatti’s method of determining the best streamlined body, not by wind-tunnel tests, but simply by running them and finding which went the furthest on a given amount of fuel. In due course Gresley adopted Bugatti’s wedge-front design.

When the Maybach quote arrived, Gresley discussed it with Sir Ralph Wedgwood, the general manager, who said that a Pacific would be equally good, haul a better train with a dining car and also be cheaper; thus plans for the steam hauled Silver Jubilee went ahead.

National Physical Laboratory tests seen at King’s Cross revealed that LMS train models showed less air resistance than those of the LNER. Bulleid told Gresley: ‘It just shows that the tests aren’t worth the time given to them because we all know that our trains are extraordinarily easy to haul. If you look at the LMS design with the big gap between the vehicles and the square-cut ends, and then ours with the roof and sides all brought neatly in at the ends, it doesn’t make sense.’

‘You can’t say that,’ said Gresley. ‘This is the National Physical Laboratory.’

‘I don’t care who it is,’ said Bulleid.

The new A4 Pacifics for the Silver Jubilee appeared with a wedge front, while the special coaches had a covering between them to reduce air resistance.

In March 1935, Class A3 Pacific Papyrus hauled six carriages King’s Cross–Newcastle in 3 hours 50 minutes, proving the feasibility of the proposed 4-hour schedule, especially as the train would be streamlined and be hauled by a streamlined Class A4 with a boiler pressure of 250lb. A trial run was made to Grantham on 27 September 1935, sustaining an average speed of 100mph for 43 miles beyond Hitchin. The public was greatly impressed by the silver Rexine train, the first British streamliner, with its silver fairing to within 10in of rail level and its carriage joints covered. The 22 per cent reduction in time below the previous best timing London–Newcastle was a record long-distance acceleration for Great Britain. On 27 August 1936 the Silver Jubilee reached a top speed of 113mph in ordinary service. Passengers were subject to a supplement of 5s 0d in first class and 3s 0d for third.

This led the way to the blue and stainless steel Coronation for the 6-hour King’s Cross–Edinburgh service with a streamlined observation car at the rear, giving the general public the impression that for speed and the most up-to-date outlook the really progressive railway in 1937 was the LNER.

Following grouping, signalling was updated: for example, track circuiting and automatic signalling were installed between Bethnal Green, Hackney Downs, Enfield and Chingford, and from Gidea Park to Chelmsford and Southend. The important main line from outside York to Northallerton was similarly equipped. Between Alne and Thirsk these signals superseded the old Hall ‘normal danger’ automatic electro-gas semaphores installed in 1904. The ‘panel’ power interlocking arrangement in any scale was first seen at Thirsk in 1933. Route setting was introduced where the signalman no longer operated points and signals individually, but by one simple movement, made by turning a switch, set up an entire route and cleared the relative signals if it was safe to do so.

As an economical scheme for using old rolling stock, in 1933 the LNER introduced camp coaches to Great Britain, parking suitably adapted old vehicles on sidings at locations attractive to tourists, and letting them weekly for a reasonable sum. Holidaymakers were required to reach them by train. In 1937 the LNER converted and equipped ten more coaches for service at beauty spots in the north of England and Scotland, bringing the total in service on the LNER up to 116. In 1938 a touring camping coach was available for making a week’s tour of the Yorkshire dales and moors, starting and finishing in York. To relieve the pressure on accommodation in London for the Coronation week of King George VI, the LNER placed camping coaches on suitable sites in the suburbs. A coach for six people could be had for a rental of £10, this sum including a free ticket from that station to London every day for all six members of the party, the only additional expense being food.

As electricity rather than gas was being increasingly used in Britain for lighting and cooking, new power stations were springing up in various parts of the country. There was a need for a wagon that could carry and slew large stators. In the mid-1930s the LNER produced such a vehicle, consisting of five sections with a total of twenty-eight axles, supporting the central load by swinging cantilevers.

In 1933 the government offered low-interest loans for approved railway schemes, the LNER taking advantage of this by electrifying the heavily used freight main line from Manchester to Sheffield and Wath yard, and also lines in the London area, the latter involving the transfer of several routes to London Transport. Work on both schemes was suspended during the Second World War and most were completed after nationalisation.

In 1933 the LNER had more non-bogie passenger stock, 3,270, than any of the other companies; the GWR had 744, the LMS 961 and the SR 489. The GWR had 540 four-wheeled and 204 six-wheeled; the LMS 202 and 759 respectively; the LNER 436 and 2,834; and the SR 84 and 405. In 1934 six-wheeled passenger coaches were still in regular use in the Bradford area and trains of sixteen four-wheelers were used to conduct express excursions from Halifax to Bridlington and Scarborough, forming a contrast with the luxurious tourist buffet trains so frequently seen in the West Riding. Six-wheeled ‘lavatory’ coaches were comparatively frequent on ex-Great Eastern services in East Anglia, which offered passengers ‘main line’ comfort when travelling on a branch train.

In 1934 new reduced rates for railway passengers’ cars were particularly appreciated, with the early August rush to the Highlands which always preceded the grouse-shooting season. In one week no fewer than seventy-three cars were despatched from King’s Cross to Scotland and a fast train run each evening for the conveyance of motor cars, in order that they were available for their owners’ use in the Highlands by about noon the next day.

In the interests of safety, an engine driver was required to sign that he had knowledge of a particular route before he drove along it. In 1934 the LNER arranged to exhibit silent cinema films of different sections of the line as a useful aid to enginemen in memorising the exact position of signals on lines with which they were unfamiliar. The films were shot from the front of a saloon propelled at a speed of 20mph. This new method was to supplement the existing practice; the strictness of examination of men for driving positions was not relaxed by its introduction.

In 1935 the LNER arranged with the Director-General of the Ordnance Survey to exhibit maps at its stations which were popular with ramblers as starting points for walks. A total of 170 maps were provided for posting at that number of stations, the relevant copy of the 1-inch map, framed and glazed. Another station innovation that year was the installation of mechanical timetable machines at King’s Cross on No 10 platform and in the booking hall, and in the booking hall at Liverpool Street. On pressing the appropriate button, a card was displayed giving particulars of all train services to the desired destination.

June 1935 saw the introduction of a cinema van with performances similar to those given in a news theatre, placed in service on express trains between King’s Cross and Leeds. On 23 November 1935 the thousandth performance was given. In the intervening period the van had travelled 63,300 miles and the performances had been witnessed by over 16,000 passengers. On 2 March 1936 a cinema coach was introduced on the Leeds–Edinburgh service, embodying a number of improvements over the London–Leeds pioneer vehicle. This second coach was over 60ft in length and divided into two sections: one for the audience and the other for projection. Seats for fifty-two audience members were arranged in a double row on each side with the floor rising towards the rear. Projection was from the rear on to a frosted glass screen 4ft by 5ft. A 16mm projector was used, as by using a sub-standard-width machine it was possible to wind sufficient film on a spool for an hour’s performance and thus obviate the necessity of a second machine. Ventilation was such that smoking was permitted without causing inconvenience. The service ceased at the beginning of the war and was never reintroduced.

The Midland & Great Northern Joint Railway, with 183 miles of track, was the longest of the joint lines and since 1923 had been run by the LMS and LNER, but in 1936 it was relinquished by the former company, the LNER undertaking all of the local administration. This brought an interesting livery change as some ex-London & North Western Railway coaches were repainted from LMS red to LNER teak.

On 1 January 1937 second-class accommodation was abolished by the LNER on its London suburban services. This step, taken in preparation for the electrification of some lines, marked the completion, except for boat trains, of the elimination of second class which had been started in 1875 by the Midland Railway. Other companies gradually followed this lead: the Great Central in 1872, the Scottish lines in 1894, the North Eastern in 1899, the Great Western in 1910 and the Lancashire & Yorkshire in 1911. Apart from its London suburban and continental boat trains, the Great Eastern had abolished second class on 1 January 1893. They were retained in the London area largely for season ticket holders, as until 1937 third-class season tickets were unavailable. On 1 January 1937 prices of third-class season tickets were generally at a lower rate than the former second class, except where the second-class season tickets had been charged on an unusually low basis.

May 1937 saw an unusual number of special trains: the first day of the month was the date of the FA Cup Final, for which the LNER ran thirty excursions to King’s Cross and twenty to Marylebone, in addition to some trains being run direct to Wembley Hill and returning soon after the match. Then a week later, on the occasion of the Widnes versus Keighley Rugby League Cup Final, the LNER ran forty-eight excursions to London. Due to the London bus strike, on both days the railway had the responsibility of conveying a larger proportion than usual of spectators to Wembley.

Then on 12 May came the Coronation of King George VI. Many of the long-distance excursions from the north-east coast and the East and West Ridings of Yorkshire used Marylebone to save King’s Cross from being overcrowded. Bookings from the Midlands, Manchester and East Anglia were particularly heavy.

On Whit Monday, 17 May, it seemed at one time that the stock of passenger coaches would be insufficient to carry the enormous crowds leaving London; not only were the principal ordinary services from King’s Cross, Marylebone and Liverpool Street run in duplicate and even triplicate, but some of the returning excursion trains were in three or even four parts.

In 1937 the LNER ran twelve weekend cruises, the SS Vienna leaving Harwich every Friday night from 25 June until 10 September for various continental ports such as Amsterdam, The Hague, Rotterdam, Hamburg, Antwerp, Flushing, Zeebrugge, Le Havre and Rouen, as well as a mystery cruise.

The year 1937 saw the end of slip coach working on the LNER, whereby a coach was detached from the rear of a train just before a station in order to avoid the main train stopping. Following the withdrawal of the slips, at Finmere, Woodford, Waltham Cross and Marks Tey, the relevant trains stopped at the station.

In 1937, too, the LNER laid the very first 120ft-long rails on its Down main line at Holme, 7 miles south of Peterborough. Although longer rails had been produced by welding, these were the first of that length in one piece. They were rolled by the Skinningrove Iron Foundry, Saltburn, North Yorkshire, which had also produced the first 90ft-long rails, these being laid on the Down main line south of Thirsk.

In the same year, the LNER announced the electrification of the line between Liverpool Street and Shenfield, together with the contingent electrification of the line between Fenchurch Street and Stratford; this involved 25 route miles of 100 miles of single track. It used the 1,500V DC system with overhead current collection as recommended by the 1927 Pringle Committee and adopted for the LNER’s Sheffield–Manchester electrification. The density of the proposed electric service demanded the adoption of automatic and non-automatic multiple-aspect colour-light signalling together with power signalling on some sections of the route; however, the Second World War deferred completion until after nationalisation. In 1938 the South Tyneside line was electrified using the third-rail system for compatibility with the existing North Tyneside system. The trains of open-vestibule coaches were generally similar to the green and cream excursion coaches, but painted red and cream.

In variance to its ultra-modern image, in 1938 the LNER brought the ex-Great Northern Railway 4-2-2 No 1, designed by Patrick Stirling in 1870, out of its York Museum, put it in working order, collected a train of old six-wheeled coaches and ran special excursions which proved a brilliant commercial, as well as sentimental, success.

On 3 July 1938, just south of Grantham, No 4468 Mallard touched 126mph, thus smashing the Flying Scotsman’s 100mph of 4 years earlier, and exceeding the 124.5mph world speed record set in 1936 by the German DRG Class 05 002. Mallard marked the high point of steam technology and its record for a steam locomotive will probably never be beaten.

In contrast to its streamlined coaching stock, in 1938, on its Cambridge and Mildenhall branch, the LNER used a set train of ex-Great Eastern six-wheelers with centre corridors and end vestibules. These allowed a conductor to pass through the train selling tickets and had the additional advantage that passengers boarding at a halt with a very short platform could pass along the train to find a vacant seat after it had moved off. A further curiosity about the train was that a third-class compartment bore a conspicuous legend on its door, ‘Entrance to First Class’, this offering the only access to the first-class compartment.

LNER hotels, although adequate, were not so well appointed as those of the LMS and GWR, but were well patronised. The LNER had significant investments in bus companies, but unlike the other members of the Big Four was not interested in the development of air services.

Sir Ronald Matthews became chairman in 1938, and Sir Charles Newton, chief general manager in 1939.

As there was a very real danger that a plane might crash on a railway situated near an airfield, the LNER introduced its own automatic warning system, comprising trip wires along the side of a vulnerable length of track. These would be severed by a crashing aircraft and automatically switch on special colour-light signals to warn drivers of approaching trains.

In the summer of 1939 the LNER offered twenty-three start to stop runs with an average speed of 60mph or above; the Down Coronation to York made an average speed of 71.9mph for the 188.2 miles, the fastest booked run in the empire.

Due to the risk of colliers being attacked from air or sea, following the outbreak of the Second World War a huge tonnage of coal was diverted from coastal shipping to the railways. 1941 was the peak year when 10,034 coal trains were sent from the north-east and midlands coalfields. This caused a problem because many wagons in the north-east were designed for bottom-door discharge and destinations in the southern counties lacked the correct equipment for this method.

In an effort to cope with the large passenger numbers, express passenger trains became lengthy, sometimes loaded to twenty coaches, while on 31 March 1940, V2 class 2-6-2 No 4800 hauled a twenty-six-coach train carrying 1,300 passengers from Peterborough to King’s Cross and on arrival the last four coaches were still in Gasworks Tunnel. A Down express consisting of twenty-six coaches meant that the engine and first coach were not only beyond the platform, but well inside Gasworks Tunnel.

Many explosives were carried by rail, causing potential danger to railwaymen. On 2 June 1944, the eve of D-Day, Driver Ben Gimbert and Fireman Jim Nighthall were in charge of a train of bombs destined for US airbases in East Anglia. Approaching Soham, Cambridgeshire, flames could be seen coming from a wagon which had caught fire. Gimbert blew his whistle to alert the guard and gently applied the brake – a jerk could have caused the bombs on the wagon to explode and set off a chain of explosions.

He stopped 90yd short of Soham station and told his fireman to uncouple the burning wagon so that the locomotive could move it from the vicinity of houses. It was uncoupled and drawn towards open country, but after moving 140yd there was a fierce explosion. Nighthall was killed, but Gimbert, despite being blown 200yd, survived though injured.

Forty-four 500lb bombs had exploded, reducing the station to rubble and leaving a crater 15ft deep and 66ft across. Had Nighthall not detached that wagon, the whole town would have been destroyed. Both men were awarded the George Cross. The engine concerned, War Department 2-8-0 No 7337, received little damage and was repaired and subsequently sent to the Longmoor Military Railway, where it was withdrawn in 1967.

Of the 126 awards for conspicuous gallantry awarded to railway workers on duty, thirty-six were given by those on the LNER.
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4-6-2 No 4472 FIying Scotsman at the British Empire Exhibition, Wembley, opened on 23 April 1924. (Author’s collection)
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4-6-2 No 4472 Flying Scotsman and Eric Gill, of typeface fame. (Author’s collection)
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N7 class 0-6-2T No 9686, a type of locomotive found very satisfactory for working suburban passenger trains. Seen here around 1947 in wartime livery. (Author’s collection)
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K2 class 2-6-0 No 4685 Loch Treig assists a 4-4-0 out of Fort William, heading a train to Glasgow in September 1939. (E.J.H. Hayward)
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A Harwich to Zeebrugge train ferry at Harwich, 1924. The vessel originally plied across the English Channel in the First World War. (Author’s collection)
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Sir Nigel Gresley standing beside the streamlined A4 class Pacific No 4498 he designed, which was named after him. (Author’s collection)
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Midland & Great Northern Joint Committee engines had many Midland Railway features which can be seen on 4-4-0 No 17. (Author’s collection)
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Car No 1 on the LNER’s Cruden Bay Hotel electric tramway. No prizes for determining what the two passengers have been doing. The one in the foreground is Leonard Hyde, manager of the former Great North of Scotland Railway’s Inverurie Works, while behind is James Souter, works accountant. (Author’s collection)
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Armoured train D at Manningtree, February 1942. Nearest the photographer is the armoured wagon containing soldiers. To the left is a supply wagon followed by an ex-Caledonian Railway tender, carrying additional coal and water for the LNER F4 class 2-4-2T No 7178, with another truck and armoured wagon beyond. (Author’s collection)
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Plan of the Northern Belle rail cruise train.
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Sentinel steam railcar No 226 Ebor. Built in 1928, it was withdrawn in 1939. The railcar being capable of being driven from either end, its boiler is placed in the left-hand compartment.
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LNER LOCOMOTIVE DEVELOPMENT

A diesel-hydraulic locomotive of foreign manufacture was tested on the Great Eastern section in 1924. It was tried on shunting duties and worked a passenger train between London and Cambridge. It was found suitable for shunting, the Railway Magazine for September 1924 commenting:

It was clearly demonstrated that with the system of controls fitted, the type does not compare favourably with the steam locomotive where actual starting and rapidity of movement immediately following are concerned. The speed on the main line was necessarily low, the engine being primarily constructed for shunting operations and similar work, but both the engine and transmission were found to operate efficiently and with due regard to economy under the majority of conditions imposed during the test.

1925 was significant for the appearance of the 2-8-8-2 Garratt and the Class P1 2-8-2 with excellent adhesion and the use of a Pacific boiler; and with three cylinders and a booster on the trailing truck, it offered plenty of power. The Locomotive Exchange that year proved that a Castle was more economical than Gresley’s Pacific, so the latter was given long-travel valves with the result that coal consumption on 500-ton trains between King’s Cross and Doncaster was reduced from 50lb to 38lb per mile.

Although the French were keen on compounding, Gresley and his deputy Bulleid were unconvinced, both believing that it was time to increase boiler pressure above 180lb per square inch, preferring the smaller cylinders it permitted by simply strengthening the boiler. Their current 180lb was low compared with the 225lb of the Castle and Maunsell’s 220lb for his Lord Nelson, while in 1927 Sir Henry Fowler chose 250lb for his Royal Scot. Following interchange trials on the GWR, after satisfactorily modifying the valve gear, Gresley introduced a new boiler carrying 220lb pressure and with a 43-element superheater instead of 32 elements.

In 1929 Gresley produced No 10000, a four-cylinder compound 4-6-4 express engine, by adapting a high-pressure marine Yarrow water-tube boiler. It raised steam at 450lb per square inch and in it the ordinary functions of a locomotive boiler were reversed, the tubes containing water and being surrounded by the hot gases from the fire. The flow of steam from the boiler to the cylinders was improved by means of a larger steam pipe, a double blast pipe and a double chimney. It was necessary to mount the upper water-drum of the boiler at the highest practicable level, which took it up to the loading gauge limit and made it impossible to provide boiler mountings above the level of the drum, so the chimney was recessed at the front end and the curious front with its wings – an early approach to streamlining – provided to carry the exhaust up clear of the driver’s cab. Due to the secrecy surrounding its construction, it was known as the ‘hush-hush’ engine. It was the first 4-6-4 engine in Great Britain, though more strictly it was a 4-6-2-2 because the two rear axles, one with sliding axles of the Cartazzi type, were independent of one another and not mounted in a bogie truck. When No 10000 underwent test runs between Edinburgh and Perth, large crowds assembled at the various points to witness the arrival of the engine. The train was made up of thirteen carriages and represented a load of 406 tons.

Used in regular service and proving itself capable of considerable haulage power and high speed, it did not altogether satisfy expectations due to excessive coal consumption, uncertainty of performance and maintenance troubles due to the high steam pressure. This resulted in its being rebuilt in 1937 as a three-cylinder simple engine on the same lines as the A4 Pacifics but with a larger boiler and firebox; its tractive effort was 41,440lb. A novelty for British practice was the provision of a turbo-generator at the front of the engine to power the headlamps, lamps in the cab illuminating the water and pressure gauges, the Hasler speed indicator, and lights below the skirting and between the frames to facilitate the inspection of the motion at the shed and also floodlight the motion when the engine was running.

In 1930 Sentinel Waggon Works supplied a crane locomotive for use in connection with plants erected at some engine sheds to deal with locomotive ash. The ash was raked out of engines when they entered the shed, into a large pit below the rails, this crane being used to lift and remove the ashes. The jib had a radius of 16ft, which allowed it to work from a parallel line to a pit. It was capable of doing its own shunting and running at speeds of up to about 24mph along the main line from shed to shed, drawing a wagon containing the grab, the jib being stowed within the loading gauge limits. The locomotive portion was practically a standard Sentinel 100hp engine, the principal modification being that the engine was placed horizontally on the gear reduction box instead of vertically, in order to give room for the water tank above it. The crane portion was supplied by Henry J. Coles Limited. When not employed on ash work it was a very useful yard shunter and also a mobile crane.

In 1930 Gresley’s V1 class three-cylinder 2-6-2T appeared, with the boiler pressed to 180lb and the outer firebox of the round-top type. It had a screw-operated drop grate, operated from the cab. The cab was of ample proportions and the look-out particularly good in both directions.

A new express passenger engine was required for Edinburgh–Aberdeen trains, weighing 550 tons rather than the 480-ton limit of the Class A3 Pacifics. Gresley experimented with using the Class P1 2-8-2s on passenger trains and decided to use a similar design with 6ft 2in wheels and a larger boiler with pressure of 220lb per square inch, giving a tractive effort of 43,462lb. It had large, smoothed steam and exhaust passages and Kylchap double blast pipes and chimneys. No 2001 Cock o’ the North was fitted with Lentz rotary cam poppet valves and No 2002 with 9in piston valves worked by Walschaerts–Gresley gear.

In June 1934 with a 650-ton train, Cock o’ the North sailed over Stoke summit at 57mph. Taken to France, it worked well on the Paris–Orléans run. At the new Vitry testing plant it produced more smoke than French engines, Bulleid concluding that the fire was getting insufficient air for combustion. He suggested alterations to the damper and grate, but probably due to the cost, Gresley was disinterested. The Lentz gear proved unsatisfactory, offering a limited choice of cut-offs and being wasteful of coal and water; it was therefore decided to fit Walschaerts gear. Innovations were rotary-cam-operated poppet valves and the use of a semi-streamlined boiler casing, designed to overcome exhaust steam drifting down and obstructing a driver’s view. Reports came from Scotland saying that, although these new engines were doing the job for which they had been designed on the Edinburgh–Aberdeen service, they were heavy on coal, their axle boxes ran hot and the long wheelbase spread the track.

Gresley decided that the new Pacific required for the fast London–Newcastle service should be a streamlined locomotive, so in due course the A4 class No 2509 Silver Link appeared. The timing of the Silver Jubilee train required speeds of 70–75mph up 1 in 200 banks with a gross load of 235 tons. Changes from the A3 design included larger piston valves, higher boiler pressure and higher superheat. On 27 September 1935, only 3 weeks out of the shops, Silver Link twice reached 112½mph and sustained an average of 100mph for 43 miles. Then, on 3 July 1938, No 4468 Mallard achieved the record of 126mph. Gresley claimed that, at a speed in excess of 70mph, streamlining saved 65hp. An initial problem with the A4s was that their inside big-ends were prone to failure.

In 1936 Gresley brought out V2 class 2-6-2 No 4771 Green Arrow with three cylinders and a 220lb boiler, its 6ft 2in wheels making it suitable for mixed traffic duties including any express duty other than the streamlined trains. The trailing axle allowed a wide firebox to be fitted.

In 1937 a new six-coach set was constructed for the East Anglian service, of standard construction with teak-framed bodies on steel underframes. In both classes the seating had two passengers on one side of a central gangway and one on the other. Two three-cylinder 4-6-0 Sandringham class locomotives Nos 2859 and 2870, formerly Norwich City and Manchester City, were renamed East Anglian and City of London respectively and had streamlining added in a similar style to the A4s, but finished in the standard LNER green livery. In the 1930s turntables of the Great Eastern section of the LNER had been replaced by those of a larger diameter, those at Liverpool Street and Norwich Thorpe being dealt with early in order to cope with No 2859 and No 2870 with the longer 4,200-gallon tenders.

On 1 November 1937, eighteen steam locomotives from the former Metropolitan Railway were taken over by the LNER, as were its 270 goods wagons, because the LNER had taken over responsibility for steam working on the joint line between London, Watford, Chesham and Aylesbury, but London Transport retained thirteen older Metropolitan engines for use on works’ trains.

In 1937 Gresley brought out the K4 class 2-6-0 designed to avoid double-heading on the heavily graded West Highland line. To keep within the axle weight restrictions, it had a relatively small boiler with similar dimensions to that of the K2 class but three cylinders similar to those of the K3 class. Its wheels were 5ft 2in compared with the 5ft 6in of a K3.

Following the sudden death of Sir Nigel Gresley on 5 April 1941 (he had been knighted in 1936, the same year that Manchester University conferred upon him an honorary Doctorate of Science), Edward Thompson succeeded him as chief mechanical engineer. Probably Thompson’s best engine was his B1 4-6-0 of 1942, though his K1 2-6-0s and L1 2-6-4Ts gave excellent service and were built in large numbers. Thompson’s three-cylinder A2/3 class Pacifics differed from Gresley’s, their outside cylinders being in the rear of the bogie and thus giving a divided drive, and three sets of Walschaerts valve gear were used rather than Gresley’s derived motion. Thompson had long been critical of the derived motion for the inside cylinder and sought an independent opinion by asking Stanier, who signed a report on 8 June 1942, which had been written by E. S. Cox. He found an inherent defect which prevented Gresley’s gear from giving correct steam distribution to the inside cylinder. The idea was mechanically unsound because the inherent multiplication of play in the pins promoted the development of still further play by wear.

When Thompson rebuilt the first Gresley Pacific No 4470 Great Northern to form a prototype A1 class, locomotive enthusiasts were enraged; nevertheless he was a charming man. He retired on 30 June 1946 and his replacement was his deputy Arthur Peppercorn, who produced two classes of excellent Pacifics: the A1 class with 6ft 8½in driving wheels and the A2 class with 6ft 2in wheels, both excellent designs, powerful and free running, and among the finest examples of their type in Great Britain. On nationalisation he became CME of the Eastern and North Eastern regions and retired in 1949.

Due to the outbreak of war in 1939, work on the 1,500V DC electrification of the long, steep line between Manchester and Sheffield and Barnsley Junction and Wath was suspended. In preparation for its opening, in 1941 Gresley designed double-bogie electric mixed-traffic locomotive No 6999 for trial on the Manchester South Junction and Altrincham line. It was a large and powerful Bo-Bo weighing 88 tons, each axle driving a nose-suspended motor of 467hp, maximum tractive effort at starting being 45,000lb. As it was expected to draw passenger coaches in addition to coal trains, the locomotive was equipped with an electrically fired steam boiler for carriage heating. In the post-war period, as the Netherlands Railways were so short of locomotives, it went over on the Harwich–Zeebrugge ferry in September 1947, usually working between Utrecht and Eindhoven, and covering 335,000 miles before it returned after almost 5 years abroad. Dutch railwaymen nicknamed the locomotive Tommy and this name stuck, literally, on brass nameplates following its return in the 1952 summer.

An LNER curiosity was that the design of the smokebox door, fitted on all standard LNER engines built at Doncaster, apart from the streamliners, was different from that fitted to the standard Darlington-built engines. The Doncaster door had the straps of the hinges set fairly close together, with two plain ends on the hinge side, and the support of the hinges below each strap, together with a handrail horizontally across the door below the upper strap. A Darlington door had the straps wider apart, with forked ends to the strap on the hinge side, enclosing the supports in their forks, and a curved handrail passing around the top of the smokebox instead of across the door. The Doncaster door perpetuated the Great Northern tradition and Darlington the North Eastern practice.
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LNER PRINCIPAL NAMED TRAINS

The most famous LNER express was the Flying Scotsman, which began life in June 1862 and by 1923 ran from King’s Cross to Edinburgh in 8¼ hours. It received two new sets of carriages in 1924 including three articulated restaurant cars with cooking by electricity. As a 1-day experiment, in 1924 a silent feature film show was organised in a luggage van. From May 1928 the Flying Scotsman made the longest non-stop run in the world, 392.9 miles. As this was too long a journey for one crew, Gresley modified his eight-wheel tender with a narrow side corridor, through which the engine crew could be relieved half way by another pair who had been ‘riding on the cushions’. Gresley determined the width of the corridor by placing his dining room chairs close to the wall and squeezing through the gap. In addition to being paid double time, each crew was entitled to a free restaurant car meal. In 1929 a coach marshalled adjoining the restaurant cars contained a cocktail bar, a ladies’ retiring room and a unisex hairdresser.

The Aberdonian was not bound by the agreement of taking 8¼ hours from King’s Cross to Edinburgh and in 1923 covered the distance at night in 7¾ hours, Aberdeen being reached in 11 hours 5 minutes. Unlike many trains which were speeded in the 1930s, in 1939 the Aberdonian was more leisurely. Leaving King’s Cross at 7.30 p.m., it called at Grantham and reached York at 11.15 p.m., where its dining car was detached. At 1.14 a.m. it left Newcastle for the non-stop run of 124.5 miles to Edinburgh, where it arrived at 3.50 a.m. Here the train was divided and the sleeping cars and through coaches for Fort William, Inverness and Perth were detached. The stock destined for Fort William was worked to Glasgow to be attached to a Mallaig train, Fort William, 562½ miles from King’s Cross, being reached at 9.54 a.m.

The Perth and Inverness coaches left Edinburgh at 4.20 a.m. and worked non-stop over the 47¾ miles of steeply graded line to Perth, arriving at 5.28 a.m., to be combined with the Royal Highlander from Euston, the combined express leaving at 6.25 a.m. and reaching Inverness at 9.50 a.m.

In the meanwhile, the Aberdonian itself, which had left Edinburgh at 4.15 a.m., called at Dundee, Arbroath, Montrose and Stonehaven, arriving at Aberdeen at 7.30 a.m., having taken exactly 12 hours from King’s Cross. It was a very heavy train of approximately 500 tons, so took 55 minutes longer than in 1923 and 3 hours 20 minutes more than the best racing train of 1895. Demand for it was so great that in summer it ran in two sections and often in three. A Pacific headed the Aberdonian between London and Edinburgh, while onwards to Aberdeen a Class P2 2-8-2 specially designed by Sir Nigel Gresley for this difficult route was in charge.

The Up Aberdonian left Aberdeen at 7.35 p.m. and reached King’s Cross in 11 hours 50 minutes, calling at the same stations as it had when travelling Down, but south of York the Grantham stop was exchanged for Doncaster and Peterborough. Following the Second World War, the Aberdonian departed from King’s Cross at 7 p.m. and reached Aberdeen in 11 hours 50 minutes in summer, and 11 hours 53 minutes in winter.

The Great Eastern Railway had opened Parkeston Quay in 1883 and in the years after the First World War it was being used by packets to the Hook of Holland, Antwerp and Zeebrugge. Then the Zeeland Shipping Company, which had worked between Flushing and Queenborough on the Thames, to avoid problems caused by Thames fog, transferred first to Folkestone and then in 1927 to Parkeston Quay. A further service to use Parkeston Quay were the ships to Esbjerg; all these continental services required boat trains from Liverpool Street.

In 1924, for its Hook of Holland service, the LNER provided a new thirteen-coach train of standard stock. Including two Pullman cars, its weight was approximately 430 tons empty, or 455 tons loaded with passengers and luggage. This heavy train, hauled by Holden’s B12 class 4-6-0s, was required to run at an average speed of 50.4mph. This was quite an undertaking as it involved the initial climb of 1 in 70 to Bethnal Green, then Brentwood bank ending with 2 miles of 1 in 103, and slacks required through Stratford, Chelmsford and Colchester, with a dead slow speed at Manningtree where the Harwich branch diverged from the main line, a sharp incline hindering recovery of speed.

The year 1936 saw the introduction of an even more luxurious train for the Hook of Holland service, this having a 443-tare weight. Its thirteen vehicles consisted of a third-class brake, two second-class compartment coaches, an open second, a second-class restaurant car, a kitchen car, a first-class restaurant car, a semi-open first, a compartment first, two Pullmans and two bogie brakes, making a gross weight of about 500 tons. Timing was eased from 85 to 87 minutes for the 69 miles. It was usually headed by a Sandringham class three-cylinder 4-6-0.

In the 85-minute days, the Down Hook Continental left Liverpool Street at 8.30 p.m. and reached Colchester, 51.7 miles away, in 61 minutes, arriving at Parkeston Quay at 9.52 p.m. But after the slowing, the time was amended to an 8.15 p.m. departure from Liverpool Street and a Parkeston Quay arrival at 9.42 p.m. The Up Hook Continental left Parkeston Quay at 6.20 a.m. but as it encountered dense suburban traffic from Gidea Park onwards, a greater allowance had to be given and it was not scheduled to arrive at Liverpool Street until 7.53 a.m., giving a running time of 93 minutes. To allow for the steamer having been delayed by bad weather, alternative paths were laid down in the working timetable.

The Antwerp Continental left Liverpool Street at 8.40 p.m. and its schedule was exactly 10 minutes behind that of the Hook Continental. As it used the same platform at Parkeston Quay, staff there had to be particularly efficient to be ready to receive it, but when the Hook of Holland departure time was amended to 8.15 p.m., the Antwerp Continental took over the 8.30 path. As the Antwerp Continental continued on to Dovercourt Bay and Harwich, it carried ordinary passengers in addition to those travelling by sea.

In the 1930s, catering on the Antwerp Continental was given to the Pullman Car Company and three Pullman restaurant cars replaced the LNER cars. The train’s composition varied according to the season, but was a maximum of twelve vehicles in the summer, including four Pullmans – one was a drawing-room type – the train weighing about 390 tons.

The Flushing Continental was a similar train with a first-class Pullman car and restaurant cars. In 1939 it left Liverpool Street at 9.30 a.m., reached Parkeston Quay West at 10.55 a.m. and proceeded into Parkeston main station. The summer departure was 10 a.m., arriving at 11.30 a.m. at Parkeston Quay West and 11.38 a.m. at Parkeston Quay. The Up Flushing Continental left Parkeston Quay at 6.30 p.m. and Parkeston Quay West at 6.45 p.m. – sufficient time had to be given for boarding – terminating at Liverpool Street at 8.13 p.m. in winter. Summer departures were at 7.45 and 7.55 p.m. with a London arrival at 9.30 p.m.

Passengers for Esbjerg were catered for by the Scandinavian. During the winter months this was merely coaches coupled to the rear of the 3.10 p.m. Yarmouth buffet car express from Liverpool Street, being detached at Manningtree and run as an independent train to Parkeston Quay, arriving at 4.45 p.m. Then in the 1930s, the Scandinavian became an independent train with Pullman restaurant cars which left Liverpool Street at 4.10 p.m., reaching Parkeston Quay at 5.45 p.m. and terminating at Harwich at 6.06 p.m. The Up Scandinavian used one of the free conditional paths arranged in the working timetable to allow for the varying arrival time of the ship.

All the LNER continental services were withdrawn in September 1939; in November 1945 the Hook of Holland was reinstated, running thrice weekly, and daily a year later. Departure time from Liverpool Street was 8 p.m. and 100 minutes were allowed to Parkeston Quay. The thirteen-coach train, with a tare of about 460 tons, provided plenty of seats at tables because in the summer it was usual for between 150 and 200 breakfasts to be served.

During the ‘phoney war’ period, the three train ferries at Harwich served Calais rather than Zeebrugge, with the vessels used dating back to the First World War.

The ensuing popularity of the seven-coach streamlined Silver Jubilee train, introduced on 30 September 1935, showed that passengers wanted high speed and were prepared to pay extra to receive it, for it was booked to capacity day after day, and proved one of the most profitable services ever introduced by the LNER. Despite the demanding schedule of over 70mph for 464½ miles daily, 278 arrivals before time were recorded on the 498 journeys made by the train. It was the only train in the country on which daily maximum speeds of 90mph were necessary for timekeeping. During the first year’s working, gross receipts were 13s 11d per mile and operating expenses 2s 6d per mile. From the supplementary fares the total receipts of £12,000 represented no less than 35 per cent of the first cost of the train, which was £34,500. Due to the train’s popularity and the fact that it was booked to capacity day after day, in 1938 an additional silver and grey coach was built, converting a twin coach into a triplet, giving the train a tare weight of 254 tons. Sir Nigel Gresley reported that tests in the wind tunnel at the National Physical Laboratory had shown that the saving in power output due to the streamlining of Silver Link engines compared with the standard Pacifics amounted to 97hp at 80mph and 138hp at 90mph. The streamlined engines consumed an average 39lb of coal per mile, which was 4lb less than an ordinary Pacific.

Streamliners proving so popular, in 1936 it was decided to introduce a second; thus in July 1937 the Coronation train was inaugurated, named in honour of the Coronation of King George VI and Queen Elizabeth. The weight of the nine-coach Coronation was 312 tons, 42 per cent heavier than the Silver Jubilee seven-coach train, yet the same point-to-point timings were required. The special set of coaches was striking: its enamelled exterior was in two shades of blue – light-blue upper panels and the darker garter blue for the lower ones. The train comprised two sets of quadruple articulated coaches with an interesting single coach at the rear. This was a beaver tail design and a reverse to the front of the Bugatti-style streamlined locomotive, and wind-tunnel tests showed it reduced the air resistance caused by the suction of an ordinary square-ended coach. The spotless end windows at the conclusion of the first run showed the effectiveness of the profile, as even at the highest speeds, no eddy currents were raised behind the train. As the risk of a rear lamp being extinguished on a high-speed train was slightly greater, all the LNER streamliners carried two tail lamps. Fairings of specially prepared rubber sheeting covered all the gaps between the coach bodies, so that the train displayed an unbroken smooth surface from end to end.

Data from Gresley’s research were used when designing the Class 180 Adelante diesel-hydraulic multiple-unit (DMU) passenger trains, whose ends were closely based on his observation cars. Gresley’s rear coach doubled as an observation car and was given loose armchairs, passengers of both classes being able to use it after paying a shilling for an hour’s viewing in a wonderful art-deco environment. Two kitchen cars were provided, for first- and third-class passengers, in order to allow all passengers to be served at their seats, as was Pullman practice. For the first time in Great Britain a train was given air conditioning, the air being changed every 3 minutes. As each coach was given double glazing and acoustic blankets, travel was almost silent, aided by the fact that the cutlery had flat handles so that there was no rattling when the tables were laid. Every first-class seat was in an alcove and a table tapered so that a passenger could swing his chair and enjoy the view.

The Down Coronation left King’s Cross at 4 p.m., thus allowing a businessperson almost an entire working day, and yet could be in Edinburgh at the reasonable hour of 10 p.m. Between London and York the Coronation was required to cover the 188.2 miles in 157 minutes, the start to stop average speed of 71.9mph being the fastest in the British empire. Initially the 204.7 miles between York and Edinburgh were covered non-stop, but as the Up Coronation called at Newcastle, it was soon realised that this important city should not be overlooked on the Down run, so, still within the 6 hours, a stop was made. The 80.2 miles York–Newcastle were run in 77 minutes, arriving at 7.57 p.m. At 8 p.m. the Coronation left on the final 124.5 miles, for which it was allowed 2 hours.

The Up Coronation left Edinburgh at 4.30 p.m., arriving in Newcastle at 6.30 p.m.; leaving at 6.33 p.m., it then ran non-stop to King’s Cross, arriving at 10.30 p.m. A similar coach set in the same livery was built for the West Riding Limited, but it had only eight coaches – an observation car was out of the question due to the train’s reversal at Leeds Central.

Despite the supplementary fare of 6s 0d first class and 4s 0d third class, the Coronation was often filled to capacity. In the winter, because the journey was made after dark, the observation car was omitted, thus reducing the weight to 278 tons. Unlike its two streamlined companions, the Silver Jubilee and West Riding Limited, the Coronation required two trains for its daily service, so to cover for a set going to works for overhaul, a fifth streamlined set was built. With the outbreak of war in September 1939, the streamliners were withdrawn and the sets stored, but subsequently they were split up and utilised on ordinary trains.

Five streamlined A4 class Pacifics were dedicated for working the Coronation: No 4488 Union of South Africa, No 4489 Dominion of Canada, No 4490 Empire of India, No 4491 Commonwealth of Australia and No 4492 Dominion of New Zealand. No 4489 Dominion of Canada was fitted with a Canadian Pacific Railway (CPR) whistle and also a CPR bell. One enthusiastic driver put it to such good use that, one day, as it was passing through a Hertfordshire station, the fire brigade turned out. To prevent a repetition the LNER wisely rendered the bell inoperative.

The introduction of the 1947 winter timetable in October saw the morning express from Sheffield to Marylebone named the Master Cutler. It was a popular service because it provided a faster time between the two cities than the LMS, so consisted of ten or eleven coaches. It left Sheffield at 7.35 a.m., only called at Rugby and reached Marylebone at 11.15 a.m. The return working left Marylebone at 6.15 p.m., called at Rugby and reached Sheffield at 10.02 p.m. It was often worked by a B1 class 4-6-0.

The LNER made an interesting innovation in June 1933 when it began what was a land cruise over much of its system. For £20, which amounted to about 8 weeks’ wages for the average person, passengers received luxurious travel, mouth-watering meals, extensive rail mileage and superb scenery on board the Northern Belle. The train of fourteen vehicles was really a hotel on wheels and consisted of six sleeping cars with berths for the sixty passengers who made up the party; two restaurant cars seating sixty, a kitchen car; two lounge cars with buffet, hairdressing salon, ladies’ retiring room, writing rooms and the train’s office; two cars for train staff accommodation; and a luggage brake with a locker for each passenger.

Itineraries varied, but that run in each of the 4 weeks of June 1934 was typical. It left King’s Cross at 9 p.m. on a Friday, a Pacific working the train to a siding at Wetherby, Yorkshire, where the night was spent. The next morning, two K3 class 2-6-0s worked the train to Harrogate where charabancs took passengers to Harrogate and Ripon, the Northern Belle meeting them at the latter town and taking them to Barnard Castle on the border of Yorkshire and Durham for the night. Due to the severe gradients over the Pennines to Penrith, it was essential to split the train into its day and night sections and work it forward as two trains. From Penrith passengers enjoyed a charabanc tour of the Lake District and then boarding their train, now back to its fourteen vehicles, ran over the LMS to Carlisle. There it regained LNER metals to travel over the Waverley route to Corstorphine, east of Edinburgh, where the rail cruisers spent Sunday night.

Following a day in Edinburgh, the Northern Belle ran up the east coast main line to Montrose, stopping on the Inverbervie branch for part of the night before steaming to Aberdeen for a charabanc tour of Deeside and Braemar. Tuesday night was spent running from Aberdeen to Balloch on Loch Lomond, where passengers boarded a steamer which took them northwards to Ardlui. There they boarded the day section of their train, taking them along the scenic West Highland line to Mallaig before returning them back to Fort William to meet the sleeping car section, where Wednesday night was spent. To reach Fort William, each of the sections had required two Glen class 4-4-0s.

On Thursday the day section of the train took the party from Fort William to Craigendoran to enjoy a trip on the LNER SS Waverley to the Kyles of Bute and back to Craigendoran, where the two sections were united. Two Director class 4-4-0s drew them to Edinburgh, where a Pacific and an ex-Great Northern 4-4-0 took over. In turn, these were replaced at Newcastle by an A3 class Pacific which took the train forward to arrive at King’s Cross at 10.24 a.m. on Friday. The rest of the day was spent preparing the train for the cruise starting that evening.

When the Great Eastern Railway, with its Parkeston Quay Pullman car services, became part of the LNER in 1923, as a considerable period of the agreement with the Pullman Car Company was still operable, it was wondered whether they could earn a greater profit if used elsewhere. They were retained for the boat trains, but the other cars became a set designated the Harrogate Pullman, to run between King’s Cross, Leeds, Harrogate and Newcastle that summer. Taking 3 hours 25 minutes each way between King’s Cross and Leeds, it offered the best time ever between London and Leeds and the longest non-stop run on the LNER.

The Down Harrogate Pullman, consisting of two first-class and four third-class cars, left King’s Cross at 11.15 a.m., exactly the same time as the Up train left Harrogate. The Down train reached Leeds at 2.40 p.m. and, following reversal, climbed and curved to Harrogate, arriving at 3.25 p.m. Leaving at 3.30 p.m., it called at Ripon and Darlington before a 5 p.m. arrival at Newcastle. On its Up journey the Harrogate Pullman left Newcastle at 9.20 a.m. and called at Darlington, Ripon and Harrogate on its way to Leeds. Leaving there at 11.50 a.m., it reached King’s Cross at 3.15 p.m.

In 1925 the final destination was changed to Edinburgh, with an intermediate stop at Berwick, the whole journey taking 8 hours 35 minutes. The Up departure from Edinburgh at 8.30 a.m. meant that the Harrogate departure was not 1.05 p.m., Leeds 1.40 p.m. and the King’s Cross arrival 5.05 p.m. In September 1929 an all-Pullman express ran from King’s Cross at 11.10 a.m. to Leeds and Bradford, this allowing the Harrogate Pullman to run the 198.8 miles non-stop; it now left at 11.20 a.m. and arrived in Harrogate at 3.03 p.m. Edinburgh was reached at 7.35 p.m. in 8¼ hours. In the Up direction it left at 8.30 a.m., reached Harrogate at 1.05 p.m. and arrived at King’s Cross at 4.45 p.m.

In May 1928 a train of seven new all-steel Pullman cars was placed on the service, renamed the Queen of Scots, and left King’s Cross at 11.15 a.m. Extended from Edinburgh to Glasgow, it arrived at Queen Street, for a total of 450.8 miles, at 8.45 p.m. The Up Queen of Scots left Glasgow at 10.05 a.m. and Edinburgh at 11.15 a.m., reaching King’s Cross at 7.35 p.m.

Between London and Leeds, the Director class 4-4-0s were successful but had little in reserve, the best engines for the job being the ex-Great Northern Ivatt 4-4-2s, though latterly these were replaced by Pacifics and a Pacific usually worked the train north of Leeds.

The success of the Harrogate Pullman suggested other possibilities and in June 1924 the Sheffield Pullman was launched, leaving King’s Cross at 11.05 a.m. and, hoping for Nottingham custom, called there from 1.28 to 1.32 p.m., before terminating at Sheffield at 2.20 p.m. After being cleaned it left at 4.45 p.m. before arriving at King’s Cross at 8.00 p.m. Passenger uptake was not to expectations, so the service was revamped basing the Pullman at Sheffield, which it left at 10.30 a.m., reaching King’s Cross at 1.45 p.m. and returning at 6.05 p.m., with a 9.20 p.m. arrival at Sheffield. As Nottingham displayed no interest in the Pullman, in April 1925 it ceased to call and ran to Manchester Central, which it reached at 10.12 p.m., return time being 11.03 a.m. with a King’s Cross arrival at 2.00 p.m. Still poorly patronised, it was withdrawn in September 1925, the set becoming the Queen of Scots.

Major Accident

Before a driver took an engine over a particular section of track, he was required to sign that he knew the road; even so, there was always the possibility that he might make some error which could prove to be fatal. An example of this happened at Darlington on 27 June 1928. At 10.45 p.m. an Up passenger and parcels train stopped at the south end of Platform 1 at Bank Top station, Darlington. It was hauled by B16 class 4-6-0 No 2369 with Driver Bell and Fireman McCormack on the footplate. After the passengers had been discharged, No 2369 moved to a parallel line to pick up ten vehicles – carriage trucks, horse boxes and vans – which were to be shunted over to Platform 1 and attached to the rear portion of the train left there. This parallel line eventually led to the main through avoiding lines, which enabled fast trains to avoid Bank Top station.

When the small arm of the calling-on signal was lowered, Driver Bell correctly moved forwards, but this signal did not allow him to proceed on to the main line; for this a further signal had to be pulled off and this stood at danger. Unfortunately, Driver Bell had the impression that the calling-on signal authorised him to proceed to the main line before setting back into Platform 1.

Shunter Michael Morland, riding in the third van, was aware of the limitation of the calling-on arm and, when he realised that his train was not stopping short of the main line, opened the Westinghouse brake valve. He believed that this action would remind the driver that he needed to stop, so he released the brake valve to let the driver take control. When Shunter Morland realised that they were overrunning the signal, he opened the valve and stopped the train, but by this time they were out on the main line.

Almost immediately No 2369 was struck head-on at 45mph by a return excursion train from Scarborough to Newcastle, consisting of ten bogie coaches headed by 4-4-2 No 2124. Ten of these coaches had electric lighting, so no fire broke out, but there was severe telescoping. The underframe of the third coach sliced through five crowded compartments of the second coach, causing the deaths of twenty-five passengers, while forty-five others were seriously injured.

At the ensuing inquiry, Colonel J.W. Pringle, inspecting officer for the Ministry of Transport, stated that driver Bell’s knowledge of signalling was insufficient to enable him to read correctly the signals in a yard with which he was unacquainted and that he should have asked for advice from local staff. Colonel Pringle believed that something more than a signature in a Road Book should be required as evidence that a driver was properly qualified to work over a particular route. He acknowledged that a calling-on arm in such a situation was confusing and suggested the substitution of a single three-aspect colour-light signal, where the yellow ‘caution’ would replace the calling-on signal. He also recommended the use of buck-eye couplings to prevent overriding and consequent telescoping.
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THE SOUTHERN RAILWAY

The Southern Railway had the most apt name as it covered the southern coast as far as Exmouth, also serving Plymouth and with lines to the North Devon and North Cornwall coast. In addition to the substantial holiday traffic, the SR had a vast commuter service to and from London, the suburban area extending 20 or 30 miles out and forming a very complicated network of lines. To ease the difficulty of handling this dense traffic, the busiest lines had already been electrified and the SR planned to extend the system. The company also carried large numbers of London business people living in Brighton, Folkestone, Margate and elsewhere, who travelled to the city daily.

The SR was essentially a passenger line, but carried goods traffic to and from Southampton docks, which was owned by the railway. Traffic included flowers, fruit and vegetables from the Channel Islands. Other flower, fruit and vegetable traffic originated in Hampshire and Devon. Apart from a few collieries on the Kent coast, there were no others in SR territory, so that much of the coal conveyed was brought from the north and west. The SR also carried goods traffic to and from the Continent.

Although the SR’s mileage of 2,200 was small compared with the other three railways, it owned 2,258 locomotives, about 500 electric coaches and almost 8,000 other passenger vehicles, conveying annually about 200 million passengers, apart from the journeys of 170,000 season-ticket holders. Its 40,000 goods wagons carried almost 20 million tons of freight. Engine miles for all traffic amounted to approximately 63 million. The LSWR was the SR’s largest constituent company. The SR had far more termini in London than the rest of the Big Four. There were Waterloo, Victoria, London Bridge, Charing Cross, Cannon Street, Blackfriars and Holborn Viaduct, and until 1929 Ludgate Hill. A curiosity was that it had two towns called Ashford in its area – Ashford, Kent, and Ashford, Middlesex – and also two named Gillingham – Gillingham, Dorset, and Gillingham, Kent. Another problem was that the LSWR and SECR had used vacuum brakes, whereas the LBSCR favoured the Westinghouse compressed air.

As on the LNER, initially the SR retained the locomotive numbers of its three constituent companies, and prefixed letters thus:

E was added to the numbers of London & South Western engines and coaches. Eastleigh was the home of the locomotive works.

A (Ashford) was added to the numbers of South Eastern & Chatham engines and coaches.

B (Brighton) was added to the numbers of London, Brighton & South Coast engines and coaches.

W was used for Isle of Wight engines.

SR engines and coaches were painted green, similar to the latest LSWR livery.

Initially the general managers of the three constituent companies remained in their posts in 1923, but at the end of that year Sir William Forbes of the LBSCR and Sir Percy Tempest of the SECR retired, leaving Sir Herbert Walker, ex-LSWR, in charge. Interestingly, the SR’s house journal, the Southern Railway Magazine, at its masthead stated that it incorporated the South Western Railway Gazette, but in a praiseworthy effort to bring employees of the various companies together, it included articles on the predecessors of the SR.

The SR was the first of the Big Four to establish a publicity department. It was certainly necessary because the SR was not famed for timekeeping, giving rise to the limerick:


A man with a death-wish design

Lay down on the Southern main line,

But he died of ennui

For the 3.43

Didn’t come till a quarter past nine.



Early in 1925 John Blumenfeld Elliot, who had been employed on the New York Times and the Daily Express and was currently assistant editor of the Evening Standard, was appointed to a post specially created for him at Waterloo.

Brigadier-General the Hon. Everard Baring, chairman of the SR, asked Walker: ‘What are you going to call him?’

Walker replied, ‘Nothing!’

Baring replied, ‘Something!’

Elliot himself suggested Public Relations Officer. He proved excellent at keeping the SR in the public eye, writing readable accounts of the company’s improvements: electrification, new equipment, track renewals and improved services. It was decided that all new express engines would be named, the first being the King Arthur class.

In his new department, John Elliot, in addition to encouraging holidaymakers, promoted housing developments with such posters as ‘Live in Kent and be Content’ and ‘Live in Surrey free from Worry’. Booklets were printed, such as Southern Homes in the Kentish Hills and Southern Homes on the Conqueror’s Coast, thus encouraging more passengers to become season-ticket holders. In the summer of 1929 the SR introduced weekly tickets for travel in various holiday zones, the idea proving very popular. In 1930 it extended their issue to cover twelve different areas, a third-class ticket priced at 10s 6d. On the Isle of Wight, an ‘All-Island’ ticket was available covering all stations for 7 days for 10s 6d first class and 7s 6d third class, with children under 14 half price.

During the latter half of 1924 and the first half of 1925, there were serious complaints of overcrowding due to the fact that hundreds of carriages had been withdrawn from service to be converted to electric traction.

In 1925 the number of shunting miles per 100 train miles was about 8 miles for passenger trains, but an amazing approximately 101 miles for goods trains. This non-revenue mileage could only be explained if returning the empties mileage was included as shunting miles.

One of the last branch lines in Britain opened on 20 July 1925. This was the Totton, Hythe & Fawley Light Railway, passing down the western side of Southampton Water and serving an oil refinery which became of growing importance. The inaugural train was not of the latest stock but an Adams 0415 class 4-4-2T, an 1885 design hauling some antique London, Chatham & Dover coaches.

On 4 May 1926, the first day of the General Strike, the SR managed to work 174 trains, and by 10 May it had increased the number to 1,069, reaching 1,620 on 14 May, the last day of the strike. Electric trains were able to run thanks to naval stokers in the power stations. Although Lord Montague was keen on cars and suggested converting railways into motorways, he also liked to drive locomotives. The General Strike gave him this chance and on arrival at Waterloo an old lady awarded him sixpence ‘for defying his union’.

Until 1929 SR power signalling used mechanical locking between the miniature levers on the frames, but that year, at North Kent East Junction, electric locking was substituted and from then onwards became standard practice on the SR and found favour elsewhere.

In 1930 an SR poster featured ‘Sunny South Sam’ with the caption ‘Why Do They Call Me Sunny South Sam? Because – the Sun Shines Most on the SOUTHERN Coast’. Unfortunately for the publicity department, 2 months after these posters appeared, the actor depicted died and they had to be removed.

In 1930 the report of the Channel Tunnel Company appeared. It stated that there was no certainty as to whether the geological and engineering difficulties of the project could be overcome until a pilot tunnel had been cut right across, and it was estimated that this would take 5 years. The cost would be £30,900,000 just for the tunnels, further investment being required for stations, customs facilities, electric locomotives and rolling stock suitable for both English and Continental gauges. Sir Herbert Walker, general manager of the SR, said:

Taking a long view, I am of the opinion that the Southern Railway should ultimately benefit by the building of the tunnel, but from the national point of view, I am in accord with the conclusion arrived at by Lord Ebbisham. I think the tunnel will take more money out of this country than it will ever bring into it. I am, moreover, unable to agree with the Committee’s estimate of the number of passengers [2,357,000] who would be likely to make use of the tunnel in 1938, provided the tunnel is constructed and in use by the beginning of that year.

By 1930 the SR owned the Southern National bus company and Southern Vectis on the Isle of Wight, and held shares in the Aldershot & District, Devon General, East Kent Road Car, Hants & Dorset, Maidstone & District, Southdown, Thames Valley and the Wilts & Dorset. The number of lorries and vans owned rose from 278 in 1929 to 757 in 1939. By 1931 the SR steamer fleet consisted of forty-four ships on cross-Channel services and twelve on the Isle of Wight ferries.

With the formation of the Railway Air Services on 21 March 1934, on 30 July 1934 the SR and GWR established a joint service linking Birmingham, Bristol, Southampton and Cowes, and in 1937 the SR and GWR invested in a service to the Channel Islands.

The very last Sentinel steam railcar to be placed in service in Great Britain appeared on the SR in 1933. Officially designated a ‘rail bus’, it was for use on the steeply graded Brighton–Dyke branch. With a standard 100hp boiler it was one of the few compound engines built. The engine was fitted on the leading bogie, driving through a cardan shaft and reduction gearing. The wheels had external brake drums with road pattern brake shoes inside. As it was fitted with a mechanical stoker and automatic feed water regulator, it saved the wages of a fireman. The bodywork was of bus design, seated forty-four passengers and its roof ends were streamlined. Tests were made on its delivery run from Birmingham to Brighton on Sunday, 19 March 1933. It achieved a speed of 61mph and its acceleration was phenomenal. Over the 109 miles from Birmingham to Willesden, including 45 minutes of standing time, it consumed 4¾cwt of coal, or 4.88lb per mile, and 315 gallons of water. The car began service on the Dyke branch on 1 May 1933. One day, heavily overloaded, its frame broke. After repair at Brighton works, it was transferred to the Westerham branch, which it operated until withdrawal in 1936.

In 1933 a start was made on the plan for main-line electrification by extending it to Brighton and Worthing, followed by Eastbourne and Hastings in 1935, to Portsmouth by the ex-LSWR route in 1937, and by the ex-LBSCR route in 1938.

An innovation on 27 August 1934 was opening a news theatre at Waterloo station. The programme was continuous and lasted for about an hour. For the convenience of passengers, if the paybox cashier was informed, a train arrival time and the platform number could be shown beside the screen. The theatre was designed by Alastair MacDonald, the Prime Minister’s son, a mirror being used instead of the usual screen and a stereoscopic illusion created in the reflected picture. The film itself was more clearly defined, as the reflected picture avoided distortion. This was the first instance of its use.

In March 1935 the SR chairman, Sir Herbert Walker, wrote in the Financial News that in 1934 electric train miles on his line amounted to 26 million, compared with 10 million train miles of steam services displaced. The cost of converting 350 route miles had been about £12 million; passenger receipts on these lines had been £6,211,374, an increase of £1,850,000 on the last year of steam, yet with an increase of only £164,000 in working costs.

For the Naval Review at Spithead on 16 July 1935, the SR ran 102 additional trains conveying about 30,000 passengers and used eighteen of the company’s steamers in transporting this traffic between Portsmouth or Southampton and Spithead. A special 98-page book of instructions regarding the special arrangements and a 54-page carriage working book were issued to the staff.

On 29 September 1935 the SR closed its 1ft 11½in-gauge Lynton & Barnstaple line. Being narrow gauge, the Lynton & Barnstaple had been unaffected by grouping, but as it was then just about profitable, the SR purchased it for £39,267 on March 1923. However, despite improvements made, the line was unable to compete with the growth of road transport and eventually the expense of the required track renewal caused its closure.

On 30 September 1935 the SR opened a new station to serve Gatwick airport, with special access between the two modes of transport. A special feature of the station was that, although initially platforms were only provided for local trains, the layout allowed for additional platforms to serve the through lines.

For the final rehearsal of the Coronation on Sunday, 9 May 1937, seventy special trains were run between 5 a.m. and 7 a.m., carrying 40,000 passengers. Then on Coronation Day, 12 May, the SR operated a 24-hour train service starting at 3 a.m., and from then until 7 a.m., 310 special trains arrived at the SR’s London termini; by 9.00 a.m. almost 150,000 passengers had passed through the barriers. To cater for the 11,000 school children travelling to see the procession, ordinary train services were supplemented by eight specials. To line the route, 3,000 sailors and marines were carried from Chatham, Portsmouth and Devonport in seven special trains, while 20,000 troops were brought from Aldershot, Dover, Shornecliffe and elsewhere in forty-five specials. Foreign delegations and visitors from abroad arrived at Victoria and Waterloo in the days before the Coronation, and a total of fifty-one parties were carried, necessitating seventeen special trains, while over fifty special boat expresses brought Coronation passengers from twenty-eight ocean liners in the first ten days of the month.

For the Whitsun weekend, starting on Saturday, 15 May, sixteen excursions, four originating from LMS stations, were run to enable people to see the fleet assembled at Spithead for the Naval Review. Most of the seventy-four specials for the review itself left Waterloo and Victoria stations on 20 May, being timed to arrive before midday, but some ran on the previous day with spectators who watched the review from larger vessels which had special positions in a reserved anchorage; a total of 35,000 passengers were carried. An electric train composed of new stock was run Victoria–Portsmouth and formed the very first electric train to carry passengers on this route. On 19 May the king and queen travelled from Victoria to Cosham, from where they travelled through beflagged streets to Portsmouth Harbour.

In the summer of 1937 the SR placed in service what was claimed to be the world’s most efficient weed-killing train. It was the outcome of prolonged investigation and experience gained over the years experimenting with various designs. This latest train consisted of eight vehicles: a goods brake van; three ex-locomotive tenders containing enough chemical concentrate for 128 miles; three tenders containing enough water for 40 miles; and a six-wheeled equipment van. The advantage of the system was that, as water and chemical were carried in separate vehicles, with mixture of the two taking place in the equipment van, water could be taken en route whenever the opportunity occurred, thus greatly extending the range of the train.

The train, when spraying, operated at a speed of 28mph and could be pulled or pushed; headlights were fitted for night work. Equipment in the van consisted of two drum metering pumps, geared together and driven through a clutch and countershaft by a V-rope off one of the vehicle’s axles. The pump delivered the water and chemical to a mixing chamber where they became a 3 to 1 solution, which passed through the controls to eight spraying nozzles at a pressure of approximately 30lb per square inch. Rail guards prevented any spray getting on the rails. The SR sprayed about 1,000 miles of track annually.

During the Second World War, in addition to building new locomotives and repairing existing stock, SR works built 172 launches and landing craft, 500 fitted-out bodies for mobile workshop lorries, 200 Horsa glider tail-planes, 80 bomb trolleys, 1,510 2-pounder gun barrels, 240 2-inch rocket-gun assemblies, pontoon bridges and many railway vehicles.

Regarding coaches, by the end of 1938 Bulleid and L. Lynes of the carriage and wagon department had designed curved body sides and flush windows to gain a few inches and enable six, instead of five, passengers to sit side by side; ‘even six of my own ample proportions’, remarked the chairman at the 1939 annual meeting. The carriage livery of dark green had changed to malachite the previous year. It came about because in 1936 Sir Herbert Walker with three fellow officers, when travelling to the Isle of Wight, discussed a colour scheme. After lunch Walker went into an optician’s where reels of spectacle cord were displayed. He emerged with a length of malachite green cord, cut off a length for each officer and proclaimed, ‘Now, argument shall cease; that will be the colour Southern engines and coaches shall be painted in future. This reel shall remain in my office safe as the standard to which reference shall be made.’ This meant that when Bulleid was appointed chief mechanical engineer in 1937, the livery had been made inevitable by a manager who had retired a fortnight before he was appointed.

The Waterloo & City line was peculiar in that it provided the only example of a tube railway worked by Sykes lock-and-block signalling. The line was completely revamped in 1940 when AC track circuiting was installed together with the automatic operation of crossovers at Bank station using pneumatic mechanisms.

The SR played an important part in the evacuation of 319,000 troops from Dunkirk between 27 May and 4 June 1940: the GWR provided 40 trains, the LMS 44, the LNER 47 and the SR 55, making a total of 156 trains with a total of almost 2,000 coaches. 327 of these evacuation trains left Dover, 82 from Ramsgate, 75 filled with troops from Margate, plus 25 ambulance trains; 64 troop trains left Folkestone and 17 from Sheerness. Holding points for the empty trains were at Faversham, Margate, Queenborough and Ramsgate, though at one time the system was so congested that four had to be held at Willesden. The bottleneck was Redhill where trains had to cross those to Brighton on a flat junction, while a shortage of water for the locomotives added to the problem, as did the disposal of 300 tons of ashes. The SR lost five vessels at Dunkirk and Dieppe.

For the first 9 months of war, the Channel Islands were almost unaffected, SR ships carrying early potatoes to England as usual, but with the fall of France in 1940, it was obvious that the islands would be almost impossible to defend, so evacuation was offered to women, children and the men willing to join the armed forces. From 17 to 28 June 1940, five SR cargo ships carried 8,000 passengers from Jersey, 17,000 from Guernsey and 1,500 from Alderney, yet despite the partial evacuation of the islands, the SR continued to operate its service. When on 27 June 1940 the SS Isle of Sark was attacked at Guernsey, although it was undamaged, this was an indicator that the service should be withdrawn.

In an effort to disperse a locomotive’s exhaust and thus reduce visibility to German aircraft, in November 1940 4-6-0 No 783 Sir Gillemere was fitted with a triple jet blast pipe and three chimneys side by side. This resulted in the exhaust being no less visible, but the roofs of tunnels much cleaner!

Following the evacuation of Dunkirk it was believed that the beaches in North Devon near the mouth of the Taw offered potential sites for a German invasion. To assist the defence of this area it was decided to move Armoured Train F from Ashford, where it had been patrolling the Ashford–Hastings–Lewes line, to Barnstaple. Motive power was provided by ex-LNER F4 class 2-4-2T No 7077, which was maintained by SR staff at the Barnstaple Junction shed, the Royal Engineers providing the driver and fireman. By the spring of 1942 fears of the south-west peninsula being invaded had receded, so the armoured train was moved to Tilbury on 20 April 1942.

Dover was shelled by long-range guns and five railwaymen were killed. Long-range rail-mounted guns on the SR fired back a few rounds before moving on to a new firing point before enemy plotters could seek the range.

On 10 July 1940 a train near Newhaven was bombed, killing the driver and injuring the guard. On 7 September, a bomb on the approach to Waterloo completely closed the station for 12 days. To avoid damage to rolling stock by air raids, some was dispersed overnight to safe places – for example, from October 1941 until May 1944 at Brighton electric multiple units were shunted in and out of Kemp Town Tunnel by a steam locomotive, and likewise coaches at Dover to the nearby tunnel.

Railwaymen could work surprisingly quickly. On 2 October 1943 the SR Exeter divisional superintendent received a phone call from the US Army asking for a temporary siding on the Exmouth branch in order to unload 150 wagons arriving from the north. By 7 October the sidings, reached by a new embankment, had been laid and signalling installed. Another wartime installation was at Lockerley on the Salisbury to Romsey line, where the US Army Supply Depot required 15 miles of sidings and 134 large sheds. One great advantage of the SR’s density of lines was the ease of setting up diversionary routes when lines were damaged or overcrowded: for example, there were no fewer than 136 routes from the London area to Folkestone.

In order to maximise seating, first class was withdrawn from London suburban trains on 6 October 1941. The former first-class compartments became the most popular part of a train and after a period this popularity caused a noticeable deterioration in their condition. About that date the practice began of reserving the end compartment in each three-coach unit for ladies only.

In 1941 two electric locomotives CC1 and CC2 made their appearance, the mechanical parts built by the SR and electrical equipment supplied by English Electric. Each locomotive consisted of a box-like body with a cab at each end, all mounted on two six-wheel bogies. Each axle was driven by a 245hp motor. Current was supplied to the motors through a booster set consisting of a 600V motor direct-coupled to a 600V generator. Each booster set had a heavy flywheel between the motor and generator which stored enough energy to keep the set running over the longest gap in the live rails. An electrically heated boiler supplied steam for carriage heating. Maximum speed was 75mph. These locomotives worked freight trains on the Central Section from New Cross Gate and Norwood Yard as far east as Polegate and as far west as Portsmouth & Southsea. In peacetime they also worked Victoria–Newhaven boat trains.

As a wartime economy measure, most engines were painted black, but in 1941 the black engines received bright green shading with dashes of ‘Southern sunshine’ which made the yellow lettering stand out.

As many SR passenger trains were cancelled due to war conditions, it had a surplus of locomotives which were loaned to companies desperately in need: ten King Arthur 4-6-0s were sent for use in north-east England and Scotland; three Z class 0-8-0Ts went to Scotland; five D1 0-4-2Ts and three H class 0-4-4Ts to the LMS in Scotland; one T9 4-4-0, all the S11 class 4-4-0s, eight F1 4-4-0s, two B1 4-4-0s, four K10 4-4-0s and six T1 class 0-4-4Ts to the LMS; all the Remembrance class and four S15 class 4-6-0s to the GWR; and seven I2 4-4-2Ts to the Longmoor Military Railway.

An SR engine managed to destroy an enemy aircraft on 26 November 1942. Class D3 0-4-4T No 2365, working on the New Romney branch, had its boiler punctured by enemy fire and retaliated when the escaping jet of steam caused the attacking plane to crash. Its pilot was flung out and drowned in a ditch. The aircraft was destroyed, but No 2365 was repaired.

Although all of the Big Four were involved in movements before D-Day, the SR was chiefly concerned. In the 2 months from initial troop movements on 26 March 1944 until the invasion on 6 June 1944, the four companies scheduled a total of 24,459 special trains and of these 3,636 were run in the week preceding D-Day.

Following the invasion of France in June 1944, from D-Day, 6 June 1944, to the end of the year, 14,763 special freight trains, totally connected with the invasion, were run to Southampton, the main embarkation port. Troop traffic was at its heaviest between 14 and 20 June 1944, moving 99,000 men in 271 special trains, then as soon as the Cherbourg Peninsula was occupied, train ferries were inaugurated Southampton–Cherbourg. In the 4 weeks after D-Day, in addition to trains carrying supplies to the armed forces, there were ambulance trains, forces’ mail trains and trains of German prisoners-of-war.

The SR being closer to the enemy than the other railway companies, it suffered the most from bombing, the worst periods being from mid-August 1940 to mid-May 1941 and then the V1 flying bombs campaign starting in the summer of 1944, which caused considerable damage to the SR’s electrified lines. On 17 June 1944 one fell on a freight train crossing a bridge between Elephant & Castle and Loughborough Junction, while elsewhere other bridges and stations received damage. Later that year the bombs were replaced by V2 rockets, which also caused serious havoc. During the war the SR suffered 170 incidents per 100 route miles compared with 33 on the GWR, 29 on the LMS and 28 on the LNER.

During the war the SR had only one engine destroyed but 189 damaged, while 153 carriages were damaged beyond repair and over 4,000 damaged in total. May 1945 found the passenger stock in an indifferent state. Wartime maintenance had been cut to a minimum and many repairs, such as to windows broken by bomb blast, had been carried out using composition panelling.

The government treated the Big Four poorly. In the late 1930s when the possibility of war arose, it promised that should war break out, they would receive the revenue expected in a reasonably successful peacetime year. But under a retrospective agreement backdated to 1 September 1940, the railways had to share between them less than half the estimated revenue of £176 million they earned, the balance being kept by the Treasury. Furthermore, the railways were inadequately compensated for the damage caused by enemy action.

With the end of the Second World War, the Channel Islands and Folkestone–Ostend services were restored on 9 October 1945, and in 1946 cheap day returns were reinstated following their wartime withdrawal to reduce the number of passengers carried.

At the company’s annual general meeting in March 1946, the chairman told shareholders that normal services could not be quickly restored due to the fact that there was a shortage of materials and men, only a quarter of SR employees who had enlisted having been released. Pullman cars were restored to some Central Section trains on 6 May 1946. Race meetings were again permitted and that year twenty-six specials ran between Victoria and Epsom Downs between 9 a.m. and noon on 5 June 1946, eighteen from Charing Cross to Tattenham Corner, eleven from London Bridge and five from Cannon Street.

In May 1946 the company’s deputy chairman, Henry Brooke, took charge of the anti-nationalisation plans but received no support from the LMS and LNER, whose falling coal and freight receipts showed little hope of future profits.

On 20 September 1946 a report on the future of the SR recommended limiting future electrification to high-density traffic routes. In all, 70 per cent of the mileage on the Eastern Section would be worked by electric multiple-unit trains, electric locomotives handling continental boat trains and goods trains. It was envisaged that diesel-electric multiple-unit trains would cover the non-electrified routes, with diesel-electric locomotives heading freight trains. Bulleid was horrified at the capital cost and the fact that the fuel would have to be imported.

Severe snow in January 1947 caused problems and the SR used de-icing trains to spread warm oil on the third rail. Bad weather kept miners from work, while coal in trucks was frozen by melted snow, refreezing making it almost impossible to unload. By early February 1947 the SR had only enough coal for 1 week, so cuts were made in services to eke out the remaining fuel. Then when the thaw started on 8 March, the railway had to contend with landslips and flooding.

At the annual general meeting in March 1947, the chairman reported that due to shortage of material and labour, the company had not yet regained its 1938 condition, but sixty-five stations had been renovated and 30 acres of glass roofs reinstated.

Although designed during the SR era, Bulleid’s final class for the company did not appear until June 1949 and the 0-6-6-0 Leader class proved to be a step too far in innovation. It had a cab at both ends and was similar to a diesel-electric in appearance; its fireman occupied a central cab which was only half the width of the locomotive and completely enclosed, so it became far too hot for comfort and in the event of a blow-back would have been very dangerous. Another disaster was that the boiler failed to produce adequate steam. Only one engine of the class was actually completed.

Towards the end of 1946 the SR decided to begin construction of three diesel-electric locomotives for express passenger service, completion expected within a year. In the event, progress was delayed and the first did not appear until 1951, but the project had begun before the LMS planned to build two similar locomotives. The SR engines were intended only for passenger work, whereas those of the LMS were for mixed traffic, but the 1,750hp power equipment supplied by the English Electric Co. Ltd was mainly the same, there being only small differences in the control system and in the gear ratio of the traction motors. The SR locomotives had their curved sides of the same contour as the post-war coaches.
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J1 class 4-6-2T No 325 heads the Pullman Brighton Belle. The SR continued the London, Brighton & South Coast Railway’s tradition of using tank engines on Brighton expresses. (Author’s collection)
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Ex-South Eastern & Chatham Railway H class 0-4-4T No 1554, with ‘Southern’ in ‘sunshine’ lettering. The Westinghouse air-brake pump can be seen in front of the side tank. (Author’s collection)




[image: illustrstion]

D15 4-4-0 No 463 equipped for oil burning, an oil tank replacing coal space in the tender, 1947. (J.H. Aston)
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G16 class 4-6-0T No 492; the ‘E’ above the number was given to ex-London & South Western Railway engines. Notice the sloping front of the side tank to offer the driver a good view forward when shunting. (Author’s collection)
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O2 class 0-4-4T No 18 Ringwood at Ryde shed on the Isle of Wight. The Westinghouse brake pump is fixed to the smokebox and the air reservoir situated on the tank top. (Author’s collection)
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Schools class 4-4-0 No 923 Bradfield.
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A poster advertising the SR’s road–rail container service.
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Troops in an SR Dunkirk evacuation train being fed. (Author’s collection)
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An SR electric train in the Second World War, crossing a bombed viaduct. (Author’s collection)
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Through sleeping cars London–Paris on board a train ferry, jacked to prevent oscillation and chained to the deck for security. (Author’s collection)
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Oliver Bulleid’s electric multiple-unit set No 4111. (Author’s collection)




[image: illustrstion]

SR electric locomotive CC1, hauling fourteen coaches in 1942. (Author’s collection)
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An SR advertisement in the Railway Magazine, September 1924, is certainly comprehensive, packing much into a small space.
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SR LOCOMOTIVE DEVELOPMENT

As chief mechanical engineer, one of Richard Maunsell’s first tasks was to provide a locomotive for the Charing Cross–Folkestone and Dover expresses, something rather better than Wainwright’s L class 4-4-0s of 1914. The matter being urgent, rather than producing a new design, Maunsell based it on an improved L class with increased boiler pressure, and enhanced the blast by using smaller cylinders and increasing the valve travel, so producing the L1 class. In the interests of standardisation, many of the parts were identical with those of the L class. These new engines, appearing in 1926, were able to haul trains of up to 320 tons as compared with the 225 tons of the L class.

Similarly, for trains on the former LSWR lines, Urie’s N15 4-6-0s were given redesigned valve gear and improved blast. Forming the King Arthur class, they were such a success that some were given six-rather than eight-wheeled tenders to be more suited to the shorter runs of the Central Section.

Maunsell’s first completely new design for the SR was the 4-6-0 No 850 Lord Nelson and when it appeared in 1926 it was the most powerful passenger locomotive in the country, with four cylinders 16½in by 26in and a boiler pressure of 220lb, producing a tractive effort of 33,500lb. Each pair of outside and inside cranks were set at 90 degrees to one another, but the outside and inside cranks were not in correspondence but at 135 degrees; this resulted in eight beats per revolution of the driving wheels, instead of the usual four. In preparation for the running of the Lord Nelson class, £250,000 had been spent on strengthening bridges on the Eastern Section. Lord Nelson was capable of hauling a 500-ton train. Maunsell carried out several experiments in an endeavour to make his good engine even better. Crank angles were altered, No 859 Lord Hood had his 6ft 7in wheels replaced with those of 6ft 3in to see if it would improve hill-climbing ability – it did not – and No 862 Lord Collingwood was given a special blast pipe and double chimney. Improvements to the latter did enhance performance, but at a cost of higher fuel consumption. The Lord Nelsons performed well on both Eastern and Western Sections.

For the Tonbridge–Hastings line with tight curves and limited gauge, in 1930 Maunsell produced a three-cylinder 4-4-0 using largely standard parts. The cylinders, motion and bogie were duplicates of those on the four-cylinder 4-6-0 Lord Nelsons, while the boiler was a shortened King Arthur class type pressed to 220lb. It had a round top firebox instead of a Belpaire due to the weight limit. With a nominal tractive effort of 25,130lb, it was the most powerful 4-4-0 in the country and capable of hauling almost 400 ton trains at 80mph. These new engines were named after public schools.

In 1932 the news that the LNER was contemplating a Harwich–Calais train ferry meant that the SR had to take steps to combat this competition. In 1933 Maunsell proposed building a Pacific to handle the Dover boat trains, but his plans were turned down by the civil engineer.

Maunsell’s last design was the Q class 0-6-0, considerably more powerful than the engines they were designed to replace. The Belpaire boiler had a working pressure of 200lb per square inch, and a Sinuflo superheater was fitted. Steam sanders were placed in front of the leading coupled wheels and a de-sander, or rail-washer, was provided behind the trailing coupled wheels. The engines were equipped with steam heating connections when the engines were required for passenger working.

Maunsell retired in 1936 and Sir Herbert Walker believed O.S. Bulleid, Gresley’s assistant on the LNER, the ideal person to be in charge of carriages and electric stock, and to modernise the steam stock. Bulleid agreed to accept the post at a salary of £3,000 a year and to join the company on 20 September 1937; he took office on the day Maunsell left, 31 October. A pronunciation guide should have been offered: Maunsell rhymes with cancel and Bulleid with succeed.

Bulleid decided to improve Maunsell’s Nelsons by introducing freer steam passages, larger piston valves and an improved exhaust, these modifications allowing a trial run to cut 15 minutes from the Golden Arrow’s 1 hour 15 minute schedule to Dover. Two of the Schools class 4-4-0s were also fitted with the improved exhaust and distinguished themselves on the Bournemouth Belle in the summer of 1939, and a streamlined casing was devised but the outbreak of war scotched the project.

In 1938 the SR placed in service at Norwood yard three 350hp diesel-electric 0-6-0 shunters for 24-hour, 6 days a week service, the fuel tanks being of sufficient capacity to last for this length of duty. They were the English Electric type as used on the LMS and GWR, but the mechanical portions were constructed at Ashford Works and then sent to Preston for the installation of the engine and transmission. As the locomotives were one-man-operated, the controls were duplicated to enable him to drive from either side.

By the end of 1937 Bulleid was planning a new powerful locomotive. With the Dover boat trains in mind, a 4-8-2 or a 2-8-2 would have been ideal and offered good adhesion, but neither would have been accepted by the civil engineer who, since the River class 2-6-4T derailment in 1927, had disliked pony trucks, so Bulleid realised it would need to be a Pacific. Determining that his engine would never be short of steam, he chose a large grate area and a steam pressure of 280lb, and placed two siphons in the firebox to increase water circulation. His boilers were a success and proved the cheapest in the country to maintain when a comparison was made in the early 1950s. Disliking overheated inside big-ends, he placed it and the valve gear in an oil bath. To please the civil engineer, Bulleid decided to omit reciprocating balance weights, so the engine was virtually free from hammer-blow, though stresses in the driving axle were increased. Its three cylinders, 18in by 24in, were relatively small but offered a tractive effort of 37,500lb. Bulleid used solid, double-disc wheel centres resembling the ‘Bokspok’ type used in the USA. The boilers were lagged with spun glass mattresses inside the thin casing, but this had a tendency to become badly fouled with dirty oil thrown up by the external working parts, which gave rise to the extraordinary phenomenon of a steam locomotive on fire! Compared with a Lord Nelson, Bulleid’s design had a 47 per cent larger grate area and a 38 per cent increase in heating surface.

The first of Bulleid’s Pacifics No 21C1 made its first run on 22 February 1941, and on 10 March 1941 it was named Channel Packet, the class being known as Merchant Navies. A steam reverser was fitted, but unfortunately the Eastleigh drawing office adopted the unsatisfactory LSWR design instead of adapting the excellent SECR version, so the first ten engines had a slow reverser. Subsequent engines were given a faster version, but this tended to creep and on rare occasions even made a complete reversal at speed. The air-smoothed outer casing facilitated automatic cleaning and gave a modern outline without copying LNER or LMS designs, but it impaired look-out and collected oily accumulations which occasionally caught fire. Bulleid thought of comfort for its crew and offered complete protection against the weather, provided the best live steam injectors, a steam-operated firehole door, and electric lighting including luminous gauge dials.

Initially used on freight workings while teething troubles were corrected, by mid-1942 the Merchant Navies were in passenger service and delighted their crews, who appreciated their power, free steaming and running, including lively hill climbing. As the Merchant Navies proved highly successful on main lines, in 1943 Bulleid modified the design to be suitable for secondary routes where a lighter axle load was required. The result was the ‘lightweight’ Pacifics with an axle load of 19 tons, achieved by shortening the firebox and using more welding in construction. The wide route availability imposed a reduction of cab width to 8ft 6in and of tender weight to 42½ tons.

The first of these engines, termed the West Country class, appeared on VE Day, 8 May 1945, and a batch for use in the south-east was named with a Battle of Britain theme. It needed a second glance to distinguish between a Merchant Navy and a West Country and even the performance of these smaller sisters was equally brisk.

Meanwhile, back in 1941 the operating department required more 0-6-0s for freight work. Although the existing Maunsell Q class were good machines, a new design could be more powerful. To operate over all except very unimportant branch lines, the chief engineer required the engine not to exceed 54 tons and its tender 39 tons. A large boiler and firebox were designed and, to save weight, welding was used and running plate and splashers abolished, which had the advantage of making it much easier to reach the valve motion for inspection or repair, while thinner plating for some features also offered a saving. The cab was spacious and well arranged, and the tender had a modified form of cab at its front end and a flexible connection between it and the roof of the cab proper, so that the footplate was well protected and – what was more important in wartime conditions – light from the firebox could not be spotted by enemy planes. The sides of the cab were provided with sliding shutters for use during blackout periods. The result was that the new Q1 engines were well within the weight restriction and were the most powerful 0-6-0s in the country, their tractive effort of 30,000lb being almost as high as the War Department 2-8-0s, 36 tons heavier. The Q1s continued Bulleid’s numbering system, the first being C1, meaning the first of a class of locomotives having six coupled wheels. They also repeated the Merchant Navy features of the Bulleid–Firth–Brown wheel centres, steam reverser, multiple jet blastpipe and large-diameter stovepipe chimney. The tender cab had water-filling holes to save the fireman clambering to the top. The only problem with the Q1 class was that the tender’s light construction imposed a restriction on the weight of an unfitted goods train that could be controlled on a falling gradient, resulting in the class being rarely seen west of Salisbury.

The first serious accident on the SR occurred on 24 August 1927 when the pony truck of K class 2-6-4T No 800 River Cray derailed and after about 500yd burst open a pair of trailing points, derailing the whole train. Thirteen passengers were killed, twenty-one were seriously injured and a further forty were less seriously hurt. An odd feature was that several uninjured passengers had their shoes torn off and these were recovered from the wreckage with the laces still tied, yet the owners’ feet were unhurt.

It transpired that there had been three previous derailments of this class on former SECR tracks, yet when the class appeared on ex-Brighton lines, no complaints of poor riding were made. Pending the Ministry of Transport inquiry, Sir Herbert Walker withdrew all River class engines. Tested on a curved length of the LNER between St Neots and Huntingdon, a River class engine rode smoothly and it was found that poor drainage had caused poor track level. The investigations resulted in the upgrading of the SR permanent way by using Meldon stone, rather than shingle which offered a less stable track, and rebuilding the 2-6-4Ts into U class 2-6-0s.
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SOUTHERN ELECTRIC

Electrification was essential to cope with the very dense London suburban traffic and to compete with electric tramcars. Around 1900 the LBSCR realised this need, and in 1903 obtained powers to electrify its entire system. Philip Dawson, the company’s consulting engineer, was asked to report on electrification and recommended the German system, where high-tension, single-phase alternating current at 6,700V 25Hz would be supplied from overhead wires. Its advantages were that the arrangements for power distribution were simpler than those for DC and the permanent way would be kept clear of conductor rails. Current was carried in round-section copper wires, suspended every 10ft from double catenary wires suspended above the tracks by insulators on lattice girders mounted on steel towers, usually 220ft apart. The conductor wires were normally 16ft above rail level, but 19ft 6in at the termini. Under some low bridges the headway was so low that short sections had to be dead. The first length chosen was from London Bridge to Victoria via Denmark Hill and the first trial train ran on 17 January 1909, public service starting on 1 December 1909. A popular innovation was the issue of weekly packets of six third-class return tickets at reduced fares – for example, London Bridge to Victoria for 2s when the ordinary return fare was fivepence, offering a saving of sixpence, well worth having in the days of subsistence wages.

Trains consisted of two third-class motor coaches with an intermediate first-class trailer. These trains were the first on the LBSCR to abolish second class. The original livery was umber brown lower panels and cream upper panels. Each motor coach was equipped with four 115hp motors, each pair of motors equipped with a transformer reducing the voltage to 750V. In 1909 fewer than 4 million passengers had been carried on this route, but in the first year of electric working numbers had risen to 7½ million and it was stated that a return of 10 per cent on the capital outlay had been earned, so the LBSCR electrified further London lines.

Around 1900 the LSWR also experienced electric tramways poaching its traffic, but the first electric trains to run over its lines were those of the District Railway from Studland Road Junction, Hammersmith, to Turnham Green and Richmond, and from Putney Bridge to Wimbledon, the electric service starting in 1905. Early in 1913 the LSWR announced a comprehensive electrification scheme and, following a visit to the USA by its electrical engineer H. Jones, it was decided to adopt the 600V DC third-rail system with running rail return. Current would be supplied from a generating station at Durnsford Road, Wimbledon. The outbreak of the First World War delayed opening of the first service, that between Waterloo and Wimbledon via East Putney, until 25 October 1915.

The conductor rails used special high-conductivity steel, laid on porcelain insulators 16in from the side of the running rail with the top surface 3in above it. In the interests of economy, coasting marks were placed, consisting of a white diamond mounted on an iron rod, while stopping points at stations were indicated by blue enamelled metal plates bearing white figures 3 and 6 (and later 8), which a motorman would select according to the length of his train. A feature of the electrified lines was the glass station nameboards with the name in white block letters on a blue panel, the nameboard being lit at night.

Rolling stock consisted of eighty-four three-coach, close-coupled trains consisting of two motor coaches with an intermediate trailer. These had been economically converted from four-coach block trains built from 1904 onwards. Only first- and third-class accommodation was provided, the first occasion on which the LSWR had abandoned second class. Another innovation for the LSWR was that Westinghouse brakes were fitted. The livery, which may have resulted from the visit to the USA, was dark green, lined out in black and yellow. A stencil plate bearing a letter route code was mounted in front of an opal glass panel illuminated at night. This feature was adopted by the SR when electrification was extended, enabling a national baker to produce an advertisement showing the fronts of SR electric trains spelling out HOVIS! To aid passengers, trains ran at regular intervals, a clock-face timetable being inaugurated. The ‘sparks effect’ was shown by the increased number of passengers carried.

Although the SECR had obtained an Act of Parliament in 1903 giving powers for electrical working, lack of capital stopped further progress and it was not until the trade depression of the early 1920s that active steps were taken. In 1921 Parliament passing the Trades Facilities Act to offer state-aided credits to set work to relieve unemployment. Neither the LBSCR overhead system nor the LSWR third rail was to be adopted, but a 1,500V DC supplied to two conductor rails. Multiple-unit sets would be used for suburban working, but through passenger and goods trains would employ electric locomotives. The story ended when the SECR became part of the SR.

The SR was excellent at recycling: for example, the stock for the 1925 inauguration of electric services on the Eastern Section consisted of the motor coaches, composed of 1½ six-wheel, or two four-wheel thirds, spliced together and mounted on a new underframe to provide eight compartments, the driving end being new. For the composite trailers, the bodies of two four-wheel composites, or six-wheel seconds, were mounted on a new underframe, one at each end, the intervening space being filled with the requisite number of new compartments. The six-wheeled stock had been built in the 1890s and the four-wheeled stock between 1899 and 1904.

One of the SR’s main problems was that from 1913 to 1923 traffic had increased by 26 per cent and the shortening of working hours following the First World War had resulted in the morning and evening peak traffic being worked in about 1½ hours less than in 1913. The obvious answer was electrification with faster acceleration and the fact that there was no need to run an engine round at a terminus and take on coal. It would have been impracticable to continue with three different systems, so one had to be adopted as standard. A departmental committee presided over by E.C. Cox, the chief operating superintendent, recommended the adoption of the 600V DC third-rail system used by the LSWR due to its ease of installation and low cost of construction and maintenance – for example, tunnels and other overhead structures did not need improved clearance. In February 1925 the company announced the largest suburban electrification system ever undertaken.

The SR did not merely substitute electric for steam trains: lines were improved by modifying track layouts and signalling; lengthening platforms to 520ft; providing additional manholes in tunnels and on viaducts; and protecting signal wires etc. from live rails and fog signalling machines from the current collecting shoes on the trains. On 21 March 1926 the SR inaugurated the world’s first four-aspect colour-light signalling between Holburn Viaduct and Elephant & Castle. This was demanded by the intensive traffic coupled with the mixture of steam and electric traction. It also enabled seven manual signal boxes to be replaced by just two electric ones.

The first overhead electrification sections to be abandoned were London Bridge to Victoria and Streatham Hill to Crystal Palace on 17 June 1928, the final overhead service running on 22 September 1929. Although the overhead wires were soon removed, the supporting girders survived until 1930–32; a few were kept for signal gantries, some lattice girders were recycled as roofing for a new engine shed at Ryde and some brackets became lighting standards in carriage sidings at Dorking North. Years later the motor vehicles which had been sandwiched between pairs of trailer passenger coaches and were popularly referred to as ‘milk vans’ were converted into bogie brake vans for fast freight services. With a tare weight of 28 tons and bogies, guards who had been accustomed to riding in four-wheeled brakes were unanimous in praise of the smooth-riding qualities of these vans. They were not quite unique as the LMS had one or two bogie vans for special service in the Leeds area, while the LNER had a number of eight-wheeled vans with a fixed wheelbase.

As recounted earlier, in 1929 Winston Churchill, Chancellor of the Exchequer, announced that the Railway Passenger Duty levied on first- and second-class fares would be abolished on condition that the railways spent the capitalised value of this duty on improvement and development schemes to relieve unemployment. At the annual meeting of the SR in 1930, the chairman announced that the SR’s share of the capitalised value was just over £2 million and it had been decided to spend that sum on electrifying its lines to Brighton and Worthing. It would be on the third-rail system already installed in the suburban area and would enable suburban stock to be used for weekend and excursion traffic. Multiple units would be used rather than locomotives. South of Coulsdon, power would be obtained from the national grid. The cost of the scheme was estimated at £2.7 million and, to meet this, a 6 per cent increase in ticket receipts would be needed.

Work began in 1931 and new signalling was also installed, three-aspect automatic or semi-automatic. At Brighton four platforms were lengthened to 800ft, the yard layout was simplified, seventeen crossovers were abolished and a new box replaced six manual boxes. A paint shop was converted to a twelve-road cleaning and inspection shed for the electric stock and a mechanical carriage washer installed nearby. Trial services between London and Brighton started on 2 November 1932 and the services were formally inaugurated on 30 December 1932, public services starting on 1 January 1933. Advertisements proclaimed: ‘Six trains per hour all day – comfort and frequency – you won’t need a timetable’.

The new service was a great success and on Easter Monday 1933 the number of passengers had increased to 78 per cent above those for 1932. In view of this success, the SR decided to extend electrification to Seaford, Eastbourne and Hastings via Lewes. On 29 June 1934 the Southern Belle all-Pullman train was renamed the Brighton Belle. Its riding left something to be desired, as C.F. Klapper in Sir Herbert Walker’s Southern Railway revealed that he saw a lurch by a motor coach throw a cup of tea over a passenger’s shoulder.

In February 1937 wet weather caused a retaining wall at West Croydon station to collapse. It partially buried the running lines and completely buried a siding, trapping a three-car electric multiple unit at the buffer stop end of the siding. After 6 weeks’ incarceration and with the barrier still impassable, the coach set disappeared one night. Breakdown cranes had lifted the vehicles to an adjacent running line.

Electrification to Portsmouth started in October 1935, with trial trains starting on 11 April 1937 and full public services commencing on 4 July 1937. Trains used on the Portsmouth service had a corridor connection in the centre of the driver’s cab, with a window to its right and the route code plate on the left; as this gave a one-eyed appearance and as the train served a naval base, they were nicknamed ‘Nelsons’. To accommodate the electric trains, new carriage sheds were built at Wimbledon, Fratton and Farnham, and carriage washing plant installed at Wimbledon and Fratton. The basis of the new weekday service was one fast and two stopping trains every hour between Waterloo and Portsmouth, while on summer Saturdays four expresses and two stopping trains ran hourly. This intensive service, aggregating 4,188,168 train-miles a year, compared well against the 2,235,464 train-miles in steam days.

As in all the more recent SR electric extensions, power was obtained from the Central Electricity Board’s grid. Concerns were raised regarding fatal electrocution, but it was observed that death was confined only to trespassers and that ten-wire fencing was used on electrified lines and wire mesh added where there was a risk that children or animals could get either over or through it. The conductor rail stopped where a footpath or cattle crossing traversed the line, and at the latter, wooden cattle grids were provided to prevent cattle leaving the crossing.

With steam working, on reaching their destination the practice for trains on longer runs was to be run to carriage sidings for cleaning and servicing. With electric trains it was found more economic to run them backwards and forwards all day before returning them to their depot, thus maximising their use. By 1933 the first carriage-washing machine was in use at Brighton because electric stock could be driven through a wash, whereas stock headed by a steam engine could not, unless the footplate crew were willing to participate in washing! The SR was the first railway company to see the potential of air travel and this was reflected in plans for airport stations at Gatwick and Shoreham.

In 1938 the SR ran 46.7 million miles by steam at a cost of £3,079,000, while 37.47 million miles had been worked by electricity for £1,642,000. Wages for steam haulage were £1,668,000 but for electric working only £327,000, and the electricity had cost £1,190,000 against £1,295,000 for coal and water.

In 1942 a Co-Co electric locomotive No CC1 appeared, designed by Alfred Raworth, the SR’s chief electrical engineer, in collaboration with Bulleid. Actually design work had started in 1939, but had been delayed by the war. It had six 245hp nose-suspended traction motors, one to each axle, and the rated capacity was for a gross load of 1,000 tons of freight, or a fifteen-coach passenger train, at 75mph.

Gaps in the third-rail system were no obstacle to a multiple-unit train, but they were a problem to a relatively short locomotive. Four collector shoes were mounted on each side and a single pantograph enabled power to come from sidings with overhead electrification, as third-rail would have been highly dangerous to men involved in shunting wagons. Furthermore, where electricity was unavailable, the engine could move some distance under its own power as the traction motors were supplied by generators turned by the stored energy of a very heavy flywheel. The spectacle of an electric locomotive proceeding down a long siding to draw out wagons, without obtaining electricity from an external source, created quite a sensation during the press demonstration. With a 1,000-ton freight train it could accelerate to 24mph in 100 seconds and could haul the heaviest SR passenger train at speeds up to 75mph. It contained an electrically fired boiler for supplying steam to heat passenger trains. Two more of the class were built and were used on trains varying from a heavy freight to a Newhaven boat express. The catenaries over goods yards never appeared.

In case an air attack destroyed a power station and thus brought the electrified network to a halt, the SR maintained a pool of old steam tank engines to operate a replacement service. Although a bomb descended on the north stack of Durnsford Road power station, Wimbledon, damaging part of the boiler installation, it was still possible to operate the electric train services.

On 31 October 1946 the general manager, Sir Eustace Missenden, announced plans for the electrification of 284 miles to be put in hand as soon as the post-war shortages allowed. The use of electric locomotives for certain passenger services and goods trains was envisaged, while feeder services, local goods trains and shunting, diesel-electric traction would be used. The SR thus would be the first British railway to adopt this form of traction on a large scale. The scheme, estimated to cost £15 million, would be finished by 1955 and would result in the total elimination of steam locomotives from the Eastern and Central sections of the SR and effect substantial savings in coal. It was believed that the company’s current stock of over 1,800 locomotives would be reduced to less than 800. One of the scheme’s greatest advantages was the reduction and greater uniformity of headway, thus permitting the introduction of faster and more frequent train services. The directors were also exploring the possibility of extending diesel-electric traction to the west of England. Nationalisation meant that the SR did not carry out these plans, but they were fulfilled by British Railways.
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SR PRINCIPAL NAMED TRAINS

The July 1925 issue of the Southern Railway Magazine announced a competition to discover a name for the 11 a.m. express to Ilfracombe and Plymouth. Guard Rowland of Waterloo won with the first suggestion of Atlantic Coast Express and took the prize of 3 guineas, which was rather more than his basic weekly wage. Three other employees offering the same suggestion were given a King Arthur locomotive paperweight. The Atlantic Coast Express made its first run on 19 July 1926.

The route itself was interesting because west of Salisbury it was switchback and enabled trains to run down gradients at 80mph to gain momentum for the next rise. Most named trains ran from start to stop without any uncoupling, but not so the Atlantic Coast Express, which was one of the most multi-portioned expresses in the country. Its rear coach was detached at Salisbury to be worked forward to intermediate stations by a stopping train; at Sidmouth Junction the Sidmouth and Exmouth coaches were detached and worked to their destination. At Exeter Central the restaurant cars were detached from the rear and the remaining coaches were divided. The first section ran forward with the Ilfracombe and Torrington sections, these being divided at Barnstaple Junction and sent to their destinations. Meanwhile the remainder of the Atlantic Coast Express left Exeter with coaches for Plymouth, Bude and Padstow, coaches for the last two destinations being detached at Okehampton. It was not until 5.36 p.m. that the Padstow portion arrived at its destination, 259.7 miles from Waterloo, after having completed the longest through journey on SR tracks. In the opposite direction, Up trains accumulated coaches rather than having them detached.

Due to its being a multi-portioned train, it required an unusual number of brake-composite coaches in order to cater for first- and third-class passengers, smoking and non-smoking compartments and space for their luggage.

The title was dropped during the Second World War and the corresponding train was given more stops and more coaches, sixteen or over. This meant that, as it was too long for one platform, it had to be loaded at two adjacent platforms and then the two portions coupled together outside of Waterloo. It was not until October 1947 that the name was reinstated, but it still departed at the wartime 10.50 a.m.

The Bournemouth Belle, introduced on 5 July 1931, was an all-Pullman train, a daring concept in the years following the Great Depression. The train of ten coaches consisted of three first-class and seven third-class cars. At Bournemouth Central it was divided, one part going to the terminus Bournemouth West, and the other going on to Poole, Wareham, Dorchester and Weymouth. The coaches, with their six-wheeled bogies, were heavy, but nevertheless covered the 108 miles to Bournemouth in 2 hours 9 minutes. Initially the train was hauled by a King Arthur, but later Lord Nelsons were in charge, with Merchant Navies in post-war years. Surprisingly, despite the Pullman supplementary charge, the Bournemouth Belle proved popular for day-trippers and in 1932, to cater for the needs of this market, a later start was made from Bournemouth, offering a Waterloo arrival at 8.30 p.m. rather than 7.18 p.m. From 1 January 1936 it ran daily, instead of just Sundays, all the year round, whereas before it had only run daily during the period of the summer timetable. Withdrawn during the war, it was reinstated on 7 October 1946. Leaving Waterloo at 12.30 p.m., it reached Southampton Central at 1.57 p.m., then Bournemouth Central at 2.35 p.m., before terminating at Bournemouth West at 2.46 p.m. The Up train left at 7.15 p.m. and arrived at Waterloo at 9.25 p.m. The third-class Pullman supplement was 3s 0d. Rather oddly, the summer 1947 timetable saw the train leaving Bournemouth West at 4.45 p.m., so arrival at Waterloo was 6.45 p.m., putting an end to the use of the train by day trippers.

On 8 July 1929 two trains in each direction named the Bournemouth Limited were accelerated to cover the distance in exactly 2 hours. To adhere to this timing, the rake had to be limited to ten coaches. Initially the Bournemouth Limited was hauled by a King Arthur, but with the electrification to Portsmouth, Schools class 4-4-0s were available, so this led to the probably unique change from a 4-6-0 to 4-4-0. On one occasion No 931 King’s Wimbledon was recorded as having worked a ten-coach train of 345 tons gross over the 107.9 miles from Bournemouth Central to Waterloo in just 108 minutes.

When the line to Brighton was electrified, the steam-worked Southern Belle on 29 June 1934 became the electric multiple-unit Brighton Belle, the name ceasing on the outbreak of war. As one of the three Pullman sets received wartime damage, it was not until 6 October 1947 that the Brighton Belle returned.

On 16 June 1947 the SR inaugurated the Devon Belle, an all-Pullman train with six cars to Ilfracombe and four to Plymouth. This proved inadequate and it was frequently lengthened to fourteen cars, 545 tons tare, or 575 loaded. As the non-stop run of 159¾ miles to Sidmouth Junction was impossible without water troughs, engine changing did not occur at Salisbury and thus obstruct a platform, but was carried out at Wilton, the next station Down.

Leaving Waterloo at noon, it ran the 86.3 miles to Wilton in 107 minutes, then covered the undulating 79.3 miles to Sidmouth Junction in 83 minutes – a much harder task than the first section. The arrival at Exeter Central was 3.36 p.m. The Plymouth section, headed by a West Country class 4-6-2, left at 3.41 p.m., arriving at Plymouth Friary at 5.36 p.m., while the Ilfracombe section departed behind another West Country at 3.48 p.m. and, after calling at St David’s, ran the 39.1 miles to Barnstaple Junction in 56 minutes. It then called at all stations to Ilfracombe, including a climb of almost 4 miles at 1 in 40, reaching its destination at 5.33 p.m. The Up Devon Belle had the faster timing of 5 hours 20 minutes and, as it started with a 2¼-mile climb at 1 in 36, for the ascent there was usually a West Country at the rear as well as one at the front. Following a locomotive exchange at Wilton it arrived at Waterloo at 5.20 p.m. The Devon Belle only ran on Fridays, Saturdays and Sundays. The first class supplementary charge from Waterloo to Ilfracombe was 8s 0d.

A feature of the Devon Belle was the rear observation car with comfortable single armchairs and double settees that could be swung at any angle to enjoy the views. The other end of this car held a refreshment buffet with small kitchen and pantry. Running this observation car meant that at the termini it had to be turned and coupled to the rear of its train with the observation end outwards.

Probably the most famous SR train was the Golden Arrow. It began on 15 May 1929 when it was decided to run a first-class service between London and Paris, the English and French trains being linked by a special steamer, the TSS Canterbury. The train left Victoria at 11.10 a.m. and arrived at Dover Marine at 12.35 p.m., only 20 minutes being allowed for transfer to the steamer, which crossed to Calais in 75 minutes. The French train covered the 184 miles to Paris in 190 minutes, arriving at 5.35 p.m. Air travel increasingly enticed this class of passenger and numbers dropped, so from 15 May 1931, some Pullmans were replaced by first-and third-class coaches. The train was normally composed of four Pullmans, six corridor coaches and two six-wheel brake vans with a tare of about 375 tons, usually headed by a Lord Nelson 4-6-0. The single fare was £5, which included reservation and the Pullman supplement.

On 23 January 1930, passengers on the Up Golden Arrow had a lucky escape. Passing through Kent House station No E853 Sir Richard Grenville derailed, and without the driver and fireman noticing, damaged a quarter of a mile of track before re-railing itself.

On 6 October 1935 the return service was routed via Boulogne–Folkestone, so the Up Golden Arrow faced an initial climb of ¾ mile of 1 in 30 which was worked by two or three 0-6-0Ts; running the 1.2 miles to Folkestone Junction was allowed 5 minutes. At the junction a Lord Nelson would replace the 0-6-0Ts and left at 3.54 p.m., arriving in Victoria at 5.20 p.m. Cancelled during the war, the Golden Arrow was reinstated on 15 April 1946, leaving at 10 a.m., and was allowed 100 minutes to Dover Marine. The Merchant Navy Pacific at its head carried large gilt arrows on its sides and smokebox door. In May 1947 the Golden Arrow reverted to being purely first class.

The Night Ferry inaugurated on 14 October 1936 was established, not to provide a faster service between London and Paris, but a more comfortable journey. It enabled a passenger to go to bed in London and wake in Paris without a change of carriage. In reality the result was not an unbroken night’s sleep because shunting the cars on to the various roads of the ferry and then chaining them to the deck was likely to wake all but the deepest sleepers. Sleeping accommodation was provided by vehicles owned by the International Sleeping Car Company, built to the restricted British loading gauge. The cars were 9ft wide, had roller bearings and tared at 55 tons each, and so were the heaviest passenger vehicles in Britain. The German and Italian railways, as well as the SR, constructed dual-fitted wagons for ferry traffic. Owing to the difference between high and low tide, the train ferry berth at Dover took the form of a lock. The three new vessels, named after Thames ferries, were each capable of taking forty wagons or twelve sleeping cars on their four-track train deck.

In pre-war days the Night Ferry was hauled Victoria–Dover by two 4-4-0s, until it was suspended after the services of 25/26 August 1939, a week before the outbreak of war. The Night Ferry was restarted on 14/15 December 1947, a Battle of Britain class Pacific hauling it to Dover, but over the years, as the train grew heavier, it was replaced by a Merchant Navy.
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THE BIG FIVE

On 13 April 1933 the London Passenger Transport Board (LPTB) was formed by an Act of Parliament to create a single authority of all of London’s passenger transport, thus including all the underground railways (apart from the SR’s Waterloo & City line) and the Metropolitan Railway, bus and tramway undertakings, but excluding the four main-line railways, the Act taking effect from 1 July 1933. Lord Ashfield was chairman, Frank Pick vice-chairman and to coordinate services with the Big Four, a Standing Joint Committee was set up with four members of the LPTB and one from each main-line railway. This committee produced a scheme for pooling passenger receipts of both London Transport and the four main-line railways, applicable to any journey wholly within the area, subject to deductions for operating and other allowances.

It was rather an anomaly that the LPTB, because it had absorbed the Metropolitan Railway, was responsible for operating the Quainton Road to Brill single-track branch line in rural Buckinghamshire, so until services were withdrawn on 30 November 1935, it was possible to see a 2-4-0T hauling a single-coach train, all in LPTB livery, 50½ miles from Baker Street!
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THE END OF THE BIG FOUR

As a socialist government had been elected in 1945, the nationalisation of transport was a foregone conclusion. The Transport Act nationalising all major British railways was passed on 6 August 1947, becoming operative on 1 January 1948. Management of the British Transport Commission was delegated to five executives: railways; docks and inland waterways; hotels; road transport; and London Transport. The Railway Executive to administer the nationalised lines was chaired by the former SR general manager, Sir Eustace Missenden. The railway system, known as British Railways (BR), was divided into six regions: Eastern, London Midland, North Eastern, Scottish, Southern and Western, each under a chief regional officer. BR started with 19,863 miles of route, served by a staff of over 700,000.

The GWR and the SR became the Western and Southern Regions’ territory respectively, almost without exception; the London Midland Region was mainly the Welsh and English part of the LMS, while the English lines of the LNER were divided between the Eastern and North Eastern regions; its Scottish lines, and those of the LMS, became the Scottish Region.

The largest of the joint railways, the Cheshire Lines Committee, did not lose its identity until 30 November 1948, so for the first 11 months rolling stock bore the initials ‘BR-CLC’.

The era of the Big Four had seen fifty-seven major railway accidents in which a total of 478 people had been killed; this can be compared with the era of British Railways (1948–94) which saw 131 major accidents, killing a total of 631.

The years of the Big Four, 1923–47, brought many changes to the railway. In 1923, railways were the main carrier of passengers, goods and minerals, but road transport had stolen some of the railway’s traffic as it offered a door-to-door service, often under the direct control of the business, while power line and pipe line increasingly avoided the carriage of fuel across the country. The railways fought the door-to-door road advantage by using containers so that they could provide the same service. The number of cars seen on roads increased, but as people’s standard of living improved and many were able to afford a home in the suburbs, rather than in the smoky city close to their employment, rail travel using a relatively cheap season ticket increased. A few new lines were opened and quite a few uneconomic lines closed. The LMS, LNER and SR introduced Pacifics to haul their heaviest and fastest expresses, rather than 4-4-0s or 4-6-0s; streamlining was tried; while on the freight side the GWR, LMS and LNER favoured 2-8-0s rather than 0-6-0s or 0-8-0s for goods and mineral trains. Towards the end of its life the SR had the foresight to see that the future lay with electrification, coupled with diesel haulage for lines which would have been uneconomic to electrify.

Although the Big Four came to an end in 1948, under privatisation in the 1990s some new railway companies adopted the old names and this could cause confusion to future railway historians.


APPENDICES

Appendix 1

The Constituent and Subsidiary Companies

GWR

Constituent Companies

Great Western; Barry; Cambrian; Cardiff; Rhymney; Taff Vale; and Alexandra (Newport & South Wales) Docks & Railway.

Subsidiary Companies

Brecon & Merthyr Tydfil Junction; Burry Port & Gwendraeth Valley; Cleobury Mortimer & Ditton Priors Light; Didcot, Newbury & Southampton; Exeter; Forest of Dean Central; Gwendraeth Valleys; Lampeter, Aberayron & New Quay Light; Liskeard & Looe; Llanelly & Mynydd Mawr; Mawddwy; Midland & South Western Junction; Neath & Brecon; Penarth Extension; Penarth Harbour, Dock & Railway; Port Talbot Railway & Docks; Princetown; Rhondda & Swansea Bay; Ross & Monmouth; South Wales Mineral; Teign Valley; Vale of Glamorgan; Van; Welshpool & Llanfair Light; West Somerset; and Wrexham & Ellesmere.

LMS

Constituent Companies

London & North Western; Midland; Lancashire & Yorkshire; North Staffordshire; Furness; Caledonian; Glasgow & South Western; and Highland.

Subsidiary Companies

Arbroath & Forfar; Brechin & Edzell District; Callander & Oban; Cathcart District; Charnwood Forest; Cleator & Workington Junction; Cockermouth, Keswick & Penrith; Dearne Valley; Dornoch Light; Dundee & Newtyle; Harborne; Killin; Knott End; Lanarkshire & Ayrshire; Leek & Manifold Valley Light; Maryport & Carlisle; Mold & Denbigh Junction; North & South Western Junction; North London; Portpatrick & Wigtownshire Joint; Shropshire Union Railways & Canal; Solway Junction; Stratford-upon-Avon & Midland Junction; Tottenham & Forest Gate; Wick & Lybster Light; Wirral; and Yorkshire Dales (Skipton to Grassington).

LNER

Constituent Companies

North Eastern; Great Central; Great Eastern; Great Northern; Hull & Barnsley; North British; and Great North of Scotland.

Subsidiary Companies

Brackenhill Light; Clarence & Hartlepool Junction; Colne Valley & Halstead; East & West Yorkshire Union; East Lincolnshire; Edinburgh & Bathgate; Forcett; Forth & Clyde Junction; Gifford & Garvald; Great North of England; Horncastle; Humber Commercial Railway & Dock; Kilsyth & Bonnybridge; Lauder Light; London & Blackwall; Mansfield, Mid-Suffolk Light; Newburgh & North Fife; North Lindsey Light; Nottingham & Grantham Railway & Canal; Nottingham Joint Station Committee; Nottingham Suburban; Seaforth & Sefton Junction; Sheffield District; South Yorkshire Junction; Stamford & Essendine; and West Riding Railway Committee.

SR

Constituent Companies

London & South Western; London, Brighton & South Coast; South Eastern; London, Chatham & Dover; and South Eastern & Chatham Railway Companies Managing Committee.

Subsidiary Companies

Bridgwater; Brighton & Dyke; Freshwater, Yarmouth & Newpor; Hayling; Isle of Wight; Isle of Wight Central; Lee-on-the-Solent; London & Greenwich; Mid-Kent; North Cornwall; Plymouth & Dartmoor; Plymouth, Devonport & South Western Junction; Sidmouth; and Victoria Station & Pimlico.

Appendix 2

Average Holding of Railway Shares, 1922









	 

	Number of holdings

	£500 and under

	£500 to £1,000




	Ordinary

	418,636

	62,229

	19,208




	Preferential

	408,755

	54,727

	20,565




	Ordinary and preferential

	827,391

	58,523

	19,878




	Debenture stock and loans

	219,886

	45,524

	22,637




Appendix 3

1923 Statistics
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Appendix 4

Staff Employed by Railway Companies of Great Britain During the Week Ending 25 March 1922







	Name of company

	All grades




	Alexandra (Newport & South Wales) Docks & Railway

	1,677




	Barry

	3,788




	Caledonian

	26,080




	Cambrian

	2,238




	Cardiff

	2,585




	Cheshire Lines Committee

	4,898




	Furness

	2,982




	Glasgow & South Western

	11,310




	Glasgow, Barrhead & Kilmarnock Joint and Glasgow & Paisley Joint & Princes Dock

	1,111




	Great Central

	31,456




	Great Eastern

	38,006




	Great Northern

	35,874




	Great North of Scotland

	3,082




	Great Western

	87,338




	Highland

	3,342




	Hull & Barnsley

	3,793




	London & North Western

	133,940




	London & South Western

	29,596




	London, Brighton & South Coast

	16,972




	London Electric

	6,340




	Metropolitan

	3,895




	Metropolitan & District

	3,306




	Midland

	74,764




	Midland & Great Northern Joint Committee

	2,580




	North British

	29,518




	North Eastern

	59,270




	North London

	1,796




	North Staffordshire

	6,360




	Rhymney

	1,873




	Somerset & Dorset Joint Committee

	1,628




	South Eastern & Chatham Managing Committee

	24,737




	Taff Vale

	5,594




	Railway Clearing House

	3,496




	Other companies with total staff of fewer than 1,000 each

	11,577




	Grand total

	676,802




Appendix 5

Staff of the Big Four Employed on 24 March 1923







	GWR

	109,376




	LMS

	268,835




	LNER

	202,232




	SR

	70,479




Appendix 6

Grades of Staff Employed by the Big Four during the Week Ending 25 March 1923







	 

	Grades




	Capstanmen

	1,864




	Carriage and wagon examiners

	4,887




	Carriage and wagon oilers and greasers

	2,287




	Carriage cleaners

	7,936




	Carters and van guards

	19,203




	Chain boys and slipper lads

	25




	Checkers

	11,702




	Clerks

	84,854




	Cranemen

	2,120




	Crossing keepers

	3,087




	Engine cleaners

	12,765




	Engine drivers and motormen

	36,708




	Firemen

	36,698




	Goods guards

	16,576




	Inspectors

	7,759




	Labourers

	37,462




	Lampmen

	1,820




	Loaders and sheeters

	5,069




	Mechanics and artisans

	107,195




	Messengers

	2,552




	Number takers

	2,820




	Passenger guards

	7,899




	Permanent way men

	63,312




	Pointsmen

	390




	Policemen

	2,773




	Police inspectors

	231




	Porters: goods

	20,731




	Porters: passenger

	27,701




	Shunters

	17,987




	Shunt horse drivers

	842




	Signal box lads

	796




	Signal fitters and telegraph wiremen

	4,885




	Signalmen

	29,509




	Station masters, yard masters, &c

	7,683




	Ticket collectors

	5,462




	Watchmen

	892




	Working foremen

	1,450




	Miscellaneous

	83,846




	Grand total

	681,778




Appendix 7

Dividends on Shares of the Big Four Aspect












	Year

	GWR

	LMS

	LNER

	SR




	 

	 

	 

	Preferred

	Deferred

	Preferred

	Deferred




	1939

	3½

	1½

	nil

	nil

	5

	1¼




	1940

	4

	1½

	nil

	nil

	5

	1¼




	1941

	4

	2

	nil

	nil

	5

	1¾




	1942

	4½

	2½

	nil

	nil

	5

	1¾




	1943

	4½

	2½

	nil

	nil

	5

	2




	1944

	4½

	2½

	nil

	nil

	5

	2




	1945

	5

	4

	nil

	nil

	5

	2




	1946

	5

	2¾

	nil

	nil

	5

	2¾




	1947

	7.282158

	4.895625

	0.958

	nil

	5

	41⅙




Appendix 8

Locomotive Stock of the Four Groups













	Company

	Stock at 1.1.23

	Stock at 31.12.38

	Reduction from 1923 to 1938

	Stock at 31.12.47




	 

	S

	ED

	S

	ED

	 

	S

	ED




	GWR

	3,901

	–

	3,630

	1

	7%

	3,856

	1




	LMS

	10,313

	3

	7,613

	31

	26%

	7,805

	45




	LNER

	7,392

	14

	6,518

	15

	12%

	6,525

	20




	SR

	2,281

	–

	1,816

	3

	20%

	1,838

	5




S = steam; ED = electric and diesel

Appendix 9

SR Electric Multiple Unit Codes

Figure gives the number of coaches and the letters a clue to the type







	5 BEL

	Pullmans for Brighton Belle




	2 BIL

	Corridor, lavatory: for semi-fast services




	4 BUF

	As 4 COR but one trailer being a restaurant




	6 CITY

	As 6 PUL but with preponderance of first-class seats. Set intended for first-class season-ticket holders travelling Brighton–London Bridge




	4 COR

	Corridor through driving cab ends allowing access through train when two or three sets operate together




	2 HAL

	Side corridor and lavatory




	4 LAV

	Corridor set with lavatory




	2 NOL

	No lavatory




	6 PAN

	One first-class pantry car




	6 PUL

	Six coaches, one of which is a Pullman




	4 RES

	As 4 COR but one trailer being a restaurant




	3 SUB/4 SUB

	Non-corridor, no toilet, for suburban use
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SOMETHING UNIQUE IN TRAVEL
for 1930111

Great Western Railway
LAND CRUISES

By RAIL and ROAD.

Weekly from May 5th fo September 22nd.
Firat Class Rail, Motors, Hotels, Sightsecing Fees and Gratuiies.
SIX DAYS’ TOUR - - - - 12 guineas.

TOUR No. 1.—Oxford,  Gloucester, Wye Valley,
Hereford, Cambrian Coast, Vale of
Llangollen, Shrewsbury, Shakespeare
Country, &.

TOUR No. 2.—Torquay, South Devon, Dartmoor,
Comish  Riviera, Lands End, Ply-
mouth, &c.

TOUR No 3.—Bath, Cheddar Gorge, Exmoor, “Loma
Doone™ Country, Westward Ho, Tor-
quay, &c.

A REPRESENTATIVE OF THE GW.R. WILL
PERSONALLY CONDUCT EACH TOUR.

The Superintendent of the Line, G.W.R. Paddington Station,
London, W.2, will send folder with full information to any
address upon application.
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Other coaching vehicles 3,484 7,598 7,511 3,114
Merchandise and mineral vehicles 86,249 302,550 281,748 35,905
Railway service vehicles 9,619 22,933 17,365 2,522
Road vehicles 4,516 20,841 7 2,164
Other

Horses 2,731 9,761 5,189 1,532
Steamboats owned: number 17 74 46 38
Steamboats owned: tonnage 6,971 32,020 20,535 23,211
Canals: number 10 13 12 2
Canals: length (miles) 213 549 285 3
Docks: length of quays (ft) 172,589 12,180 219,967 55,732
Hotels 8 36 32 10
Houses 3,636 25,581 18,339 8.064
Financials (£)

Capital expenditure 167,805,504 | 438,029,424 | 338,788,139| 148,308,160
Capital issued 103,414,659 297,138,106 251,311,577| 110,374,819
Loans and debenture stock 35,927,107| 101,791,069| 109,486,815 39,012,378
Interest and dividends on capital 6,276,844 15,097,646 10,509,319 5,012,808
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Issued subject to the Conditions and
Regulations in the Cos. Timo Tables,
Books, Bills, and Noticos, and In the Rall’
way Cos, Book of Regulations relating te
traffic by Passenger Train or other simllar
wervice.

Excess Fare Ticket.
ADDERLEY PARK
TO
BIRMINGHAM (New St.)

(132)
The Holder is requested to destroy
this Ticket immediately on the ter-
mination of the journey which it
covers, as it is not again available.
Third Class Cheap Single Fare 2d,
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4-6-2 PASSENGER LOCOMOTIVE CI. 7P

“ Turbomotive ”

Designed by i William Stanir, FRS., 1935

BOILER Barrel 20' 3. Dia outs
o et o 8
FIREBOX Outside 8 6 x 8 101 10 6 21"
Superheater Elements 40-1° dia.
fotie s
Tuees | M) e
betucen
Small 124 dia. e
| TG0t 5 11 saw g, TUbeRIat

e e
Seeater 43 sa. 1t

GRATE AREA 45 5. 1.

WEIGHTS grone Ty gout
Light 100 8 2716 128 4

Loaded 110 11 85 4

54 13
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2-6-0 FREIGHT LOCOMOTIVE CI.

Designedeby H. G. Ivatt, 1946
POWER CLASSE2F,

200 L8, PER 50, INCH,

e
£l Rt
weiGHTS. i B .,1 i
4o ] £ 'l 1o 4
T R B

HEATING (Tubes 9266 sa. . Total 10255

SURFACE i
FIREBOX Outside & 11 x 4' 0" {Superneater 134 sq. ft.
( Superheater Elomenta 1211 dia. GRATE AREA 175 sa. ft.
[ outs. x 11 s.we. TRACTIVE EFFORT at 85% B.P. 17,400 Ibs.
Tuses - Laree 12:6) ‘m- 1 100 WEIGHTS  gnane  Tender  Tow_
between Light 5 fors 630

( smal 162-

dia. | Tubeplates
outs. 3 12 s.w.g. | TP

Loaded 47 2 8T 3 84 &





OEBPS/images/f0170-01.jpg
b Bl W W e S A

Srmweon  sronecw | agmecw | amwsow | siowos | semecw g
WA WIS e TR S0 w0 WG e Wi Sl S0
BTN SHOWER BT fout ks





OEBPS/images/f0170-02.jpg





OEBPS/images/f0168-02.jpg





OEBPS/images/f0168-01.jpg





OEBPS/images/f0210-02.jpg





OEBPS/images/f0210-03.jpg





OEBPS/images/title.jpg
{HE STORY OF THe

BIG FOUR
RAILWAY

COMPANIES

COLIN G. MAGGS






OEBPS/images/f0069-02.jpg
3,000-GALLON TANK MILK WAGON: G.W.R
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